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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1. This paper presents the results of the consultation on the proposed amendments
to the Listing Rules on the disclosure of financial information in Main Board
Rules Appendix 16 and GEM Rules equivalent with reference to the new
Companies Ordinance, Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong (“New
Ordinance”), and Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”) and
proposed minor/housekeeping Rule amendments.

2. We received 55 submissions from issuers, professional bodies and industry
associations, market practitioners and individuals.

3. All our proposals were well-received by the majority of respondents.
4. In the consultation paper, we sought market views on the following:

Rule amendments relating to disclosure of financial information

5. Chapter 1 is to align the requirements for disclosure of financial information in
Main Board Rules Appendix 16 and GEM Rules equivalent with reference to
the disclosure provisions in the New Ordinance. The key rationale for the
amendments is to enhance corporate governance and maintain a level playing
field for all issuers. The amendments cover the enhancements in the New
Ordinance that lead to additional disclosures, including:

@) a new Business Review section;
(b) directors’ names to be on a consolidated basis;
(c) directors’ interests to include transactions, arrangements or contracts;
(d) permitted indemnity provisions;
(e) equity-linked agreements; and
()] reasons for a director resigning or not seeking re-appointment.
6. Chapter 11 is to streamline the disclosure requirements of financial information

in the Listing Rules with reference to HKFRS. The key rationale for the
amendments is to remove duplications of disclosures and enhance clarity. The
amendments cover:

@) revision of Main Board Rules Chapter 4 and Appendix 16 and GEM
Rules equivalent in order to streamline the Listing Rules and to avoid
potential duplications with the accounting standards and minor Rule
amendments in Main Board Rules Chapter 1 to align the accounting
terms used in the Listing Rules with the current accounting standards;

(b) repeal of the disclosure requirements in relation to financial

conglomerates in Main Board Rules Chapter 4 and Appendix 16 and
GEM Rules equivalent; and
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(©

repeal of Main Board Rules Appendix 15 and GEM Rules equivalent
in relation to bank reporting.

Chapter I11 is to introduce new requirements when an issuer decides to revise its
published financial reports or make prior period adjustments due to correction
of material errors in the result announcements. The key rationale for the
amendments is to enhance procedures relating to compliance and monitoring.
The amendments cover:

(@)

()

(©)

making an announcement when the board of directors decides to revise
its published financial statements and a new headline category is
created to flag “Revision of Published Financial Statements and
Reports”;

disclosing in the results announcements prior period adjustments due to
correction of material errors and a new headline category is created to
flag “Prior Period Adjustments due to Correction of Material Errors”;
and

providing references in Main Board Rules Appendix 16 to disclosures
relating to periodic financial reports required in other parts of the
Listing Rules.

Rule amendments unrelated to disclosure of financial information

Chapter IV is about other consequential Rule amendments due to the enactment
of the New Ordinance. The amendments cover:

(a)
(b)
(©)
(d)
(e)
()
(9)

notice periods for general meetings;
nominal (par) value of shares;

the company seal;

share warrants to bearer;

the memorandum;

the definition of “holding company”’; and

the threshold value of securities represented by lost share certificates in
relation to certificate replacement services.

Chapter V is about Rule amendments which involve minor policy issues
covering the following areas:

(@)

the disclosure of payment dates for dividends or other distributions by
ISSuers;



10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

(b) property valuation for connected transactions;

(©) the disclosure of directors’ interests in competing businesses in
notifiable and/or connected transaction circulars; and

(d) delays in publication of financial results announcements.

Chapter VI is about several housekeeping Rule amendments which do not
involve questions of policy. The amendments cover the following areas:

@ updating outdated reference to the Codes on Takeovers and Mergers
and Share Buy-backs;

(b) clarifying the applicability of Appendix 3 (Articles of Association) to
new applicants;

(© removing references to “telex”; and

(d) aligning the GEM Rules with the Main Board Rules in respect of
requiring periodic updates from suspended GEM issuers.

We will proceed with these proposals with some modifications as described in
Chapters | to VI.

The revised Main Board Rules Appendix 16 and GEM Rules Chapter 18 in
relation to disclosure of financial information are set out in Appendices I and 1l
respectively. These will be applicable for preliminary announcements of results,
quarterly reports (for GEM only), interim reports and annual reports with
accounting periods ending on or after 31 December 2015. The amendments to
Main Board Rules Chapter 4 and GEM Rules Chapter 7 in relation to disclosure
of financial information in the accountants’ report are set out in Appendix Ill.
These will be applicable for accountants’ reports in listing documents and
circulars relating to listing applications, reverse takeovers, major transactions
and very substantial acquisitions where the latest period reported on in the
accountants’ report ends on or after 31 December 2015.

Early adoption is permitted in relation to revised Main Board Rules Chapter 4
and Appendix 16 and GEM Rules Chapter 7 and Chapter 18. However, issuers
should not adopt the revised Rules prior to the effective date of Part 9
“Accounts and Audit” of the New Ordinance”.

The Rule amendments as set out in Appendices IV and V will take effect on 1
April 2015.

1

Part 9 “Accounts and Audit” of the New Ordinance comes into effect for the first financial reporting
year beginning on or after 3 March 2014, the commencement date of the New Ordinance.
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INTRODUCTION

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

20.

On 22 August 2014, The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Exchange”™),
a wholly owned subsidiary of Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited
(“HKEX”), published a Consultation Paper on Review of Listing Rules on
Disclosure of Financial Information with reference to the New Companies
Ordinance and Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and Proposed
Minor/Housekeeping Rule Amendments. The consultation paper sought
comments on proposed Rule amendments relating to the disclosure of financial
information and other minor Rule amendments.

The consultation period ended on 24 October 2014. We received a total of 55
submissions:

Category No. of respondents %
Issuers 35 63%
Professional bodies and industry 7 13%
associations
Market practitioners 7 13%
Individuals 6 11%
Total 55 100%

All submissions are available on the HKEx website?, and a list of the
respondents (other than those who requested anonymity) is provided in
Appendix VI.

We received support from a large majority of respondents for all of our
proposals, with some recommended suggestions. Chapters | to VI summarise
the major comments and our responses. Certain valuable comments included in
the respondents’ submissions were considered to be outside the scope of this
consultation. These comments will be considered in a separate policy exercise,
where appropriate.

The Rule amendments are available on the HKEx website®. They have been
approved by the Board of the Exchange and the Securities and Futures
Commission (“SFC”).

The revised Main Board Rules Appendix 16 and GEM Rules Chapter 18 in
relation to disclosure of financial information are set out in Appendices | and I,
respectively. These will be applicable for preliminary announcements of results,
quarterly reports (for GEM only), interim reports and annual reports with
accounting periods ending on or after 31 December 2015. The revised Main
Board Rules Chapter 4 and GEM Rules Chapter 7 in relation to disclosure of
financial information in the accountants’ report are set out in Appendix IlI.

Submissions received on the Consultation Paper can be accessed at:

http://www.hkex.com.hk/eng/newsconsul/mktconsul/responses/cp201408r.htm

The Rule amendments can be accessed at:
http://www.hkex.com.hk/eng/rulesreg/listrules/mbrulesup/Documents/mb_disfin 1504.pdf and
http://www.hkex.com.hk/eng/rulesreg/listrules/gemrulesup/Documents/gem_disfin 1504.pdf
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21.

22.

23.

24.

These will be applicable for accountants’ reports in listing documents and
circulars relating to listing applications, reverse takeovers, major transactions
and very substantial acquisitions where the latest period reported on in the
accountants’ report ends on or after 31 December 2015. The Rule amendments
as set out in Appendices IV and V will take effect on 1 April 2015.

For Hong Kong incorporated issuers, Part 9 “Accounts and Audit” of the New
Ordinance comes into effect for the first financial reporting year beginning on
or after 3 March 2014, the commencement date of the New Ordinance.
Accordingly, the first year ends to be impacted will be those falling in 2015.
For example, for those companies with a financial year starting from 1 April
2014, the New Ordinance will first impact the financial statements and directors’
reports for the year ending on 31 March 2015.

For the revised Main Board Rules Appendix 16 and GEM Rules Chapter 18, we
originally considered adopting the same effective date as that of the New
Ordinance. However, based on our records as of 31 October 2014, there are
only 51 Hong Kong incorporated issuers that have financial years ending
between March 2015 and November 2015, whilst the majority of Hong Kong
incorporated issuers have a financial year ending on 31 December 2015.
Accordingly, we have decided to adopt the effective date set out in paragraph
12, such that the revised Rules will come into effect for accounting periods
ending on or after 31 December 2015. This will allow more time for non-Hong
Kong incorporated issuers to gather the necessary information and to prepare
for the disclosures required under the revised Rules on the same terms as the
majority of Hong Kong incorporated issuers.

We would like to thank all those who shared their views with us during the
consultation process.

This paper should be read in conjunction with the consultation paper, which is
posted on the HKEx website®. Listing Rule references in this paper are
primarily to the Main Board Rules. Our responses also apply to the
corresponding GEM Rules (to the extent that they exist).

4
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MARKET FEEDBACK AND CONCLUSIONS

CHAPTER I: RULE AMENDMENTS TO ALIGN THE

REQUIREMENTS FOR  DISCLOSURE  OF
FINANCIAL INFORMATION IN MAIN BOARD
RULES APPENDIX 16 AND GEM RULES
EQUIVALENT WITH REFERENCE TO THE
DISCLOSURE PROVISIONS IN THE NEW
COMPANIES ORDINANCE

25.

26.

27.

Consultation Question 1
Proposals

We sought market views on whether all issuers (whether or not they are
incorporated in Hong Kong) should include disclosures under the provisions of
the New Ordinance which reflect alignment with those provisions of the
Companies Ordinance, Chapter 32 of the Laws of Hong Kong (“Predecessor
Ordinance”) captured in Main Board Rules Appendix 16 and GEM Rules
equivalent. This is based on the principle of maintaining a level playing field
for all issuers established in Main Board Rules Appendix 16.

In the consultation paper, the proposals carried forward the disclosure
requirements already in paragraph 28 of Main Board Rules Appendix 16 and
aligned them with the provisions under the New Ordinance for all issuers. Some
key disclosure provisions introduced to enhance corporate governance in the
New Ordinance that apply to directors’ reports or financial statements are:

@ a new Business Review section;

(b) directors’ names to be disclosed on a consolidated basis;

(c) directors’ interests to include transactions, arrangements or contracts;
(d) permitted indemnity provisions;

(e) equity-linked agreements; and

()] reasons for a director resigning or not seeking re-appointment.

Comments received

Our proposals received support from a majority of respondents (85%). Most of
the respondents supported the level playing field principle that all issuers
(whether or not they are incorporated in Hong Kong) should include disclosures
under the provisions of the New Ordinance which reflect alignment with those
provisions of the Predecessor Ordinance already required in paragraph 28 of
Main Board Rules Appendix 16. It makes the annual reports of issuers
incorporated in different jurisdictions comparable.



28.

29.

30.

31.

32.

33.

Seven respondents disagreed with the proposals and commented that it would
not be necessary for a directors’ report to contain a business review with the
disclosures required under the New Ordinance. Such information is already
covered elsewhere in the annual report, customarily in the chairman’s statement
and/or the management discussion and analysis section. The proposals may
impose an unduly onerous burden on issuers not incorporated in Hong Kong,
particularly small and medium sized issuers.

A number of respondents who supported the proposals had suggestions on the
draft Rules which are discussed below.

Disclosure of directors’ names on a consolidated basis

A number of respondents that supported our principle of maintaining a level
playing field for all issuers nevertheless raised some concerns regarding the
alignment of our Rules with section 390 of the New Ordinance. This section
includes the requirement for a company to disclose the names of all directors of
the issuer and its subsidiaries, to the extent those subsidiaries are included in
the issuer’s consolidated financial statements. Some respondents argued that the
names of the subsidiaries’ directors are not relevant to shareholders’ assessment
of issuers’ consolidated financial statements and replicating this requirement for
non-Hong Kong incorporated issuers would impose a significant compliance
burden on them. Other respondents commented that this disclosure requirement
may not always be operationally feasible, especially for non-Hong Kong
incorporated issuers that are multinational groups with a large number of
subsidiaries. Further, compliance with this requirement would be onerous and
may not provide meaningful information to investors.

Business review

A number of respondents commented that they do not object to the new
requirement of preparing a business review under the New Ordinance. However,
they requested that the Exchange should provide clarification as to how the
business review would interact with the continuing requirements to prepare a
discussion and analysis, given that a business review is a form of management
discussion.

In addition, two respondents considered that the disclosure of a business review
under Schedule 5 of the New Ordinance has already been covered by paragraph
28 of Main Board Rules Appendix 16, and as such there is no need to repeat the
content in proposed paragraph 28A of Main Board Rules Appendix 16.

Environmental, social and governance reporting guide

Two professional bodies and industry associations commented that with the
introduction of a business review under the New Ordinance, there may be a
degree of overlap under the business review and the Exchange’s existing
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide under Main Board
Rules Appendix 27 (“ESG Reporting Guide™), given that the requirement for a
business review in the directors’ report includes, amongst other things, a
discussion of the issuer’s environmental policies and performance. There may
be a need to clarify the interaction between the two reports to avoid duplication
of information.



34.

35.

36.

37.

Laying financial statements before annual general meeting

A respondent commented that the Exchange has replaced the reference to
section 122 of the Predecessor Ordinance in relation to the period specified for
the purposes of a company to lay the reporting documents (annual financial
statements) in an annual general meeting with section 431 of the New
Ordinance in the relevant Rules. However, the terms used in the relevant
Rules have not been updated to reflect those adopted in the provisions of the
New Ordinance.

Compliance with accounting standards pursuant to Schedule 4 of the New
Ordinance

Several market practitioners commented that the Exchange amended the Rule
to require issuers to comply with Schedule 4 of the New Ordinance. However,
Schedule 4 Part 1 Section 4 of the New Ordinance in effect requires that the
financial statements must state whether they have been prepared in accordance
with HKFRS and, if they have not been so prepared, must state the particulars
of, and the reasons for, any material departure from HKFRS. The respondents
expressed concerns that issuers that adopt accounting standards other than
HKFRS would be unable to comply with the revised Rules.

Our response

We will adopt the proposals and take into account recommended suggestions,
where appropriate, in the Rule amendments.

Disclosure of directors’ names on a consolidated basis

In relation to disclosure of directors’ names on a consolidated basis, the
Companies Registry has recently made some practical suggestions for
companies incorporated in Hong Kong in Question 13 of their “Frequently
Asked Questions on Accounts and Audit”®, which states that ““If the number of
names of directors of all subsidiary undertakings is, in the opinion of the
directors of the holding company, of excessive length, disclosure of the names
of directors of subsidiary undertakings may be made by way of inclusion by
reference, provided that the information on the relevant directors’ names is
clearly contained in the directors’ report by making a list of such names readily
available to the reader. This may include, for example, by providing a link to
the relevant website(s) which contains a full list of the names.” The Companies
Registry’s suggestions aim to prevent the inclusion of excessive information in
directors’ reports. The Exchange supports the Companies Registry’s
suggestions and recommends that Hong Kong incorporated issuers apply the
practical approach as set out by the Companies Registry.

5

The “Frequently Asked Questions on Accounts and Audit” published by the Companies Registry can
be accessed at: http://www.cr.gov.hk/en/companies_ordinance/faq_account-audit.htm.
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38.

39.

40.

41.

42.

In light of the comments received, we will insert a note to the revised paragraph
28 of Main Board Rules Appendix 16 not to require non-Hong Kong
incorporated issuers from the requirement to disclose the names of their
subsidiaries’ directors. Under the Rules, all issuers are required to disclose the
names of the directors on their own boards. Hong Kong incorporated issuers
must also comply with the New Ordinance, including the requirement to
disclose directors’ names on a consolidated basis (see paragraph 37 above for
the practical approach suggested by the Companies Registry for this purpose).

Business review

Having considered the comments received, we will provide clarification as to
how a business review will interact with a management discussion and analysis.
We will insert a note to paragraph 32 of Main Board Rules Appendix 16 in
relation to an issuer’s discussion and analysis to state that if the discussion and
analysis information has been disclosed in a business review in the directors’
report (as set out in paragraph 28 of Main Board Rules Appendix 16 in relation
to disclosure requirements under the New Ordinance), there is no need to repeat
the disclosures in other parts of the annual report. The Exchange will not dictate
where issuers should present the business review required under the New
Ordinance and the information required under paragraph 32 of Main Board
Rules Appendix 16, as long as the information required is provided in the
annual reports and complies with the disclosure requirements under the New
Ordinance and Main Board Rules Appendix 16. In addition, we will remove the
proposed paragraph 28A of Main Board Rules Appendix 16.

The above flexibility will also address the concerns of respondents who
disagreed with the proposals on the basis that information required in a business
review is already provided elsewhere in the annual reports.

ESG Reporting Guide

Having considered the comments received, the Exchange is of the view that
there should not be any overlap between an issuer’s disclosure in a business
review (which requires directors to discuss their environmental policies and
performance, compliance with relevant laws and regulations, and key
stakeholder relationships more generally) and the ESG Reporting Guide under
Main Board Rules Appendix 27 (which recommends issuers to disclose
information on their policies, compliance and key performance indicators in
respect of specific ESG areas). The recommended disclosure under Main Board
Rules Appendix 27 will complement rather than duplicate the information
provided in a business review.

Laying financial statements before annual general meeting

Having considered the comments received, we have updated the wording in the
relevant Rules to reflect the terms used in the relevant provisions of the New
Ordinance in relation to laying financial statements before annual general
meeting.



43.

44,

Compliance with accounting standards pursuant to Schedule 4 of the New
Ordinance

Having considered the comments received, we have modified paragraph 28 of
Main Board Rules Appendix 16 to exclude the reference to Schedule 4 Part 1
Section 4 of the New Ordinance that requires compliance with HKFRS. This
is because compliance with accounting standards has already been set out in
paragraphs 2 and 5 of Main Board Rules Appendix 16.

We set out below a table mapping the old and the amended Rules together with
provisions of the Predecessor Ordinance to the provisions of the New
Ordinance based on the Table of Destination published by the Companies

Registry.

Old Main Predecessor New Ordinance Amended
Board Ordinance Main Board
Rules Rules
A16.28(1) | Tenth Schedule Schedule 4 Part 1 Section | A16.28(1)(b)
(Accounts) 1 (Aggregate amount of | (i) and (iv)

authorized loans),

Schedule 4 Part 2 Section

1 (Remuneration of

auditor)

A16.28(2) | Section 128 No equivalent Not
(Particulars to be Repealed by the New applicable
shown in company’s | Ordinance
accounts in relation
to subsidiaries)

A16.28(3) | Section 129 No equivalent Not
(Particulars to be Repealed by the New applicable
shown in company’s | Ordinance
accounts in relation
to companies not
being subsidiaries
whose shares it
holds)

A16.28(4) Section 129A Schedule 4 Part 1 Section | A16.28(1)(b)
(Particulars to be 3 (Subsidiary’s financial | (iii)
shown in subsidiary | statements must contain
company’s accounts | particulars of ultimate
in relation to its parent undertaking)
ultimate parent
undertaking)

A16.28(5) | Section 129D Sections 383 (Notes to A16.28(1)(a)
(Directors’ report to | financial statements to and (c), and
be attached to contain information on A16.28(2)(a)
balance sheet) directors’ emoluments and (e)

10




Old Main Predecessor New Ordinance Amended
Board Ordinance Main Board
Rules Rules
etc.), 388 (Directors must
prepare directors’ report),
389 (Provisions
supplementary to Section
388), 390 (Contents of
directors’ report:
general), 391 (Directors’
report to be approved and
signed), 452(3)*
(Financial Secretary may
make other regulations),
Companies (Directors’
Report) Regulation,
Companies (Disclosure
of Information about
Benefits of Directors)
Regulation
A16.28(6) Section 161 Sections 383 (Notes to A16.28(1)(a)
(Particulars in financial statements to and (c)
accounts of contain information on
directors’ directors’ emoluments
emoluments, etc.), 407(4)* (Auditor’s
pensions, etc.) opinion on other
matters), 452(2)*
(Financial Secretary may
make other regulations),
Companies (Disclosure
of Information about
Benefits of Directors)
Regulation
A16.28(7) Section 161A Section 452(2)* A16.28(1)(c)
(Statements annexed | (Financial Secretary may
to accounts showing | make other regulations),
certain items to Companies (Disclosure
include of Information about
corresponding Benefits of Directors)
amounts for Regulation
preceding financial
year)
A16.28(8) | Section 161B Sections 383 (Notes to A16.28(1)(a)
(Particulars in financial statements to and (c)

accounts of loans to
officers, etc.)

contain information on
directors’ emoluments
etc.), 407(4)* (Auditor’s
opinion on other
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Old Main Predecessor New Ordinance Amended
Board Ordinance Main Board
Rules Rules

matters), 451* (Financial

Secretary may make

regulation regarding

disclosures of certain

information), 452(2)*

(Financial Secretary may

make other regulations),

Companies (Disclosure

of Information about

Benefits of Directors)

Regulation

A16.28(9) Section 162 Sections 536 (Director A16.28(1)(a)
(Disclosure by must declare material and (c), and
directors of material | interests), 537* A16.28(2)(e)
interests in (Declaration to directors:
contracts) timing), 538*

(Declaration to directors:
procedures), 542*
(Offence)

A16.28(10) | Section 162A Sections 543 (Disclosure | A16.28(2)(c)
(Special provision of management contract), | and (e)
relating to 544* (Right of member
management to inspect and request
contracts) copy)

Not Section 123 (General | Schedule 4 Part 1 Section | A16.28(1)(b)

applicable provisions as to 2 (Statement of financial | (ii)
contents and form of | position to be contained
accounts) in notes to annual

consolidated financial
statements)

Not No equivalent Section 470 (Permitted A16.28(2)(b)

applicable indemnity provision to be | and (e)

disclosed in directors’
report)

Not No equivalent Schedule 5 (Content of A16.28(2)(d)

applicable Directors’ Report:

Business Review)

* Provisions under the New Ordinance are included according to the Table of
Destination published by the Companies Registry but these are not related to
the disclosure requirements in the amendments to paragraph 28 of Main
Board Rules Appendix 16.
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MARKET FEEDBACK AND CONCLUSIONS

CHAPTER II: RULE AMENDMENTS TO STREAMLINE THE

DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS OF FINANCIAL
INFORMATION IN THE LISTING RULES WITH
REFERENCE TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS

45.

46.

47.

48.

Consultation Question 2
Proposals

We sought market views on the proposed revision of Main Board Rules
Appendix 16 and GEM Rules equivalent in order to streamline the Listing
Rules and to avoid potential duplications with the accounting standards as
follows:

@) to remove the components of financial statements that are already
covered by HKFRS;

(b) to remove the line items in the income statement and balance sheet that
are already covered by HKFRS;

(© to remove the disclosure requirements of segmental information that are
required under HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments”;

(d)  to remove the disclosure of amount of interest capitalised during the
financial year that is required under HKAS 23 “Borrowing Costs”;

(e to remove the disclosure of the nature of retirement schemes operated by
the issuer and pension costs charged to the income statement for the
financial year that are required under HKAS 19 “Employee Benefits”;
and

()] to remove the components of financial statements in an interim report
that are already covered by HKFRS.

We proposed to amend Main Board Rules Chapter 4 in relation to accountants’
reports to remove line items in the income statement and balance sheet that are
already covered by HKFRS and to remove the disclosure requirements of
segmental information that are required under HKFRS 8.

We also proposed to make minor Rule amendments to Main Board Rules
Chapter 1 “Interpretation” to align the accounting terms used in the Listing
Rules with the current accounting standards.

Comments received

Our proposals received support from a large majority of respondents (91%).
The respondents agreed with the proposals that the quality of financial

13



49.

50.

5l

52.

information disclosures will be improved and, by avoiding duplication of, or
differences from, accounting standards, make compliance more straightforward
and consistent.

Aligning accounting terms

Two respondents agreed with the proposal set out in paragraph 45(a) above but
sought clarification on aligning old and current accounting terms and noted that
the Exchange proposed to insert definitions for old accounting terms (“balance
sheet”, “income statement” and “profit and loss account”) in Chapter 1 such
that they will have the same meaning as the respective updated accounting
terms used in the financial reporting standards. The respondents noted that this
approach seems to have been adopted instead of amending each and every old
accounting term found in the Listing Rules. A respondent mentioned that
definitions of “income statement” and “profit and loss account” should not have
the same meaning as “statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income”. They suggest to clearly define: (a) “statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income” (under the one statement approach); and (b)
“statement of profit or loss” and “statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income” (under the two statements approach).

Accounting standards other than HKFRS

Two respondents commented that there are issuers who prepare financial
statements in accordance with accounting standards other than HKFRS or
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). The disclosure
requirements under different countries’ accounting standards may be different
from HKFRS or IFRS. If Main Board Rules Chapter 4 and Appendix 16 and
GEM Rules equivalent are streamlined to avoid potential duplications with
HKFRS and IFRS, the Exchange needs to ensure the disclosure requirements
applicable to these companies are the same as HKFRS or IFRS to ensure a level
playing field for all companies, irrespective of which accounting standards they
follow when preparing the financial statements.

Basis of ageing analysis of accounts receivable

A market practitioner supported all the proposals but commented that the
amendment of Main Board Rule 4.05(2)(a) suggested that the ageing analysis
of accounts receivable must be prepared based on the invoice date. The
practitioner suggested that guidance should be provided as there may be doubts
as to how to fulfill the Rule requirement for issuers in industries that do not
issue invoices to their customers. Instead, there may be sales and purchase
contracts entered into between a company and its customers which set out the
agreed payment schedule.

Aligning accounting term of associated companies

A market practitioner supported all the proposals and suggested amending the
terminology of “associated companies” to *“associates and joint ventures” in
order to be consistent with HKFRS.

14



53.

54.

55.

56.

S7.

Our response

We will adopt the proposals. We will also enhance the Rule amendments by
taking up certain editorial suggestions by respondents, where appropriate.

Aligning accounting terms

We proposed to streamline the financial disclosures in Main Board Rules
Appendix 16 and GEM Chapter 18 with reference to HKFRS and updated the
accounting terms “balance sheet”, “income statement”, and “profit and loss
account” to “statement of financial position” and “statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income”, respectively, in Main Board Rules Appendix
16 and GEM Chapter 18 only. We are of the view that the amended Main Board
Rule 1.01 can address this matter and we do not intend to align each and every
accounting term in other areas of the Listing Rules. However, in view of the
fact that Main Board Rules Chapter 4 and GEM Chapter 7 specifically address
disclosure of financial information in accountants’ reports, we consider it
appropriate to update the accounting terms in these chapters as well.

In addition, paragraph 10 of HKAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements”
states that a statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the
period is one of the primary statements of a complete set of financial statements.
Paragraph 10A of HKAS 1 provides a choice for an entity to present a single
statement or two separate statements in relation to statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income for the period. Therefore, we consider our
proposed approach relating to the update of the terms of “income statement”
and “profit or loss account” to “statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income” in Main Board Rules Chapter 4 and Appendix 16 and
GEM Rules equivalent is appropriate and in line with the accounting standard.

Accounting standards other than HKFRS

As highlighted in the SFC and HKEX’s Joint policy statement regarding the
listing of overseas companies® published on 27 September 2013, which states
that ““the suitability of alternative financial reporting standards depends on
whether there is any significant difference between the foreign financial
reporting standards and IFRS, and whether there is any concrete proposal to
converge or substantially converge the foreign financial reporting standards
with IFRS”, we consider that respondents’ comments are addressed here.

In general, the Exchange would consider whether the foreign financial reporting
standards substantially converge with HKFRS or IFRS to ensure the
comparability of financial reports and a level playing field for all companies.

6

The SFC and HKEx’s Joint policy statement regarding the listing of overseas companies can be
accessed at:
http://www.hkex.com.hk/eng/rulesreg/listrules/listsptop/listoc/documents/new_jps_0927.pdf.
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58.

59.

60.

61.

62.

63.

64.

Basis of ageing analysis of accounts receivable

Having considered the comments received, we will insert a note to paragraph
4(2) of Main Board Rules Appendix 16 to provide guidance on how to present
ageing analysis on accounts receivable and payable.

Aligning accounting term of associated companies

Taking into account the comment received, the accounting term of “associated
companies” will be changed to “associates and joint ventures” in Main Board
Rules Chapter 4 and Appendix 16 and GEM Rules equivalent.

Consultation Question 3
Proposals

We sought market views on the proposal to repeal the disclosure requirements
in relation to financial conglomerates in Main Board Rules Chapter 4 and
Appendix 16 and GEM Rules equivalent.

Comments received

A large majority of respondents (75%) supported this proposal and some
respondents (18%) had no comment. Most respondents believed that this is a
sensible update in the light of changes in accounting standards which already
cover disclosure requirements specifically related to financial conglomerates.
Four respondents (7%) did not agree and believed that disclosures for financial
conglomerates required under the Listing Rules are necessary.

Our response

There have been substantial developments in accounting standards, for example,
the issuance of HKFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures” and HKFRS 8
“Operating Segments”. HKFRS 7 requires disclosures of financial instruments,
including off-balance sheet exposures for contingent liabilities and
commitments and derivatives, and risk management strategy; and HKFRS 8
contains disclosure requirements for segmental information. These displace the
need to stipulate the detailed disclosure requirements in Main Board Rules
Appendix 16 concerning financial conglomerates.

We will adopt the proposal.

Consultation Question 4
Proposals

We sought market views on the proposal to repeal Main Board Rules Appendix
15 and GEM Rules equivalent in relation to bank reporting. We also proposed
to update Main Board Rules Chapter 4 and Appendix 16 in order to replace
“Financial Disclosure by Locally Incorporated Authorized Institutions” with
“Guideline on the Application of the Banking (Disclosure) Rules” and remove
references to Main Board Rules Appendix 15 in relation to bank reporting.
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65.

66.

67.

68.

69.

In addition, we also proposed to delete the references to Main Board Rules
Appendix 15 from other parts of the Listing Rules.

Comments received

A majority of respondents (58%) supported the repeal of Main Board Rules
Appendix 15 and a group of respondents (38%) had no comment due to the fact
that they are not in the banking industry. Most respondents believed that this is
a sensible approach to adopt in light of changes in related accounting standards.

A professional body and industry association agreed with the proposal to repeal
Main Board Rules Appendix 15 but raised a comment for the Exchange to
consider - in the future, if an overseas bank that does not provide any local
banking services in Hong Kong seeks a listing on the Exchange, it will be
outside the remit of the Hong Kong Monetary Authority (“HKMA”) and
information required under Main Board Rules Appendix 15 will not be
provided.

Our response

The current Main Board Rules Appendix 15 states that ““This appendix sets out
the minimum level of information to be included in annual reports, interim
reports and preliminary announcements of issuers that are banking companies
(meaning banks, restricted licence banks and deposit taking companies as
defined in the Banking Ordinance.)”. Therefore, the reporting of an overseas
bank that does not provide local banking services is already outside the scope of
the current Main Board Rules Appendix 15. Accordingly, the repeal of Main
Board Rules Appendix 15 would not lead to a change to such situation. The
Exchange will consider each listing application on a case by case basis.

We will adopt the proposal.
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MARKET FEEDBACK AND CONCLUSIONS

CHAPTER III: OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION
DISCLOSURES RELATED RULE
AMENDMENTS

70.

71.

72.

73.

74.

75.

Consultation Question 5
Proposals

We sought market views on the proposed Rule amendments to impose an
explicit requirement for an issuer to publish an announcement as soon as
practicable after the directors decide to revise the financial statements in order
to draw the attention of shareholders, investors and regulators, and to avoid any
doubts as to whether issuers have done so. The announcement should state the
fact and provide reason(s) leading to the revision of published financial
statements and the financial impact, if any.

We also proposed to create a new headline category “Revision of Published
Financial Statements” under Main Board Rules Appendix 24 *“Headline
Categories” and GEM Rules equivalent so that the revision of published
financial statements will be specifically flagged.

Comments received

A large majority of respondents (91%) supported these proposals with four
respondents in disagreement and one who had no comment. Most respondents
believed that publication of an announcement can provide a timely update to
current and potential investors about an issuer’s financial statements based on
which current and potential investors may make investment decisions.
Moreover, if the revision of published financial statements and reports
constitutes inside information, there may be accelerated disclosure obligations.

Some respondents supported these proposals but queried whether it would be
necessary to create a new headline category since the headline categories are
proliferating. They believed that it would be more appropriate to fit the new
announcement under one of the existing headline categories.

Two respondents sought clarification on whether the requirement is also
applicable to the revision of quarterly reports and summary financial reports, if
published.

The respondents who disagreed with these proposals commented that if the
revision of financial statements is material, it will be inside information and
required to be disclosed in any event. If it is not material, there is no reason for
it to be disclosed.
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76.

77.

78.

79.

80.

81.

Our response

We support the Companies Registry’s position that revision of published
financial reports that have been sent to shareholders should be regarded as
important and pursuant to section 449 (for Hong Kong incorporated issuers)
and section 790 (for overseas issuers) of the New Ordinance, a company is
required to inform the Companies Registry when its financial statements and
reports are revised. Under our original proposal, we considered that a separate
headline category could help easily locate these revised financial statements
and reports for appropriate follow up action by regulators and shareholders,
who would be alerted by the announcement. The date of publication of the
original financial reports and reasons leading to the revision of financial
statements and reports are normally disclosed in the announcement of revision
of financial statements and reports, and the public can easily trace the previous
announcement and financial reports via the HKEx News system.

Since sections 449 and 790 of the New Ordinance also cover summary financial
reports, and in light of the possibility of revisions being made to quarterly
reports, we will take into account the comment received and make amendments
to Main Board Rule 13.51(7) and GEM Rule 17.50(6) to cover summary
financial reports and quarterly reports.

We will adopt the proposals with a slight change to the headline category to
“Revision of Published Financial Statements and Reports” and modify the Rule
amendments to cover revision of published summary financial reports and
quarterly reports.

Consultation Question 6
Proposals

We sought market views on the proposed Rule amendments to Main Board
Rules Appendix 16 and GEM Rules equivalent to require disclosure in results
announcements where an issuer has made a prior period adjustment to correct a
material error.

We also proposed to create a new headline category “Prior Period Adjustments
due to Correction of Material Errors” under Main Board Rules Appendix 24
“Headline Categories” and GEM Rules equivalent so that results
announcements that contain a prior period adjustment to correct a material error
would be specifically flagged. Issuers would not be required to select this new
headline category if a prior period adjustment was made due to the adoption of
a new accounting standard.

Comments received

Almost all respondents (98%) supported these proposals, with only one
respondent in disagreement. The respondent who disagreed commented that
such disclosure is not necessary as the same information will be disclosed in the
financial statements. The respondent stated that the current practice seems to be
working well.
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82.

83.

84.

85.

86.

87.

88.

89.

In line with Consultation Question 5 above, some respondents supported the
proposals but queried whether it would be necessary to create a new headline
category and believed that it would be more appropriate to fit the new
announcement under one of the existing headline categories.

Our response

We expect that the additional cost incurred and time spent to be incurred by
issuers as a result of the proposed amendment to the Listing Rules will be
minimal because disclosure of prior year adjustment due to correction of
material errors is required under the current accounting standard. We consider
that with a new headline category, shareholders and investors will benefit from
being able to easily locate prior period adjustments due to correction of material
errors which is important information for making investment decisions.

The headline categories will enable automatic sorting of announcements and
other documents along thematic lines, which in turn will facilitate online
searches by the public and enhance monitoring by all stakeholders. Regulators
will benefit from being able to easily locate possible problematic cases that may
need further enquiry and investigation.

We will adopt the proposals.

Consultation Question 7
Proposals

We sought market views on the proposed Rule amendments to Main Board
Rules Appendix 16 and GEM Rules equivalent to provide references to
disclosure requirements relating to annual reports or interim reports currently
required in other parts of the Listing Rules.

Comments received

A large majority of respondents (93%) supported the proposal. Most of the
respondents believe that this is a sensible housekeeping change and will help
prevent inadvertent omissions of required disclosures in financial reports.

Two professional bodies and industry associations (4%) agreed with the
proposal and suggested that a full list of disclosure requirements should be
provided in Appendix 16 in order that issuers can make reference in order to
ensure full compliance with the disclosure requirements under the Listing Rules
for periodic reports. They also suggested a number of editorial amendments.

Some respondents who objected to the proposal commented that it would add

disclosure burden to certain medium-sized issuers. One respondent had no
comment.
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90.

91.

Our response

This proposal does not create any new disclosure requirements but provides
references to the current disclosure requirements relating to annual reports or
interim reports currently required in other parts of the Listing Rules

We will adopt the proposals and take into account the suggested editorial
amendments where appropriate.
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MARKET FEEDBACK AND CONCLUSIONS

CHAPTER IV: RULE AMENDMENTS CONSEQUENTIAL TO

THE ENACTMENT OF THE NEW COMPANIES
ORDINANCE

92.

93.

94.

95.

96.

97.

Aligning notice periods for general meetings

Consultation Question 8
Proposals

We sought market views on proposed Rule amendments to align the notice
periods for general meetings required for Bermuda and Cayman Islands
incorporated companies with the relevant requirements under the New
Ordinance, i.e. 21 days for annual general meetings and 14 days for any other
general meeting. This proposal aimed to ensure that companies incorporated in
Bermuda or the Cayman Islands and listed on the Exchange would be subject to
the same notice period requirements as Hong Kong incorporated issuers.

Comments received

A large majority of respondents (91%) supported this proposal, with only two
respondents in disagreement. Most respondents agreed with the proposed
amendment on the basis it would provide a level playing field for issuers
incorporated in Hong Kong, Bermuda and the Cayman Islands.

One of the respondents who disagreed commented that issuers should follow
the notice period requirements under their respective jurisdictions and that
providing a level playing field was not an issue. The other respondent who
disagreed did not provide any reasons for objecting to the proposal.

Some respondents supported the proposal but queried whether the proposed
amendment would be inconsistent with the company law in Bermuda and/or the
Cayman Islands.

Some respondents also suggested that, in line with the principle of creating a
level playing field for all issuers, it may be appropriate to extend the proposed
change to issuers incorporated in overseas jurisdictions other than Bermuda and
the Cayman Islands (i.e. the acceptable overseas jurisdictions of incorporation
(“Acceptable Jurisdictions™)).’

One respondent suggested that the requirement under Mainland law for general
meetings of Mainland incorporated listed issuers to be convened on 45 days’
notice® should be removed and aligned with the notice period requirements
under the New Ordinance.

See “List of Acceptable Overseas Jurisdictions” at:
http://www.hkex.com.hk/eng/rulesreg/listrules/listsptop/listoc/list_of aoj.htm.

Mainland incorporated listed issuers are required under the Mandatory Provisions for Companies
Listing Overseas to give not less than 45 days’ notice of any general meeting.
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98.

99.

100.

101.

102.

One respondent suggested that the proposed new notice periods be made
optional.

Our response

As stated in paragraph 110 of the Consultation Paper, the existing notice period
requirements for Bermuda and Cayman Islands incorporated companies under
the Rules are aligned with the notice period requirements under the Predecessor
Ordinance. The intention is to ensure that issuers incorporated in Bermuda or
the Cayman Islands and listed on the Exchange are subject to the same notice
period requirements as Hong Kong incorporated issuers. Our proposal aims to
preserve this intention. To allow issuers incorporated in these jurisdictions to
follow the notice periods in their respective company law would represent a
significant change in what has been a long standing policy position (see
paragraph 102).

Our proposed amendments to the notice period requirements are not in conflict
with the company law in Bermuda or the Cayman Islands. In Bermuda, the
minimum notice period is five days, but may be further extended by the
bye-laws of the company.® In the Cayman Islands, the notice period required
will depend on what is prescribed under the company’s articles of association.
In default of any such notice provision, five days’ notice is required under the
company law.*°

Issuers incorporated in the Acceptable Jurisdictions are subject to Section 1 of
the Joint policy statement regarding the listing of overseas companies (“JPS
shareholder protection standards”). * The JPS shareholder protection
standards provide that an overseas company from an Acceptable Jurisdiction
must give its members reasonable written notice of its general meetings,
without prescribing a certain number of days. ** This is because the
requirements under the laws of overseas jurisdictions vary, and it may be
impracticable and/or impose an unnecessary regulatory burden on companies
incorporated in these jurisdictions to amend their articles to match the notice
period requirements under Hong Kong law.

Bermuda and the Cayman Islands are treated differently from the Acceptable
Jurisdictions because they (along with Hong Kong and Mainland China) are
recognised under the Listing Rules for the purpose of eligibility for listing (i.e.
they are “Recognised Jurisdictions”). Many issuers incorporated in these
Recognised Jurisdictions are for all intents and purposes Hong Kong issuers, as
all or a substantial part of their assets and shareholders are located in Hong
Kong.

®  Bermuda Companies Act 1981, Part VI, section 75(1).

10

Cayman Islands Companies Law (2013 Revision), Part IV, section 61.

11 See the JPS on the HKEX website at:
http://www.hkex.com.hk/eng/rulesreg/listrules/listsptop/listoc/Documents/new _jps 0927.pdf.

12" See paragraph 37 of the JPS.
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103.

104.

105.

106.

107.

108.

109.

The Listing Rules are subject to the laws of an issuer’s place of incorporation.
The requirement for Mainland incorporated issuers to convene meetings on 45
days’ notice is a matter of Mainland law and could only be removed if the
relevant Mainland legislation were amended.

In the interest of providing a level playing field and ensuring clarity,
consistency and certainty, we consider it appropriate to apply the proposed new
notice periods as the minimum standard required for issuers incorporated in
Bermuda or the Cayman Islands. Issuers have the option to provide for longer
notice periods in their articles if they wish.*®

We will adopt the proposal as described in paragraph 92 above.

Consultation Question 9

Proposals

In connection with Consultation Question 8, we sought market views on the
proposal to allow companies incorporated in Bermuda and the Cayman Islands
to convene general meetings on shorter notice on the same terms as companies
incorporated in Hong Kong (i.e. in accordance with the relevant provisions of
the New Ordinance).

Comments received

A significant majority of respondents (87%) supported this proposal, with three
respondents in disagreement. One of these respondents disagreed on the same
basis as described in paragraph 94, i.e. that issuers should be able to follow the
notice period requirements in their respective jurisdictions. Another stated that
the proposed amendments would be of little practical use to issuers (see
paragraph 110 below). The third respondent who disagreed did not give reasons
for objecting to the proposal.

Similar to the comments received in response to Consultation Question 8,
respondents mostly agreed that the proposed amendment would provide a level
playing field for companies incorporated in Hong Kong, Bermuda and the
Cayman Islands. A respondent further commented that the high threshold of
shareholders’ consent required for approval of the shorter notice period should
offer sufficient protection for shareholders.

We also received comments similar to those received in response to
Consultation Question 8 regarding:

@) consistency with the company law in Bermuda and the Cayman Islands
(see paragraph 95);

3 Under the Corporate Governance Code (Main Board Appendix 14 and GEM Appendix 15), for
example, Code Provision E.1.3 states that the issuer “should arrange for the notice to shareholders to
be sent for annual general meetings at least 20 clear business days before the meeting and to be sent
at least 10 clear business days for all other general meetings.”
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(b) extending the proposed amendment to include issuers incorporated in
the Acceptable Jurisdictions and Mainland China (see paragraphs 96
and 97); and

(©) making the proposed amendment an option (see paragraph 98).

110. Several issuers and professional bodies and industry associations commented

that the proposed amendment would unlikely have any practical effect, as the
procedure for calling meetings on shorter notice is rarely invoked by listed
issuers given the procedural hurdles to applying it in practice.

111. One professional body and industry association that was neutral as to the

proposal nevertheless commented that the Exchange should satisfy itself that
the reasons for not including similar provisions in the current Listing Rules
were no longer valid and/or applicable.

Our response

112. In relation to the comment that issuers should follow the notice period

requirements under their respective jurisdictions, our response set out in
paragraph 99 applies.

113.  Our proposal is not in conflict with Bermudian or Cayman company law. Both

have provisions that allow for convening meetings on shorter notice. In
Bermuda, companies may do so on nearly identical terms as Hong Kong
incorporated companies.** Under Cayman company law, a meeting may be
called on shorter notice so long as it accords with the company’s articles of
association.™

114. As for extending the proposed amendment to issuers incorporated in the

Acceptable Jurisdictions and Mainland China, our responses set out in
paragraphs 101 to 103 still apply.

115. The proposed amendment would apply on an optional basis; i.e. issuers

incorporated in Bermuda and the Cayman Islands would have the option to
convene meetings on shorter notice on the same terms as Hong Kong
incorporated companies under the New Ordinance.*®

14

15

16

A meeting may be convened on shorter notice if: (a) in the case of an annual general meeting, it is
agreed by all the members entitled to attend and vote at the meeting; and (b) in the case of any other
meeting, it is agreed by a majority in number of the members having a right to attend and vote at the
meeting, being a majority together holding at least 95% in nominal value of the shares giving a right
to attend and vote at the meeting, or, in the case of a company not having a share capital, together
representing at least 95% of the total voting rights at that meeting of all the members (Bermuda
Companies Act 1981, Part VI, section 75(2)).

Cayman Islands Companies Law (2013 Revision), Part IV, section 60(3).

Section 571(3) of the New Ordinance provides that Hong Kong incorporated companies may convene
a general meeting on shorter notice if it is agreed: (a) in the case of an annual general meeting, by all
the members entitled to attend and vote at the meeting; and (b) in any other case, by a majority in
number of the members having the right to attend and vote at the meeting, being a majority together
representing at least 95% of the total voting rights at the meeting of all the members.
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116.

117.

118.

119.

120.

121.

We note that although a majority of respondents indicated they agreed with the
proposed amendment on the grounds that it was consistent with providing a
level playing field, a number of respondents stated that it would be of little
practical use to issuers. Despite the fact that issuers may not often make use of
the shorter notice period in practice, we consider that the importance of
upholding the principle of providing a level playing field justifies adopting this
proposal.

In light of the above considerations, we will adopt this proposal and incorporate
it in the Rules by way of new Notes in Parts A and B of Appendix 13.

Other Rule amendments consequential to the enactment of the
New Ordinance

Nominal (par) value

In light of the abolition of the concept of “nominal value” of shares for Hong
Kong incorporated issuers under the New Ordinance, we proposed to replace
“nominal value” or “issued share capital” under various parts of the Rules with
the number of, or the voting rights attaching to, the issued shares (see paragraph
120 of the Consultation Paper for details of the proposed amendments).

A respondent suggested adopting the term “issued voting shares” throughout
the various Rules affected, instead of using different terminologies such as
“number of issued shares” or “issued voting shares”. However, we consider it
appropriate to use the “number of issued shares” or “issued voting shares” in
different Rules as the Rules currently make reference to the “nominal value” of
shares or the “issued share capital” for different purposes.

We will adopt our proposed amendments with modifications to take up some
drafting comments to improve the clarity of the Rules.

Other consequential Rule amendments

We will adopt our proposed amendments in respect of:

@ allowing issuers without a company seal to state in their articles that
“certificates for capital must be executed under signature of appropriate

officials with statutory authority”;

(b) removing references to share warrants to bearer issued by Hong Kong
incorporated issuers;

(©) removing references to the memorandum of Hong Kong incorporated
ISSUers;

(d) amending the definition of “holding company” so that it is
self-contained and no longer linked to the Predecessor Ordinance; and
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(e) in relation to certificate replacement services, aligning the threshold
value of securities represented by lost share certificates with that under
the New Ordinance.

122. In relation to the definition of “holding company”, one respondent commented
that the proposed drafting’ was unclear and suggested adopting the definition
of “holding company” under the Predecessor Ordinance.*®

123.  We consider that the proposed definition is simpler and given that no other
respondents had comments on the proposed definition, we will adopt it.

" The proposed definition of “holding company” is “in relation to a company, means another company
of which it is a subsidiary”.

¥ The definition of “holding company” in the Predecessor Ordinance was “the holding company of a

company shall be read as a reference to a company of which that last-mentioned company is a
subsidiary”.
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MARKET FEEDBACK AND CONCLUSIONS

CHAPTER V: MINOR RULE AMENDMENTS

124.

125.

126.

127.

128.

Disclosure of dividend payment date

Consultation Question 10
Proposal

We proposed to require issuers to announce the expected payment dates for
their dividends or other distributions (“Payment Dates”).

Comments received

A large majority of respondents (93%) supported the proposal. There were
comments that the proposed Rules should make it clear that issuers are required
to update their shareholders on any subsequent changes to the expected
Payment Dates.

Two respondents disagreed with the proposal. One commented that more
flexibility should be given to issuers particularly the smaller ones which require
more time to manage their cash flow. The respondent considered that issuers
should not be required to disclose the exact Payment Date. The other
respondent commented that the disclosure would not be useful.

Our response

We consider the Payment Date to be important information for shareholders
and it is in their interest to be notified of the expected date as soon as possible.
We will adopt the proposal with a modification to require issuers to update
shareholders on any changes to the expected Payment Dates.

Property valuation for connected transaction

Consultation Question 11
Proposal

The Rules currently require a connected transaction circular to include a
property valuation in the case of an acquisition or disposal of any property
interest or property company from or to a connected person. The Rule is
unclear as to whether the property valuation requirement also applies to other
categories of connected transactions, e.g. an acquisition or interest in a property
company from a third party where the issuer’s controlling shareholder is a
substantial shareholder of that property company.
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129.

130.

131.

132.

133.

134.

135.

We proposed to amend the Rules to clarify that a property valuation is required
for the circular of any connected transactions that involve acquisitions or
disposals of any property interest or property company.

Comments received

A large majority of respondents (89%) supported the proposal. Two
respondents raised some comments.

One respondent agreed that the proposal would clarify the property valuation
requirements for connected transactions. However, the respondent questioned
whether an independent property valuation adds any value for these types of
connected transactions. It also asked if it would be sufficient to disclose the
value of the property as shown in the latest available accounts or the agreed
consideration being in line with the market.

Another respondent considered that a property valuation may not be necessary
if the connected transaction involves an acquisition or disposal of property from
of a third party who is not related to any connected person at the issuer level.
An example is where an issuer and its connected person at the issuer level form
a joint venture to acquire a property company from an independent third party.

The respondents who objected the proposal commented that property valuation
should not be required for connected transactions that involve acquisition of a
property company from a third party where the issuer’s controlling shareholder
has a substantial interest in the property company. They considered that the
potential benefits that may be conferred on the issuer’s controlling shareholder
would also be available to other shareholders.

Our response

For connected transactions involving acquisitions or disposals of interests in
properties or property companies, independent property valuation is required
when transactions are subject to shareholder approval under Chapter 14A.
Such information is necessary for shareholders to assess the fairness and
reasonableness of the terms of the connected transactions. We note the
respondents’ comments in paragraphs 131 to 133, but we consider the
safeguard is needed in light of the possible influence of connected persons in
these transactions to benefit themselves through their direct interest in the
property companies.

We will adopt the proposal.
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137.

138.

139.

140.

141.

142.

Disclosure of directors’ interests in competing business in
notifiable and/or connected transaction circulars

Consultation Question 12
Proposal

We proposed to remove the requirement for disclosure of competing interest of
directors of the issuer’s subsidiaries and their close associates in circulars for
notifiable and/or connected transactions.

Comments received

A majority of respondents (94%) supported the proposal. One respondent
suggested requiring disclosure of competing interest of directors of the issuer’s
subsidiaries and their close associates, based on the materiality of the relevant
subsidiaries to be assessed using the size tests for classifying transactions.

Two respondents disagreed with the proposal. One commented that directors
at the subsidiary level may benefit themselves through dealings with the
subsidiaries, which may affect the interest of the issuer. The other did not
give reasons for objecting the proposal.

Our response

Our proposal is to remove the requirement for transaction circulars to disclose
information about competing interests of directors of subsidiaries. This is
because such information is not relevant to shareholders’ assessment of the
subject transactions while imposing significant compliance burden on the issuer.
If the issuer group enters into any transactions with the directors of material
subsidiaries, the issuer would still need to comply with the connected
transaction Rules including the requirement to disclose the transactions.

We will adopt the proposal.
Delay in publication of financial results announcement

Consultation Question 13

Proposal

We proposed to codify our current practice and introduce a new GEM Rule
17.49A to require trading suspension for GEM issuers that fail to publish their
financial results announcements.

Comments received

All respondents to this question supported the proposal.
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143.

Our response

We will adopt the proposal.
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MARKET FEEDBACK AND CONCLUSIONS

CHAPTER VI:  HOUSEKEEPING RULE AMENDMENTS WHICH

INVOLVE NO CHANGE IN POLICY DIRECTION

144,

145.

146.

147.

Summary of Proposals

In the consultation paper, we proposed a number of housekeeping Rule
amendments in relation to:

@) updating outdated references to the Codes on Takeovers and Mergers
and Share Buy-backs;

(b) clarifying the applicability of Appendix 3 (Articles of Association) to
new applicants;

(©) removing references to “telex”; and

(d) aligning the GEM Rules with the Main Board Rules in respect of
requiring periodic updates from suspended GEM issuers.

Comments received

References to the Code on Share Buy-backs

We received comments from two respondents that the Listing Rules still
contain inconsistent references to “share buy-backs” and “share repurchases”.

Applicability of Appendix 3 (Articles of Association) to new applicants

We received comments from one respondent that our proposed amendments to
Rule 9.11(20) regarding the confirmation required from a new applicant’s legal
advisers in respect of the applicant’s articles should be adjusted as follows (see
underlined and struck-out portions):

“...a confirmation from the new applicant’s legal advisers that the new
applicant’s articles of association are-netineensistent conform with Appendix 3
and, if relevant, Appendix 13 to the Exchange Listing Rules and the laws of the
place where the new applicant is incorporated or otherwise established...”

The respondent commented that the requirements with which new applicants’
articles of association or equivalent documents must conform are set out in
Appendices 3 and 13 only. Therefore, the confirmation required from the legal
advisers should be similarly confined.

The respondent also commented that Rule 13.51(1) (and Note 1 to that Rule)
regarding the letter required from an issuer’s legal advisers on proposed
amendments to the issuer’s articles should be amended as follows (see
underlined and struck-out portions):
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148.

149.

150.

151.

“...a letter addressed to the issuer from its legal advisers confirming that the
proposed amendments comply are not inconsistent with the requirements of
under Appendix 3 and, if relevant, Appendix 13 to the Exchange Listing Rules
and the laws of the place where it is incorporated...

Notes: 1. Changes to articles of association or equivalent documents must
eonferm not be inconsistent with the requirements of Appendix 3
and, if relevant, Appendix 13.”

The respondent stated that where the proposed changes to the articles are
unrelated to any of the matters covered in Appendices 3 or 13, or any other
parts of the Listing Rules, it is not quite accurate to say that the changes
“comply with” the Listing Rules. Listed issuers’ articles should already be in
compliance with Appendices 3 and 13 (if relevant) before the proposed changes,
so the only concern that should be addressed by the legal advisers’ confirmation
is whether the proposed changes are inconsistent with those Appendices.

References to telex

One respondent suggested that, in addition to removing “telex” from Practice
Note 1, we should remove “telegram” and add “email” as a method for
communicating information to the Listing Department.

Periodic updates after a trading suspension

We received no further comments relating to this proposal.
Our response

References to the Code on Share Buy-backs

We have replaced all references to the “Code on Share Repurchases” with the
“Code on Share Buy-backs” in order to reflect the change in title of the SFC’s
Code on Share Repurchases. We do not consider it necessary to amend other
references in the Rules to “share repurchases” that are outside the context of the
SFC’s Share Buy-backs Code.

Applicability of Appendix 3 (Articles of Association) to new applicants

We agree that the new applicants’ articles of association or equivalent
documents must conform with Appendices 3 and 13. Further, as the respondent
acknowledges, there may be provisions in an issuer’s articles (or equivalent
documents) that are outside the scope of Appendices 3 and 13, or even the
entire set of Listing Rules. Accordingly, we have amended the wording of Rule
9.11(20) to state that the legal advisers should provide confirmation that the
issuer’s articles conform with the relevant parts of Appendices 3 and 13, and on
the whole, are not inconsistent with the Listing Rules.
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152.

153.

154.

155.

156.

157.

158.

As for Rule 13.51(1), to address the respondent’s concern that the proposed
changes to the articles may be outside the scope of the Listing Rules, we have
further amended the Rule such that conformity with the Listing Rules is
required only when they are applicable to the issuer’s proposed changes to its
articles.

References to telex

We agree with the respondent’s suggested amendments as set out in paragraph
148 and will adopt them accordingly.

Periodic updates after a trading suspension

We will adopt this proposal.

Other Housekeeping Amendments

Practice Note 22 (Publication of Application Proofs and Post Hearing
Information Packs (“PHIPs”))

We will amend paragraph 20 of Practice Note 22 to state that a statement issued
under Rule 9.08(2)(c) does not require pre-vetting or clearance from the
Exchange or the SFC.

A statement issued under Rule 9.08(2)(c) is a standard form statement whereby
the applicant warns the public not to rely on media reports on an Application
Proof or a PHIP.'® Given that neither an Application Proof nor a PHIP requires
pre-vetting or clearance from the Exchange or the Commission, a standard Rule
9.08(2)(c) statement that relates exclusively to the Application Proof or the
PHIP should not require prior review by the Exchange or the Commission
either.

For drafting consistency, we will amend paragraph 19 of GEM Practice Note 5
to follow the amendments to Main Board Practice Note 22. This will
consolidate in one provision the Exchange’s treatment of GEM issuers’
Application Proofs, PHIPs and statements issued under GEM Rule 12.10(2)(c)
(i.e. no pre-vetting or clearance from the Exchange is required before
publication).

Appendix 5, Forms A2 and C3 for Collective Investment Schemes
A number of housekeeping amendments to Forms A2 and C3 of Appendix 5 to

the Rules regarding the listing of Collective Investment Schemes have been
incorporated in the marked-up Rule amendments. These are to:

19 See Enclosure 3 of HKEx-GL57-13: Guidance on logistical arrangements for publication of
Application Proofs, Post Hearing Information Packs (“PHIPs”) and related materials on the
Exchange’s website for listing applicants.
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159.

@ define the term “Securities and Futures Commission” as “SFC” when it
first appears in Forms A2 and C3 of Appendix 5 and use the abbreviated
term in those forms thereafter; and

(b) replace references to the “Companies Ordinance” with the “Companies
(Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance” where
appropriate.

References to Appendix 10 (Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers)

We will also adopt a few housekeeping changes to correct inaccurate references
to the title of Appendix 10 to the Rules, the “Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers”. Some Listing Rules refer to this
incorrectly as the “Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Companies”.
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APPENDIXI: REVISED MAIN BOARD RULES APPENDIX 16

Appendix 16

DISCLOSURE OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

This appendix sets out the minimum financial information that a listed issuer shall
include in its preliminary announcements of results, interim reports, summary interim
reports, annual reports, summary financial reports, listing documents and circulars in
relation to equity securities. The following requirements are supplementary to and do
not supplant any other disclosures required by the Exchange Listing Rules. This
appendix also sets out certain recommended disclosure items on management
discussion and analysis (see paragraph 52) that listed issuers are encouraged to include
in their interim and annual reports. These recommended disclosure items are not
obligatory, but merely items relating to good practice which are recommended for

disclosure.

Definitions

1. Unless stated to the contrary references in this appendix to financial statements
of a listed issuer or to the turneverrevenue, net income, profit or loss, activities,
business, or assets of a listed issuer should be taken as referring to the
consolidated financial statements of the listed issuer or the turreverrevenue,
net income, profit or loss, activities, business or assets of the listed issuer as set
out in its consolidated financial statements. Throughout this appendix, the
following terms, save where the context otherwise requires, shall have the

following meanings:

“banking company”

“entitled person”

“Hong Kong issuer”

“new applicant”

“overseas issuer”

“PRC issuer”

a bank, restricted licence bank and deposit taking
company as defined in the Banking Ordinance

the-same-meaning-as-ir-a person who is entitled to

be sent copies of the reporting documents for the
financial year under section 430 of the Companies
Ordinance

I L h 26 bel

the same meaning as in Chapter 1 of the Exchange
Listing Rules

the same meaning as in Chapter 1 of the Exchange
Listing Rules

the same meaning as in Chapter 1 of the Exchange
Listing Rules

the same meaning as in Chapter 1 of the Exchange
Listing Rules
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“securities*”

any and all equity securities and, unless the context
otherwise provides, debt securities issued from time
to time by an issuer or if applicable, by any of its
subsidiaries, whether or not listed on the Exchange

Requirement for all Financial Statements

Each set of financial statements presented in an annual report, listing document
or circular shall provide a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the listed
issuer and of the results of its operations and its cashflows.and-shal-nelude,at

a minimum, the following components:

2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

Annual aeceuntsfinancial statements of a listed issuer are
required, subject to Notes 2.4 and 2:52.6, to conform with:—

(@ Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (HKFRS); or
(b) International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS); or

(c) China Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises
(CASBE) in the case of a PRC issuer that has adopted
CASBE for the preparation of its annual financial
statements.

An issuer must apply one of the bodies of standards referred to in
Note 2.1 consistently and shall not normally change from one
body of standards to the other unless there are reasonable
grounds to justify such a change. All reasons for any such
change must be disclosed in the annual aceeuntsfinancial
statements.

[Repealed 15 December 2010]

An overseas issuer, which has a secondary listing on the
Exchange, may prepare annual aeeceuntsfinancial statements
drawn up in conformity with Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles in the United States of America (US GAAP).
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2.5 If an accounting estimate reported in prior interim period of the
current financial year is changed during the subsequent interim
period of the same financial year and has a material effect in that
subsequent interim period, the nature and amount of a change in
an accounting estimate that has a material effect in the current
financial year or which is expected to have a material effect in
subsequent periods should be disclosed. If it is impracticable to
quantify the amount, this fact should be disclosed.

2.6 Where the Exchange, in exceptional circumstances, allows the
annual aceeuntsfinancial statements of an overseas issuer to be
drawn up otherwise than in conformity with accounting
standards referred to in Note 2.1, the Exchange will normally
require the annual aeceunts—financial statements to contain a
statement of the financial effect of the material differences (if any)
from either HKFRS or IFRS referred to in Note 2.1 above.

2.7 References to financial statements in a circular relate to
circumstances where the Exchange Listing Rules require a listed
issuer to provide financial statements in a circular to
shareholders. There may be financial statements of the listed
issuer or of other companies.

2.8 Where there have been material changes in group structure
during the period covered by the accountants’ report prior to the
proposed listing date of a new applicant, the new applicant
should consult with the Exchange at the earliest opportunity in
respect of the contents and presentation of the cash flow
statement in the listing document.

If the financial statements do not give a true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the listed issuer and of the results of its operations and its cashflows, more
detailed and/or additional information must be provided.

3.1

3.2

If a listed issuer is in doubt as to what more detailed and/or additional
information should be provided, it should apply to the Exchange for
guidance.

If a listed issuer is not required to draw up its financial statements so
as to give a true and fair view (in accordance with any statutory
provisions applicable in the listed issuer’s place of incorporation or
establishment) but is required to draw them up to an equivalent
standard, the Exchange may allow its financial statements to be drawn
up to that standard. Reference must, however, be made to the
Exchange. If a listed issuer is in doubt as to what more detailed and/or
additional information should be provided, it should contact the
Exchange for guidance.
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Basic Financial Information

Financial statements referred to in paragraph 2 shall include_the disclosures
required under the relevant accounting standards adopted and atteast-the
information set out below. This information may be included in the notes to
the financial statements. In the case of bBanking companies, the information on
results and financial position set out in shal-comphy-with the Guideline on the
Application of the Banking (Disclosure) Rules issued by the Hong Kong
Monetary Authority must be provided in place of that set out in paragraph 4(1)
and paragraph 4(2) Appendix—15-as regards the disclosure requirements for
preliminary announcements of results, interim reports, annual reports, listing
documents and circulars.

(1) Inreome-statementStatement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income
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t)—s 9”|'pa.'a“;e Hgures lel.' the—matters s_pelelllleel Hh—{a)—to—m)

4.1

Where the items of information specified in
sub-paragraph 4(1) are—is unsuited to a listed issuer’s
activities, appropriate adjustments should be made.
Where the requirements of this appendix are unsuited to a
listed issuer’s activities or circumstances, the Exchange
may require suitable adaptations to be made.

Balanee-sheetStatement of financial position
{b)—=cutrrent-assets
(a) {i)——debtors—including—creditpolicy—and-ageing analysis of

accounts receivable; and

hat banl ! in-hand:and
o liabiliti

" I . | debts-and
(b) @#)——ageing analysis of accounts payable;.
n liabilities):
o I I liabilities:
g liabiliti

" | . | debts:
{g)——~apital-and-reserves;-and
b ling i '

4.2

The ageing analysis should normally be presented on the

basis of the date of the relevant invoice or demand note
and categorised into time-bands based on analysis used
by an issuer’s management to monitor the issuer’s
financial position. The basis on which the ageing analysis
is presented should be disclosed.
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(3) Dividends

Rates of dividend paid or proposed on each class of shares (with
particulars of each such class) and amounts absorbed thereby (or an
appropriate negative statement).

In the accounting policies section a listed issuer shall state which body of
accounting standards have been followed in the preparation of its financial
statements. Where applicable, a listed issuer should include a statement by the
directors as to the reasons for any significant departure from an accounting
standard that forms part of this body of accounting standards.

Information in annual reports

A listed issuer shall include the information as set out in paragraphs 78 to
3534A in its annual report. Unless stated to the contrary the financial
information specified in these paragraphs may be included outside the financial
statements and will therefore be outside the scope of the auditors’ report on the
financial statements. Banking companies shall, in addition, comply with the
Financial Disclosure by Locally Incorporated Authorized InstitutionsGuideline
on the Application of the Banking (Disclosure) Rules or other regulations in
relation to the contents of annual report issued or specified from time to time by
the Hong Kong Monetary Authority.

6.1 The Exchange may authorise the omission from an annual report of
specified items of information if it considers that disclosure of such
information would be contrary to the public interest or seriously
detrimental to the listed issuer. The Exchange will only authorise such
omission provided it is satisfied that the omission is not likely to
mislead the public with regard to facts and circumstances, knowledge
of which is essential for the assessment of the securities in question.
The listed issuer or its representatives will be responsible for the
correctness and relevance of the facts on which any application for
such exemption is based.
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6.2 The term financial year refers to the period covered by a listed issuer’s
financial statements even where the period is not a calendar year.

6.3 An annual report shall contain the following information required
under other parts of the Listing Rules:

(a) competing business under rules 8.10(2)(b) and 8.10(2)(c);

(b) a monthly breakdown of purchases of shares under rule

10.06(4)(b);

(c) advance to an entity under rule 13.20;

(d)  pledging of shares by the controlling shareholder under rule
13.21;

(e) loan agreements with covenants relating to specific performance
of the controlling shareholder under rule 13.21;

(f)  breach of loan agreement by an issuer under rule 13.21;

(q) financial assistance and quarantees to affiliated companies of an
issuer under rule 13.22;

(h)  provision of information in respect of and by directors,
supervisors and chief executives under rule 13.51B(1);

(i) information of profit guarantee provided by a connected person
regarding the financial performance of the company or business
acquired from the connected person under rule 14A.63;

(1) share option schemes under rules 17.07, 17.08 and 17.09;

(k) for an issuer involving in mining activities, continuing disclosure
obligations arise under rules 18.14 to 18.17, where appropriate;

() for investment companies, continuing disclosure obligations
arise under rule 21.12(1);

(m) disclosure of interests information under Practice Note 5; and

(n) provision of information in respect of corporate governance
code provisions B.1.5 (remuneration payable to members of
senior management by band) and C.1.4 (discussion and analysis
of group’s performance) of Appendix 14 or explain reason for

deviation.
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In relation to connected transactions (including continuing connected
transactions) that are not exempt from annual reporting requirement in
Chapter 14A, a listed issuer shall include particulars of the transactions
pursuant to rule 14A.71.

Where a listed issuer includes in its annual report particulars of a
related party transaction or continuing related party transaction (as the
case may be) in accordance with applicable accounting standards
adopted for the preparation of its annual financial statements, it must
specify whether or not the transaction falls under the definition of
“connected transaction” or “continuing connected transaction” (as the
case may be) in Chapter 14A of the Exchange Listing Rules. The listed
issuer must also confirm whether or not it has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Exchange Listing Rules.

Q. A listed issuer shall include in its financial statements a statement showing:—

1)

@)

the name of every subsidiary, its principal country of operation and its
country of incorporation or other establishment, and, in the case of a
subsidiary established in the PRC, the kind of legal entity it is
registered as under PRC law (such as a contractual or cooperative joint
venture); and

particulars of the issued share capital and debt securities of every
subsidiary.

9.1 In the case of a subsidiary incorporated in the PRC, reference to
securities shall mean and refer to securities™*.

9.2 If a listed issuer has an excessive number of subsidiaries, the
statement need only include details for subsidiaries which, in the
opinion of the directors, materially contribute to the net income
of the group or hold a material portion of the assets or liabilities
of the group.

10.  Inrelation to transactions in its securities, or securities of its subsidiaries during
the financial year a listed issuer shall include:-

1)

details of the classes, numbers and terms of any convertible securities,
options, warrants or similar rights issued or granted by the listed issuer
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11.

or any of its subsidiaries, together with the consideration received by
the listed issuer or any of its subsidiaries therefor;

(2) particulars of any exercise of any conversion or subscription rights
under any convertible securities, options, warrants or similar rights
issued or granted at any time by the listed issuer or any of its
subsidiaries;

3 particulars of any redemption or purchase or cancellation by the listed
issuer or any of its subsidiaries of its redeemable securities and the
amount of such securities outstanding at the-balance-sheet-date end of
the relevant financial year; and

4) particulars of any purchase, sale or redemption by the listed issuer, or
any of its subsidiaries, of its listed securities during the financial year,
or an appropriate negative statement. Such statement must include the
aggregate price paid or received by the listed issuer for such purchases,
sales or redemptions and should distinguish between those securities
purchased or sold:-

(@) on the Exchange;

(b) on another stock exchange;
(c) Dby private arrangement; and
(d) by way of a general offer.

Any such statement must also distinguish between those listed
securities which are purchased by the listed issuer (and, therefore,
cancelled) and those which are purchased by a subsidiary of the listed
issuer;

10.1 In the case of a PRC issuer or a listed issuer with subsidiaries
incorporated in the PRC, references to securities in
sub-paragraphs 10(1) to 10(4) inclusive shall mean and refer to
securities*.

In the case of any issue for cash of equity securities made otherwise than
shareholders in proportion to their shareholdings and which has not been
specifically authorised by the shareholders, a listed issuer shall disclose:-

1) the reasons for making the issue;
@) the classes of equity securities issued;
3 as respect each class of equity securities, the number issued, their

aggregate nominal value, if any;

4) the issue price of each security;
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12.

12A.

12B.

(5) the net price to the listed issuer of each security;

(6) the names of the allottees, if less than six in number, and, in the case of
six or more allottees, a brief generic description of them;

(7) the market price of the securities concerned on a named date, being the
date on which the terms of the issue were fixed; and

(8) the use of the proceeds.

11.1 In the case of a PRC issuer, references to securities in this
paragraph shall mean and refer to securities*.

A listed issuer should provide brief biographical details of its directors and
senior managers. Such details will include name, age, positions held with the
listed issuer and other members of the listed issuer’s group, length of service
with the issuer and the group and such other information (which may include
business experience) of which shareholders should be aware, pertaining to the
ability or integrity of such persons. Where any of the directors or senior
managers are related, having with any other director or senior manager any one
of the relationships set out below, that fact should be stated. The relationships
are spouse; any person cohabiting with the director or senior manager as a
spouse; and any relative meaning a child or step-child regardless of age, a
parent or step-parent, a brother, sister, step-brother or step-sister, a
mother-in-law, a father-in law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, brother-in-law or
sister-in-law. Where any director of the listed issuer is a director or employee of
a company which has an interest in the shares and underlying shares of the
listed issuer which would fall to be disclosed to the listed issuer under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance, that fact shall be stated.

12.1 It is the responsibility of the directors of the listed issuer to determine
which individual or individuals constitute senior management. Senior
management may include directors of subsidiaries; heads of divisions,
departments or other operating units within the group as, in the
opinion of the listed issuer’s directors, is appropriate.

12.2 In the case of a PRC issuer, references to directors and senior
managers in this paragraph shall also mean and include supervisors.

In relation to an independent non-executive director appointed by a listed issuer
during the financial year, the listed issuer shall disclose the reasons why such
an independent non-executive director was and is considered to be independent
if he has failed to meet any of the independence guidelines set out in rule 3.13.

A listed issuer must confirm whether it has received from each of its
independent non-executive directors an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to rule 3.13 and whether it still considers the
independent non-executive directors to be independent.
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13.  Alisted issuer shall include the information relating to interests of directors, the
chief executive and others as follows:—

1)

@)

subject to sub-paragraph 13(2), a statement as at the balance-sheet
dateend of the relevant financial year showing the interests and short
positions of each director and chief executive of the listed issuer in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the listed issuer or any
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance):

(@) as recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance; or

(b) as otherwise notified to the listed issuer and the Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Companies—Issuers (which for purposes of
this sub-paragraph shall be deemed to apply to the PRC Issuer’s
supervisors to the same extent as it applies to directors); or

(c) if there is no such interest or right that has been granted or
exercised, a statement of that fact,

provided that the Exchange may agree, in its sole discretion, that
compliance with this sub-paragraph may be modified or waived in
respect of any associated corporation if, in the opinion of the Exchange,
the number of associated corporations in respect of which each director
and chief executive is taken or deemed to have an interest or short
position under Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance is such
that compliance with this sub-paragraph would result in particulars
being given which are not material in the context of the group and are
of excessive length;

the statement required by sub-paragraph 13(1) must specify the
company in which the interests or short positions are held, the class to
which those securities belong and the number of such securities held.
The statement need not disclose:

(@) the interests of a director in the shares of the listed issuer or any
of its subsidiaries if such interest is held solely in a
non-beneficial capacity and is for the purpose of holding the
requisite qualifying shares;

(b) the non-beneficial interests of directors in the shares of any
subsidiary of the listed issuer in so far as that interest comprises
the holding of shares subject to the terms of a written, valid and
legally enforceable declaration of trust in favour of the parent
company of that subsidiary or the listed issuer and such interest
is held solely for the purpose of ensuring that the relevant
subsidiary has more than one member;
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14.

14A.

15.

13.1 Where interests in securities arising from the holding of
such securities as qualifying shares are not disclosed
pursuant to the exception provided in this paragraph, a
general statement should nevertheless be made to indicate
that the directors hold qualifying shares.

3 a statement as at the-balanee-sheet-date end of the relevant financial
year, showing the interests or short positions of every person, other
than a director or chief executive of the listed issuer, in the shares and
underlying shares of the listed issuer as recorded in the register
required to be kept under section 336 of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance and the amount of such interests and short positions, or if
there is no such interests and short positions recorded in the register, a
statement of that fact; and

13.2 For the purposes of sub-paragraphs 13(2) and (3) particulars
should be given of the extent of any duplication which occurs.

13.3 Inthe case of a PRC issuer:—

(@) references to director or chief executive in sub-paragraphs
13(1) to 13(3) inclusive shall also mean and include
supervisors;

(b) references to securities in sub-paragraphs 13(1) to 13(3)
inclusive shall mean and refer to securities*.

A listed issuer shall include a statement as to the period unexpired of any
service contract, which is not determinable by the employer within one year
without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation), of any
director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting or,
if there are no such service contracts, a statement of that fact.

141 In the case of a PRC issuer, reference to director under this paragraph
shall also mean and include supervisor.

A listed issuer must include particulars of any service contracts that are exempt
under rule 13.69.

A listed issuer shall include particulars_(nature and extent) of any transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance subsisting during or at the end of the
financial year in which a director of the listed issuer_or an entity connected with
a director is or was materially interested, either directly or indirectly, or, if there
has been no such transaction, arrangement or contract, a statement of that fact.

15.1 In the case of a PRC issuer, reference to director under this paragraph
shall also mean and include supervisor.

15.2 A *“transaction, arrangement or contract of significance” is one where
any of the percentage ratios (as defined under rule 14.04(9)) of the
transaction is 1% or more.
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16.

17.

153

154

Notwithstanding the percentage specified in Note 15.2, a transaction,
arrangement or contract is regarded as a ‘‘transaction, arrangement
or_contract of significance” to a listed issuer if the omission of
information relating to that transaction, arrangement or contract
could have changed or influenced the judgement or decision of a
person relying on the relevant information.

A reference to an entity connected with a director has the meaning

given by section 486 of the Companies Ordinance.

A listed issuer shall include:—

(1)

@)

particulars of any contract of significance between the listed issuer, or
one of its subsidiary companies, and a controlling shareholder or any
of its subsidiaries;

16.1 For the purposes of this sub-paragraph and of sub-paragraph
16(2), the words “controlling shareholder” mean any
shareholder entitled to exercise, or control the exercise of:—

(i) in the case of a PRC issuer, 30 per cent (or such other
amount as may from time to time be specified in applicable
PRC law as being the level for triggering a mandatory
general offer or for otherwise establishing legal or
management control over a business enterprise);

(ii) in other cases, 30 per cent (or such other amount as may
from time to time be specified in the Takeovers Code as
being the level for triggering a mandatory general offer);

or more of the voting power at general meetings of the listed
issuer or one which is in a position to control the composition of
a majority of the board of directors of the listed issuer.

particulars of any contract of significance for the provision of services
to the listed issuer or any of its subsidiaries by a controlling
shareholder or any of its subsidiaries.

16.2 See Notes 15.2 and 16.1

A listed issuer shall include particulars of any arrangement under which a
shareholder has waived or agreed to waive any dividends.

17.1

Where a shareholder has agreed to waive future dividends, particulars
of such waiver(s) must be given together with those relating to
dividends which were payable during the past financial year. Waivers
of dividends of minor amount may be disregarded provided that some
payment has been made on each share during the relevant calendar
year.
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18.

19.

20.

21.

22.

If net income shown in the financial statements differs materially from any
profit forecast published by the listed issuer, the listed issuer must include an
explanation of the difference.

A listed issuer shall include a summary, in the form of a comparative table, of
the published results and of the assets and liabilities of the group for the last
five financial years. Where the published results and statement of assets and
liabilities have not been prepared on a consistent basis this must be explained in
the summary.

An overseas issuer or a PRC issuer shall include a statement, where applicable,
that no pre-emptive rights exist in the jurisdiction in which the listed issuer is
incorporated or otherwise established.

20.1  Where the listed issuer’s primary listing is or is to be on another stock
exchange which does not impose pre-emptive rights and the listed
issuer is not otherwise subject to such rights, the Exchange expects
that issues for cash of shares or securities convertible into shares or
options, warrants or similar rights to subscribe for any shares or such
convertible securities, made by the overseas listed issuer or by a major
subsidiary so as materially to dilute the percentage interests of the
listed issuer’s shareholders, will not be made on terms likely to detract
significantly from the value of their interests. In the case of a PRC
issuer, references to securities shall mean and refer to securities*.

An overseas issuer or a PRC issuer shall include the information necessary to
enable holders of its listed securities to obtain any relief from taxation to which
they are entitled by reason of their holding of such securities.

In relation to loans and borrowings a listed issuer shall provide in its financial
statements,:—

H———except where the listed issuer is a banking company, an analysis as at
the balanee-sheet-date of statement of financial position, firstly of bank
loans and overdrafts and, secondly of other borrowings, showing the
aggregate amounts repayable:—

(@ ondemand or within a period not exceeding one year;

(b) within a period of more than one year but not exceeding two
years;

(c) within a period of more than two years but not exceeding five
years; and

(d) within a period of more than five years;.

2 4 g italised_durina_the_financial
year
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23.

24.

Where any of the percentage ratios (as defined under rule 14.04(9)) of a listed
issuer’s properties held for development and/or sale or for investment purposes
exceeds 5%, the listed issuer shall include the following information:—

1) in the case of property held for development and/or sale:—

(@ an address sufficient to identify the property, which generally
must include the postal address, lot number and such further
designation as is registered with the appropriate government
authorities in the jurisdiction in which the property is located,;

(b) if in the course of construction, the stage of completion as at the
date of the annual report;

(c) ifinthe course of construction, the expected completion date;
(d) the existing use (e.g. shops, offices, factories, residential, etc.);
(e) the site and gross floor area of the property; and
(f)  the percentage interest in the property.

(2) in the case of property held for investment:—

(@ an address sufficient to identify the property, which generally
must include the postal address, lot number and such further
designation as is registered with the appropriate government
authorities in the jurisdiction in which the property is located,;

(b) the existing use (e.g. shops, offices, factories, residential, etc.);
and

(c) whether the property is held on short lease, medium term lease or
long lease or, if situated outside Hong Kong, is freehold.

If a listed issuer has an excessive number of the properties, the
statement need only include details for properties which in the opinion
of the directors are material.

An issuer must disclose in its financial statements details of director’s and past
director’s emoluments, by name as follows:-

1) the directors’ fees for the financial year;

(2) the directors’ basic salaries, housing allowances, other allowances and
benefits in kind;

(3) the contributions to pension schemes for directors or past directors for
the financial year;
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(4)

()

(6)

the bonuses paid or receivable by directors which are discretionary or
are based on the listed issuer’s, the group’s or any member of the
group’s performance (excluding amounts disclosed in (5) and (6)
below) for the financial year;

the amounts paid during the financial year or receivable by directors as
an inducement to join or upon joining the listed issuer; and

the compensation paid during the financial year or receivable by
directors or past directors for the loss of office as a director of any
member of the group or of any other office in connection with the
management of the affairs of any member of the group distinguishing
between contractual and other payments (excluding amounts disclosed
in (2) to (5) above).

24.1 Sub-paragraphs (2) to (6) above inclusive require an analysis of
the amounts to be disclosed in the listed issuer’s financial
statements under the provisions of section 16341)383(1)(a) to
(c)(inclusive) of the Companies Ordinance.

24.2 Where a director is contractually entitled to bonus payments
which are fixed in amount such payments are more in the nature
of basic salary and accordingly must be disclosed under
sub-paragraph (2) above.

24.3 In addition to discretionary bonus payments, all bonus payments
to which a director is contractually entitled and which are not
fixed in amount, together with the basis upon which they are
determined, must be disclosed under subparagraph (4) above.

24.4 In the case of a PRC issuer, references to directors or past
directors shall also mean and include supervisors and past
supervisors (as appropriate).

24.5 References to ““director” in paragraph 24 include a chief
executive who is not a director.

24A. A listed issuer shall include particulars of any arrangement under which a
director has waived or agreed to waive any emoluments.

24B.

24A.1

Where a director has agreed to waive future emoluments, particulars
of such waiver must be given together with those relating to
emoluments which accrued during the past financial year. This applies
in respect to emoluments from the listed issuer or any of its
subsidiaries or other person.

A listed issuer shall include the following information in respect of the group’s

emolument policy:

1)

a general description of the emolument policy and any long-term
incentive schemes of the group; and
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25.

26.

(@) the basis of determining the emolument payable to its directors.

An issuer must disclose in its financial statements information in respect of the
five highest paid individuals during the financial year. For this purpose amounts
paid or payable by way of commissions on sales generated by the individual are
to be ignored. Where all five of these individuals are directors and the
information required by this paragraph has been disclosed in the emoluments of
directors, this must be stated and no additional disclosure is required. Where the
details of one or more of the individuals whose emoluments were the highest
have not been included in the emoluments of directors, the following
information must be disclosed:—

1) the aggregate of basic salaries, housing allowances, other allowances
and benefits in kind for the financial year;

@) the aggregate of contributions to pension schemes for the financial
year;
(3) the aggregate of bonuses paid or receivable which are discretionary or

are based on the issuer’s, the group’s or any member of the group’s
performance (excluding amounts disclosed in (4) and (5) below) for
the financial year;

4) the aggregate of amounts paid during the financial year or receivable
as an inducement to join or upon joining the issuer;

(5) the aggregate of compensation paid during the financial year or
receivable for the loss of any office in connection with the
management of the affairs of any member of the group distinguishing
between contractual payments and other payments (excluding amounts
disclosed in (1) to (3) above); and

(6) an analysis showing the number of individuals whose remuneration
(being amounts paid under (1) to (5) above) fell within bands from
HK$nil up to HK$1,000,000 or into higher bands (where the higher
limit of the band is an exact multiple of HK$500,000 and the range of
the band is HK$499,999).

25.1 It is not necessary to disclose the identity of the highest paid
individuals, unless any of them are directors of the issuer.

A listed issuer shall include the following information_in addition to the
information required under the relevant accounting standard in respect of

pension schemes:—
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217.

28.

(12)

a brief outline of how contributions are calculated or benefits funded:;

(24)

(38)

in the case of defined contribution schemes, details of whether
forfeited contributions (by employers on behalf of employees who
leave the scheme prior to vesting fully in such contributions) may be
used by the employer to reduce the existing level of contributions and
if so, the amounts so utilised in the course of the year and available at
the balanece-sheet-date_of statement of financial position for such use;

and

in the case of defined benefit plans, an outline of the results of the
most recent formal independent actuarial valuation (which should be
as at a date not earlier than 3 years prior to the balance-sheet-date_of
statement of financial position) or later formal independent review of
the scheme on an ongoing basis. This should include disclosure of:—

(@) the name and qualifications of the actuary, the actuarial method
used and a brief description of the main actuarial assumptions;

(b) the market value of the scheme assets at the date of their
valuation or review (unless the assets are administered by an
independent trustee in which case this information may be
omitted);

(c) the level of funding expressed in percentage terms; and

(d) comments on any material surplus or deficiency (including
quantification of the deficiency) indicated by (c) above.

If an issuer has valued any property interests (under Chapter 5) or has valued
any other tangible assets and included such a valuation in the prospectus
relating to its initial public offer and those assets are not stated at valuation (or
at subsequent valuation) in its first annual aceeuntsfinancial statements
published after listing, then the issuer is required to disclose the following
additional information in its first annual report published after listing:—

(1)

)

the amount of such valuation of those properties or other tangible
assets as included in the prospectus; and

the additional depreciation (if any) that would be charged against the
ncome-statementstatement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income had those assets been stated at such valuation (or subsequent
valuation).

A listed issuer (whether or not it is incorporated in Hong Kong) shall include
disclosures required under the following provisions of the Companies
Ordinance_and subsidiary legislation:—
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in financial statements

(2)

@

Section 383 - Notes to financial statements to contain

(b)

information on directors’ emoluments etc.;

Schedule 4 - Accounting Disclosures relating to:

()]

(i)  Part 1(1) Agaregate amount of authorized loans;

(ii)  Part 1(2) Statement of financial position to be contained in
notes to annual consolidated financial statements;

(iii) Part 1(3) Subsidiary’s financial statements must contain
particulars of ultimate parent undertaking;

(iv) Part 2(1) Remuneration of auditor; and

Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of

Directors) Requlation; and

in directors’ report

(a)

Section 390 - Contents of directors’ report: general;

(b)

Section 470 - Permitted indemnity provision to be disclosed in

()

directors’ report;

Section 543 - Disclosure of management contract;
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29.

30.

31.

(d)  Schedule 5 - Content of Directors’ Report: Business Review; and

(e) Companies (Directors’ Report) Requlation.

28.1 Directors must prepare the directors’ report which complies with
section 388 of the Companies Ordinance and the directors’ report
must be approved and signed, which complies with section 391 of the
Companies Ordinance.

28.2 Section 390(3)(b) of the Companies Ordinance requires a company to

disclose the name(s) of the director(s) of its subsidiaries.
Notwithstanding the disclosure provisions in the sub-paragraph 2(a)
above, a listed issuer not incorporated in Hong Kong is not required
to disclose the name(s) of its subsidiaries’ director(s).

A listed issuer shall include a statement of the reserves available for distribution
to shareholders by the listed issuer as at the balance-sheet-date of its statement
of financial position:—

(1)

)

in the case of a Hong Kong issuer, as calculated under the provisions
of sections #9B291, 297 and 299 of the Companies Ordinance; and

in other cases, as calculated in accordance with any statutory
provisions applicable in the listed issuer’s place of incorporation or, in
the absence of such provisions, with generally accepted accounting
principles.

A listed issuer shall include details of any change in its auditors in any of the
preceding three years.

A listed issuer shall include information in respect of its major customers
(meaning, other than in relation to consumer goods or services, the ultimate
customer, and in relation to consumer goods or services the ultimate wholesale
or retailer as the case may be) and its major suppliers (meaning the ultimate
supplier of items which are not of a capital nature) as follows:—

1)

)

©)

(4)

()

a statement of the percentage of purchases attributable to the largest
supplier;

a statement of the percentage of purchases attributable to the 5 largest
suppliers combined;

a statement of the percentage of turnover-er-salesrevenue from sales of
goods or rendering of services attributable to the largest customer;

a statement of the percentage of turnover-er-salesrevenue from sales of
goods or rendering of services attributable to the 5 largest customers
combined,

a statement of the interests of any of the directors; their close
associates; or any shareholder (which to the knowledge of the directors
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32.

(6)

(7)

own more than 5% of the number of issued shares of the listed issuer’s
share-capital) in the suppliers or customers disclosed under (1) to (4)
above or if there are no such interests a statement to that effect;

in the event that the percentage which would fall to be disclosed under
(2) above is less than 30, a statement of that fact shall be given and the
information required in (1), (2) and (5) (in respect of suppliers) may be
omitted; and

in the event that the percentage which would fall to be disclosed under
(4) above is less than 30, a statement of that fact shall be given and the
information required in (3), (4) and (5) (in respect of customers) may
be omitted;

31.1 Paragraph 31 applies to all listed issuers whose businesses
comprise, in whole or in part, the supply of goods or services of
whatever nature, and in the case of service references to
customers includes the clients of such listed issuers.

31.2 In relation to consumer goods, references to customers are to the
ultimate wholesaler or retailer, except when the listed issuer’s
business incorporates the wholesaling or retailing operation. In
all other cases references to customers are to ultimate customer.

31.3 References to suppliers are primarily to those who provide
goods or services which are specific to a listed issuer’s business
and which are required on a regular basis to enable the listed
issuer to continue to supply or service its customers. Suppliers of
goods and services which are freely available from a range of
suppliers at similar prices or which are otherwise freely
available (such as utilities) are excluded. In particular, it is
recognised that an obligation on listed issuers who are providers
of financial services (such as banks and insurance companies) to
give information about suppliers would be of limited or no value,
and there is therefore no disclosure requirement in respect of
suppliers to such listed issuers.

31.4 The Exchange must be consulted if there is any doubt about the
application of paragraph 31.

A listed issuer shall include in its annual report-a-separate-statement-containing

a discussion and analysis of the group’s performance during the financial year
and the material factors underlying its results and financial position. It should
emphasize trends and identify significant events or transactions during the
financial year under review. As a minimum the directors of the listed issuer
should comment on the following:—

1)

the group’s liquidity and financial resources. This may include
comments on the level of borrowings at the-balanee-sheet-date_end of
the period under review, the seasonality of borrowing requirements,
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(2)

3)

4)

()

(6)

7)

(8)
©)

and the maturity profile of borrowings and committed borrowing
facilities. Reference may also be made to the funding requirements for
capital expenditure commitments and authorisations;

the capital structure of the group in terms of maturity profile of debt
and obligation, type of capital instruments used, currency and interest
rate structure. The discussion may cover:

(@ funding and treasury policies and objectives in terms of the
manner in which treasury activities are controlled,

(b) the currencies in which borrowings are made and in which cash
and cash equivalents are held;

(c) the extent to which borrowings are at fixed interest rates;
(d) the use of financial instruments for hedging purposes; and

(e) the extent to which foreign currency net investments are hedged
by currency borrowings and other hedging instruments;

the state of the group’s order book (where applicable) and prospects
for new business including new products and services introduced or
announced;

significant investments held, their performance during the financial
year and their future prospects;

details of material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries—and

associated-companies, associates and joint ventures in the course of the
financial year;

comments on segmental information. This may cover changes in the
industry segment, developments within the segment and their effect on
the results of that segment. It may also include changes in the market
conditions, new products and services introduced or announced and
their impact on the group’s performance and changes in
turneverrevenue and margins;

where applicable, details of the number and remuneration of
employees, remuneration policies, bonus and share option schemes
and training schemes;

details of charges on group assets;

details of future plans for material investments or capital assets and
their expected sources of funding in the coming year;

32.1 It is the responsibility of the directors of the listed issuer to
determine what investment or capital asset is material in the
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33.

34.

34A.

35.

context of the listed issuer’s business, operations and financial
performance. The materiality of investment or capital asset
varies from one listed issuer to another according to its financial
performance, assets and capitalisation, the nature of its
operations and other factors. An event that is “material’ in the
context of a smaller listed issuer’s business and affairs is often
not material to a large listed issuer. The directors of the listed
issuer are in the best position to determine materiality. The
Exchange recognises that decisions on disclosure require careful
subjective judgements, and encourages listed issuers to consult
the Exchange when in doubt as to whether disclosure should be
made.

(10) gearing ratio;

32.2 The basis on which the gearing ratio is computed should be
disclosed.

(11) exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates and any related hedges; and
(12) details of contingent liabilities, if any.
32.3 If the above information required in this paragraph has been

disclosed in a business review in the directors’ report as set out
in paragraph 28, no additional disclosure is required.

An issuer must include, in respect of the group, a separate Corporate
Governance Report prepared by the board on its corporate governance practices.
The report must, as a minimum, contain the information required under
paragraphs G to P of Appendix 14 regarding the accounting period covered by
the annual report. To the extent that it is reasonable and appropriate, the issuer
may incorporate by reference information in its annual report into the Corporate
Governance Report. Any such references must be clear and unambiguous and
the Corporate Governance Report must not contain only a cross-reference
without any discussion of the matter.

A listed issuer shall include a statement of sufficiency of public float. The
statement should be based on information that is publicly available to the listed
issuer and within the knowledge of its directors as at the latest practicable date
prior to the issue of the annual report.




statements:[Repealed [date]]

{1} Income Statement
A . ;
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36.




Information to accompany interim reports

37.  Alisted issuer shall prepare an interim report in respect of the first six months
of its financial year, unless that financial year is of six months or less. Banking
companies shall, in addition, comply with the Guideline on the Application of
the Banking (Disclosure) Rules issued by the Hong Kong Monetary
AuthorityAppendix—15 as regards the disclosure requirements for an interim

report.—Fhat—interim—report—shallnclude—at—a—minimum,—the—folowing

37.1 If a change in the financial year is proposed, the Exchange
should be consulted as to the period or periods to be covered by
the interim report.

“ﬁltell i |e|peF|_t S"a”rbe Itl'ese |te|||_|s Slﬁ'.e““' '."Itl'e ba. tance-sheet-as
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38.

39.

37.24 A listed issuer should apply the same accounting policies in its
interim financial statements as are applied in its annual
financial statements except where the change in accounting
policy is required by an accounting standard which came into
effect during the interim period. Accounting policies which have
been consistently applied and which were disclosed in the listed
issuer’s most recent published audited financial statements or
for a newly listed issuer in its recent prospectus may be omitted
from the interim report. Any significant changes in accounting
policies, including those required by an accounting standard,
should be disclosed together with the reason for changing the
accounting policy.

Except where a change in accounting policy is required by an accounting
standard issued during the interim period, a listed issuer must prepare its
interim report in accordance with the same accounting standards that it adopted
in the preparation of its most recent published annual financial statements or for
a newly listed company in its prospectus. Where there have been any significant
departure from such accounting standards, then the listed issuer shall include a
statement setting out particulars of, and reasons for, the departure. A listed
issuer should comply with the relevant standard on interim reporting in respect
of its half-year reports in accordance with the requirements under HKFRS,
IFRS or CASBE which is adopted for the preparation of its annual financial
statements.

38.1  The figures in the interim report are the sole responsibilities of the
directors and they must ensure that the accounting policies and
methods of computation applied to the figures are consistent with
those applied to annual financial statements. If those policies or
methods have been changed, the listed issuer must include in the
interim report a description of the nature and effects of the change.
Where it is not possible to quantify the effects of the change in the
accounting policies, or the effects are not significant, this shall be
stated.

A listed issuer’s audit committee must review the interim report. In the event
that the audit committee disagreed with an accounting treatment which had
been adopted or the statement made in accordance with paragraph 38 above,
full details of such disagreement must be disclosed in the interim report;
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40.

39.1

A listed

1)

@)

(34)

It is the responsibility of the audit committee of the listed issuer to
determine the scope and extent of the review. In reviewing an interim
report, the audit committee may refer to relevant statements of
auditing standards and auditing guidelines in relation to review of
interim financial reports for guidance.

issuer shall include in its interim report:—

except-where-the-Hsted-issueris-a-banking-company,-the-minimumthe

disclosures required under the relevant accounting standards adopted

and the information ir—+respect-of-thebalance-sheet-and-the—income
statement-as set out in paragraph 4—Banking—company-shall-comply

s-heet—.[R.epeaIed [date]]

a discussion and analysis of the group’s performance in the interim
period covering all those matters set out in paragraph 32. The
discussion should include any significant information needed for
investors to make an informed assessment of the trend of its activities
and profit (or loss). It should identify and explain any special factor
which has influenced its activities and its profit (or loss) during the
period. It should provide a comparison with the corresponding period
of the preceding financial year and must also, as far as possible, give
an indication of the listed issuer’s prospects for the current financial
year. Such discussion may focus only on the significant changes in the
group’s performance since the most recent published annual report.
Where the current information in relation to those matters set out in
paragraph 32 has not changed materially from the information
disclosed in the most recent published annual report, a statement to
this effect may be made and no additional disclosure is required; and

any supplementary information which is necessary for a reasonable
appreciation of the interim results.

40.2 The Exchange may authorise the omission from an interim
report of specified items of information if it considers that
disclosure of such information would be contrary to the public
interest or seriously detrimental to the listed issuer. The
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40.3

Exchange will only authorise such omission provided it is
satisfied that the omission is not likely to mislead the public with
regard to facts and circumstances, knowledge of which is
essential for the assessment of the securities in question. The
listed issuer or its representatives will be responsible for the
correctness and relevance of the facts on which any application
for such exemption is based. The Exchange may authorise the
omission from an interim report of any other information either
on the grounds referred to above or if it considers such omission
otherwise necessary or appropriate.

An interim report shall contain the following information

required under other parts of the Listing Rules:

(a) advance to an entity under rule 13.20;

(b) pledging of shares by the controlling shareholder under
rule 13.21;

(c) loan agreements with covenants relating to specific
performance of the controlling shareholder under rule
13.21;

(d) breach of loan agreement by an issuer under rule 13.21;

(e) financial assistance and quarantees to affiliated
companies of an issuer under rule 13.22;

(f provision of information in respect of and by directors,
supervisors and chief executives under rule 13.51B(1);

(a) share option schemes under rules 17.07 and 17.08;

(h) for a Mineral Company, continuing disclosure obligation
arises under rule 18.14;

(i) for investment companies, continuing disclosure
obligations arise under rule 21.12(2); and

()] disclosure of interests information under Practice Note 5.

41.  Aninterim report shall contain:—

1)

particulars of any purchase, sale or redemption by the listed issuer, or
any of its subsidiaries of its securities during the interim period as set
out in paragraph 10(4);

41.1 In the case of a PRC issuer or a listed issuer with subsidiaries

incorporated in the PRC, references to securities in
sub-paragraph 10(4) shall mean and refer to securities*.
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42.

43.

44,

@) details of interests in the equity or debt securities of the listed issuer or
any associated corporation at the end of the interim period for each of
the persons as set out in paragraph 13.

41.2 In the case of a PRC issuer:—

(@)  references to director or chief executive in paragraph 13
shall also mean and include supervisors;

(b)  references to securities in paragraph 13 shall mean and
refer to securities*.

Where the accounting information given in an interim report has not been
audited that fact must be stated. If the accounting information contained in an
interim report has been audited by the listed issuer’s auditor, his report thereon
including any qualifications shall be reproduced in full in the interim report.

A listed issuer shall include in its interim report the following information in
respect of the group:

1) a statement in relation to the accounting period covered by the interim
report on whether the listed issuer meets the code provisions set out in
the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix 14. Where
there are any deviations from the code provisions in the Code, the
listed issuer must give considered reasons for the deviations from the
code provisions, either by:

(@) giving considered reasons for each deviation; or

(b) to the extent that it is reasonable and appropriate, by referring to
the Corporate Governance Report in the immediately preceding
annual report and providing details of any changes together with
considered reasons for any deviation not reported in that annual
report. Any such references must be clear and unambiguous and
the interim report must not only contain a cross-reference without
any discussion of the matter;

@) in respect of the Model Code set out in Appendix 10, a statement in
relation to the accounting period covered by the interim report on:

(@) whether the listed issuer has adopted a code of conduct regarding
directors’ securities transactions on terms no less exacting than
the required standard set out in the Model Code;

(b) having made specific enquiry of all directors, whether its

directors have complied with, or whether there has been any
non-compliance with, the required standard set out in the Model
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45.

3)

(4)

Code and its code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions; and

(c) inthe event of any non-compliance with the required standard set
out in the Model Code, details of such non-compliance and an
explanation of the remedial steps taken by the listed issuer to
address such non-compliance;

details of non-compliance (if any) with rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) and
an explanation of the remedial steps taken by the listed issuer to
address such non-compliance relating to appointment of a sufficient
number of independent non-executive directors and an independent
non-executive director with appropriate professional qualifications, or
accounting or related financial management expertise, respectively;
and

details of non-compliance with rule 3.21 (if any) and an explanation of
the remedial steps taken by the listed issuer to address such
non-compliance relating to establishment of an audit committee.

Information to accompany preliminary announcements of

Results for the financial year

A listed issuer shall publish a preliminary announcement of its results in
accordance with rule 2.07C as required under rule 13.49(1), which has been
agreed with its auditors and which includes, as a minimum, the following:

(1)

except-where-the Histed-issuer-is-a-banking-company;-the information in
respect of the balance—sheetstatement of financial position and the

income-statementstatement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as set out in paragraph 4 comprising anr—income
statementstatement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
for the financial year, with comparative figures for the immediately
preceding financial year, and balanee—sheetstatement of financial
position as at the end of the financial year, with comparative figures as
at the end of the |mmed|ately precedlng flnanC|aI year A—bankmg

FeqH#emems—feHhe—balanee—sheet—and—meeme—statemem The Ilsted

issuer must include the notes relating to revenueturhever, taxation,
earnings per share, dividends and any other notes that the directors
consider necessary for a reasonable appreciation of the results for the
year. Directors of the listed issuer must ensure that the information
contained in the preliminary announcement of results is consistent with
the information that will be contained in the annual reports (see
paragraph 45A);

45 1—isted—issders—are—notrequired—toinclude—an—auditedbalanece
sheet ”'Elml_ms Feaning of section 12360l othet PROVISIONS E.I
H'EI.; IS ;I Feinance EE“EEI“F“'g IEE&IE.&“EE E.hIEEEE H mil“
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(2)

3)

4)

()

(6)

(7)

: | licable in f I ¥ ,
place-of-incorporation:[Repealed [date]]

particulars of any purchase, sale or redemption by the listed issuer, or
any of its subsidiaries, of its listed securities during the relevant year or
an appropriate negative statement;

a commentary-business-review covering the following:

(@) a fair review of the development of the business of the listed
issuer and its subsidiaries during the financial year and of their
financial position at the end of the year;

(b) details of important events affecting the listed issuer and its
subsidiaries which have occurred since the end of the financial
year; and

(¢) anindication of likely future developments in the business of the
listed issuer and its subsidiaries;

any supplementary information which in the opinion of the directors of
the listed issuer is necessary for a reasonable appreciation of the results
for the relevant year;

a statement as to whether the listed issuer meets the code provisions
set out in the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix 14.
The listed issuer must also disclose any deviations from the code
provisions and give considered reasons for such deviations. To the
extent that it is reasonable and appropriate, such information may be
given by reference to the immediately preceding interim report or to
the Corporate Governance Report in the immediately preceding annual
report, and summarising any changes since that report. Any such
references must be clear and unambiguous;

a statement as to whether or not the annual results have been reviewed
by the audit committee of the listed issuer;

where the auditors’ report on the listed issuer’s annual financial
statements is likely to be qualified or modified (whether or not it is
also likely to be qualified), details of the qualification or modification;
and
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45A.

46.

(8) where there are any significant changes in accounting policies, a
statement toof that fact must be made-; and

45.2 A listed issuer should apply the accounting policies consistently
except where the change in accounting policy is required by an
accounting standard which came into effect during the financial
year.

(9) where there are prior period adjustments due to correction of material
errors, a statement of that fact must be made.

45.3 The term financial year refers to the period covered by a listed
issuer’s financial statements even where the period is not a
calendar year.

Where, in exceptional circumstances, it becomes necessary to revise the
information contained in the listed issuer’s preliminary announcement of results
in the light of developments arising between the date of publication of the
announcement and the completion of the audit, the listed issuer must
immediately notify the Exchange and publish an announcement in accordance
with rule 2.07C to inform the public. The announcement must provide details of
the changes made to the published preliminary announcement of results
including any impact on the published financial information of the listed issuer
and the reasons for such changes.

45A.1 The Exchange does not expect there to be any material or substantial
difference between the information contained in the listed issuer’s
preliminary announcement of results and that contained in its audited
results.

Information to accompany preliminary announcements of
Interim results

A listed issuer shall publish a preliminary announcement of its results in
accordance with rule 2.07C for the first six months of each financial year as
required under rule 13.49(6), which shall include, as a minimum, the following
information:—

@ except-where-the-listed-issueris-a-banking-company-the information in
respect of the balanee—sheetstatement of financial position and the

ncome-statementstatement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as set out in paragraph 4 comprising an—income
statementstatement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
for the current interim period, with comparative figures for the
comparable period of the immediately preceding financial year, and
balanee-sheetstatement of financial position as at the end of the interim
period, with comparative figures as at the end of the immediately

preceding financial year. A—banking—company—shal—comply—with

Appendix—15-as—regards—the-disclosurereguirements—for-the-balance
sheet-and-income-statement. The listed issuer must include the notes
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(2)

3)

(4)

()

(6)

relating to revenueturnever, taxation, earnings per share, dividends and
any other notes that the directors consider necessary for a reasonable
appreciation of the results for the financial period. The irecome
statementstatement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
and balance-sheetstatement of financial position shall be as they appear
in the listed issuer’s full interim report;

46.1 The Exchange has been advised that Section 129C(3) of the
Slempames_ Qlldnlnanee (Gla'p ng) |_elates o Etl}lelannual balalnee
ahy-terim-balance-sheet:[Repealed [date] ]

particulars of any purchase, sale or redemption by the listed issuer or
any of its subsidiaries of its listed securities during the relevant period,
or an appropriate negative statement;

a commentarybusiness-review covering the following:

(@) a fair review of the development of the business of the listed
issuer and its subsidiaries during the financial period and of their
financial position at the end of the period,

(b) details of important events affecting the listed issuer and its
subsidiaries which have occurred since the end of the financial
period; and

(¢) anindication of likely future developments in the business of the
listed issuer and its subsidiaries, including the listed issuer’s
prospects for the current financial year; or

where there have been no material changes in respect of such matters
since the publication of the latest annual report, an appropriate negative
statement in that regard;

a statement as to whether the listed issuer meets the code provisions
set out in the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix 14.
The listed issuer must also disclose any deviations from the code
provisions and give considered reasons for such deviations. To the
extent that it is reasonable and appropriate, such information may be
given by reference to the Corporate Governance Report in the
immediately preceding annual report, and summarising any changes
since that annual report. Any such references must be clear and
unambiguous;

any supplementary information which is necessary for a reasonable
appreciation of the results for the six month period;

a statement as to whether or not the interim results have been reviewed
by external auditors or the audit committee of the listed issuer;
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47.

(7)

(8)

©)

(10)

full details of any disagreement by the auditors or the audit committee
with the accounting treatment adopted by the listed issuer;

where the accounting information contained in a preliminary interim
results announcement has been audited by the listed issuer’s auditor
and the auditors’ report in the listed issuer’s interim financial
statements is qualified or modified (whether or not it is also qualified),
details of the qualification or modification; and

where there are any significant changes in accounting policies, a
statement teof that fact must be made-; and

46.2 A listed issuer should apply the same accounting policies in its
interim financial statements as are applied in its annual financial
statements, except where the change in accounting policy is
required by an accounting standard which came into effect
during the interim period.

where there are prior period adjustments due to correction of material

errors, a statement of that fact must be made.

Information to accompany listing documents

In those cases where listing is sought for securities of a listed issuer no part of
whose share capital is already listed, listing documents shall, in addition to
those items specified in Part A of Appendix 1, contain:—

1)

(2)

financial statements as set out in paragraph 2;_and

47.1 Where there have been material changes in group structure
during the period covered by the accountants’ report and
thereafter prior to the proposed listing date of a new applicant,
the new applicant should consult with the Exchange at the
earliest opportunity in respect of the contents and presentation of
the cash flow statement in the listing document.

a discussion and analysis of the group’s performance during the period
covered by the accountants’ report covering all those matters set out in
paragraph 32.;-and
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48.

50.

Information to accompany circulars

Subject to rules 11.09, 14.67, 14.69, and 14A.64, the circular shall, in addition
to those items specified in Part B of Appendix 1, contain:—

1)

)

financial statements as set out in paragraph 2; and

48.1 Where there have been material changes in group structure of
the business or company acquired during the period covered by
the accountants’ report, the listed issuer should consult with the
Exchange at the earliest opportunity in respect of the contents
and presentation of the cash flow statement in the circular.

a discussion and analysis of the performance of the business or company
acquired during the period covered by the accountants’ report covering
all those matters set out in paragraph 32.;:-and

Summary financial reports

Summary financial reports of issuers must comply with the disclosure
requirements set out in the Companies (Summary Financial Reports-ef-Listed
Companies) Regulation. An issuer must also disclose the following information
in its summary financial report:—

1)

(2)

particulars of any purchase, sale or redemption by the listed issuer, or
any of its subsidiaries, of its listed securities during the financial year
or an appropriate negative statement; and

a separate Corporate Governance Report prepared by the board on its
corporate governance practices. The report must, as a minimum,
contain the information required under paragraphs G to P of Appendix
14 regarding the accounting period covered by the annual report. To
the extent that it is reasonable and appropriate, this Corporate
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51.

Governance Report may take the form of a summary of the Corporate
Governance Report in the annual report and may also incorporate
information by reference to its annual report. Any such references
must be clear and unambiguous and the summary must not contain
only a cross-reference without any discussion of the matter. The
summary must contain, as a minimum, a narrative statement indicating
overall compliance with and highlighting any deviation from the
Corporate Governance Code in Appendix 14.

Summary interim reports

Summary interim reports of listed issuers shall include, as a minimum, the
following information in respect of the listed issuers:

1)
(2)

3)

4)

()

(6)

(7)

(8)

the information required under paragraphs 46(1) to (910);

details of non-compliance (if any) with rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) and
an explanation of the remedial steps taken by the listed issuer to
address such non-compliance relating to appointment of a sufficient
number of independent non-executive directors and an independent
non-executive director with appropriate professional qualifications, or
accounting or related financial management expertise, respectively;

details of non-compliance with rule 3.21 (if any) and an explanation of
the remedial steps taken Dby the listed issuer to address such
non-compliance relating to establishment of an audit committee;

where the accounting information contained in a summary interim
report has been audited by the listed issuer’s auditors, an opinion from
the auditors as to whether the summary interim report is consistent
with the full interim report from which it is derived;

names of the director(s) who have signed the full interim report on
behalf of the board of directors of the listed issuer;

a statement to the effect that the summary interim report only gives a
summary of the information and particulars contained in the listed
issuer’s full interim report;

a statement as to how an entitled person may obtain free of charge a
copy of the listed issuer’s full interim report from which the summary
interim report is derived; and

a statement as to the manner in which an entitled person may in future
notify the listed issuer of his wishes to receive a copy of a summary
interim report in place of a copy of the full interim report from which
it is derived.
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52.

53.

Recommended additional disclosure

Issuers are encouraged to disclose the following additional commentary on
management discussion and analysis in their interim and annual reports:

(i) efficiency indicators (e.g. return on equity, working capital ratios) for
the last five financial years indicating the bases of computation;

(i) industry specific ratios, if any, for the last five financial years
indicating the bases of computation;

(iii) a discussion of the listed issuer’s purpose, corporate strategy and
principal drivers of performance;

(iv) an overview of trends in the listed issuer’s industry and business;

(vwi) a discussion on the listed issuer’s policies and performance on
community, social, ethical and reputational issues; and

 the listed issuer’s key-selationships wit : |

(vitx)  receipts from, and returns to, shareholders.

Nete:52.1 Issuers should also note the recommended disclosures set out in
paragraphs Q to T of Appendix 14.

Issuers are encouraged to include information set out in Appendix 27 in the
annual report regarding the same period covered in the annual report, or as a
separate report.

Note:53.1 Where the information is included in a separate report, an issuer is
free to report on any period but should consistently report on the
same period so that the information can be comparable. However,
the Exchange encourages an issuer to report regarding the same
period as in the annual report.
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APPENDIXII: REVISED GEM RULES CHAPTER 18

18.01

18.02

Chapter 18
EQUITY SECURITIES
FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Introduction

This Chapter sets out the continuing obligations of a listed issuer with
regard to the disclosure of routine financial information on an annual,
half-yearly and quarterly basis. It also sets out certain recommended
disclosure items on-management discussion and analysis (see rule 18.83)
that listed issuers are encouraged to include in their half-year and annual
reports. These recommended disclosure items are not obligatory, but
merely items relating to good practice which are recommended for
disclosure. Additional requirements, relating to non-routine financial
disclosure, are set out in the following Chapters:

Chapter 7 — Accountants’ Reports and Pro Forma
Financial Information

Chapter 14 — Listing Documents
Chapter 19 — Notifiable Transactions
Chapter 20 — Connected Transactions

Additional disclosure requirements in respect of routine financial
information are set out in the following Chapters, in so far as they relate to
the following issuers:—

Chapter 24 — Overseas issuers
Chapter 25 — PRC issuers
Chapter 31 — Issuers of debt securities

Note: In circumstances where the disclosure requirements of Chapters 24
or 25, as appropriate, are inconsistent with the requirements of this
Chapter, the requirements of Chapters 24 or 25, as appropriate,
shall prevail.

A listed issuer is required to prepare annual aceeuntsfinancial statements,
half-year reports and quarterly reports. The contents, timing and
publication requirements for each such aeeeuntsfinancial statements or
reports are set out in this Chapter.
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18.03

Annual reports
Distribution
The listed issuer must send to:—
(1)  every member of the listed issuer; and
(2)  every other holder of its listed securities,

a copy of either (i) the directors’ report and its annual aeeceuntsfinancial
statements and, where the listed issuer  prepares greup
aceountsconsolidated financial statements, the greup-aceeuntsconsolidated
financial statements, together with a copy of the auditors’ report thereon or
(i) its summary financial report, not less than 21 days before the date of
the listed issuer’s annual general meeting and not more than 3 months after
the date upon which the financial period ended. The Issuer may send a
copy of its summary financial report to a member and a holder of its listed
securities in place of a copy of its annual report and aeeeuntsfinancial
statements, provided that it complies with rule 18.81 and the relevant
provisions set out in sections 341437 to 446 of the Companies Ordinance
and in the Companies (Summary Financial Reports-ef-Listed-Companies)
Regulation or, in the case of overseas issuers, with provisions no less
onerous than the above provisions for listed issuers incorporated in Hong
Kong.

Nothing in this rule shall require the listed issuer to send any of the
documents referred to therein to:—

@ a person of whose address the listed issuer is unaware; or

(b) more than one of the joint holders of any of its listed securities.

Notes: 1 “Group—accountsConsolidated financial statements™, for the
purposes of a Hong Kong listed issuer, has the meaning

ascribed to it under section 124{1)379(2) of the Companies
Ordinance.

2 The directors’  report, auditors’ report, annual
aecountsfinancial statements (including group
aeeountsconsolidated financial statements) and, where
applicable, summary financial report must be in the English
language and must be accompanied by a Chinese translation
or be in the Chinese language accompanied by an English
translation. In respect of overseas members, it shall be
sufficient for the listed issuer to mail an English language
version of either (i) its directors’ report, auditors’ report and
annual aeeeuntsfinancial statements or (ii) its summary
financial report if such documents contain a prominent
statement in both English and Chinese to the effect that a
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18.04

18.05

Chinese translation is available from the listed issuer, on
request.

3 Sections 122429 and 431 of the Companies Ordinance
requires the-annual-accounts-of-the directors of a Hong Kong
listed issuer to lay the issuer’s annual financial statements
before its members at its annual general meeting within the
period of 6 months after the end of the financial year or
accounting reference period to which the annual financial
statements relatewhich-are-laid-before-the-listed-issuer-at-its
ahnual-general-meeting to-be-made-up to-a-datefalling-not

ing. An
overseas issuer (including for such purposes, a PRC issuer)
should comply with the same requirement as a Hong Kong

issuer-must-make-tp-ts—annual-accounts-to-a-date-not-moere
than 6 months before the date of its annual general meeting.

4 The Exchange may at its discretion suspend dealings in or
cancel the listing of the securities of the listed issuer if it falls
into arrears in the issue of its directors’ report and
aceountsfinancial statements. If the listed issuer has
significant interests outside Hong Kong it may apply for an
extension of the 6 month period. However, the attention of a
Hong Kong Hsted issuer is drawn to section 122-{1B)431 of
the Companies Ordinance which requires any extension of the
time limit to be approved by the High-Court of First Instance.

5 [Repealed 1 January 2011]

Accounting standards

Annual aeeeuntsfinancial statements of a listed issuer are required, subject
to rule 18.05 and rule 18.06, to conform with HKFRS, IFRS or CASBE in
the case of a PRC issuer that has adopted CASBE for the preparation of its
annual financial statements.

Note: The issuer must apply one of these bodies of standards consistently
and shall not normally change from one body of standards to the
other unless there are reasonable grounds to justify such change.
All reasons for any such change must be disclosed in the annual
aceountsfinancial statements.

A listed issuer, which is also listed on the New York Stock Exchange or the
Nasdag National Market of the United States of America, may prepare
annual aeeeuntsfinancial statements drawn up in conformity with
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in the United States of America
(US GAAP), subject to the following:—
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18.06

(@D the listed issuer has adopted US GAAP for the purposes of
reporting to shareholders on the New York Stock Exchange or the
Nasdaq National Market of the United States of America;

(2 a listed issuer already listed on the Exchange which subsequently
obtains a listing on the New York Stock Exchange or the Nasdaq
National Market of the United States of America and thereafter
adopts US GAAP in place of the standards referred to in rule 18.04
in the preparation of its annual aceeuntsfinancial statements will be
required to compile a statement of the financial effect of material
differences from the standards referred to in rule 18.04 in the first
annual aceeuntsfinancial statements in which US GAAP is adopted;

(3)  alisted issuer which was permitted to adopt US GAAP on the basis
that it is listed on the New York Stock Exchange or the Nasdaq
National Market of the United States of America but is no longer so
listed, will be required to revert to one of the relevant standards
referred to in rule 18.04 for financial reporting purposes; and

(4)  a listed issuer whose principal activity is property development
and/or investment may not adopt US GAAP for financial reporting
purposes.

Where the Exchange, in exceptional circumstances, allows the annual
accountsfinancial statements of any overseas issuer to be drawn up
otherwise than in conformity with accounting standards referred to in rule
18.04 or with US GAAP in the circumstances set out in rule 18.05, the
Exchange will normally require the annual aceeuntsfinancial statements to
contain a statement of the financial effect of the material differences (if any)
and a summary of any material differences in disclosure (if any) from
either HKFRS or IFRS referred to in rule 18.04.

Information to accompany directors’ report and annual aeeeuntsfinancial statements

18.07

The listed issuer shall include_the disclosures required under the relevant
accounting standards adopted and the information set out in rules
18.0818.07A to 18:4818.47 in its directors’ report and annual

aeeeehtsflnanCIal statements Eaeh—set—ef—ﬁhanetal—statements—presented—m

Unless stated to the contrary the flnanCIaI lnformatlon speC|f|ed in these
rules may be included outside the financial statements and will therefore be
outside the scope of the auditors’ report on the financial statements. The
income—statementstatement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income and balance—sheetstatement of financial position set out in the
financial statements must include at least the information set out in rule
18.50B. Banking companies (meaning banks, restricted licence banks and
deposit-taking companies as defined in the Banking Ordinance) shall, in
addition, comply with the Financial-Bisclosure—byLocathytncorperated
Awuthorized—InstitutionsGuideline _on the Application of the Banking
(Disclosure) Rules as issued by the Hong Kong Monetary Authority.
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Notes: 1

The Exchange may authorise the omission from an annual
report of specified items of information if it considers that
disclosure of such information would be contrary to the
public interest or seriously detrimental to the listed issuer.
The Exchange will only authorise such omission provided it is
satisfied that the omission is not likely to mislead the public
with regard to facts and circumstances, knowledge of which is
essential for the assessment of the securities in question. The
listed issuer or its representatives will be responsible for the
correctness and relevance of the facts on which any
application for such exemption is based.

The annual report and aeeeuntsfinancial statements must
contain, at a prominent position, and in bold type, a statement
about the characteristics of GEM, in the form set out in rule
2.20.

If an accounting estimate reported in prior interim period of
the current financial year is changed during the subsequent
interim period of the same financial year and has a material
effect in that subsequent interim period, the nature and
amount of a change in an accounting estimate that has a
material effect in the current financial year or which is
expected to have a material effect in subsequent periods
should be disclosed. If it is impracticable to quantify the
amount, this fact should be disclosed.

An annual report shall contain the following information

required under other parts of the Listing Rules:

(a) advance to an entity under rule 17.22;

(b)  pledging of shares by the controlling shareholder under
rule 17.23;
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18.07A

(©)

loan agreements with covenants relating to specific

(d)

performance of the controlling shareholder under rule
17.23;

breach of loan agreement by an issuer under rule

(e)

17.23;

financial assistance and quarantees to affiliated

(f)

companies of an issuer under rule 17.24;

provision of information in respect of and by directors,

(@)

supervisors and chief executives under rule 17.50A(1);

for an issuer involving in mining activities, continuing

(h)

disclosure obligations arise under rules 18A.14 to
18A.17, where appropriate;

information of profit quarantee provided by a connected

(i)

person reqgarding the financial performance of the
company or business acquired from the connected
person under rule 20.61;

share option schemes under rules 23.07, 23.08 and

(1)

23.09; and

provision of information in respect of corporate

governance code provisions B.1.5 (remuneration
payable to members of senior management by band)
and C.1.4 (discussion and analysis of group’s
performance) of Appendix 15 or explain reason for
deviation.

In addition, a listed issuer shall include disclosures required under the

following provisions of the Companies Ordinance and subsidiary

legislation:—

(1) in financial statements

(a) Section 383 - Notes to financial statements to contain

information on directors’ emoluments etc.:

(b)  Schedule 4 - Accounting Disclosures relating to:

(i)

Part 1(1) Agaregate amount of authorized loans;

(ii)

Part 1(2) Statement of financial position to be contained

(iii)

in notes to annual consolidated financial statements;

Part 1(3) Subsidiary’s financial statements must contain

particulars of ultimate parent undertaking;
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18.08

18.08A

(iv) Part 2(1) Remuneration of auditor; and

(c) Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Requlation; and

(2) in directors’ report

(a)  Section 390 - Contents of directors’ report: general;

(b)  Section 470 - Permitted indemnity provision to be disclosed
in directors’ report;

(c)  Section 543 - Disclosure of management contract;

(d)  Schedule 5 - Content of Directors’ Report: Business Review;
and

(e) Companies (Directors’ Report) Requlation.

Notes: 1 Directors must prepare the directors’ report which complies
with section 388 of the Companies Ordinance and the
directors’ report must be approved and signed, which
complies with section 391 of the Companies Ordinance.

2 Section 390(3)(b) of the Companies Ordinance requires a
company to disclose the name(s) of the director(s) of its
subsidiaries. Notwithstanding the disclosure provisions in
sub-paragraph 2(a) above, a listed issuer not incorporated in
Hong Kong is not required to disclose the name(s) of its
subsidiaries’ director(s).

listocl_i hall_include_in_its_financial I :

Reled [date]

In each annual report and half-year report published during at least the first
2 full financial years after listing, a statement by the directors as to the
issuer’s achievement of its business objectives as stated in its listing
document at the time of listing under rule 14.19. The discussion in the
statement should include a balanced and concise analysis of the level of
achievement of the business objectives in terms of both qualitative and
quantitative financial and non-financial information. There should be a
description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the company and
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a commentary on the directors’ approach to them, together with an
explanation of any material differences between the disclosure in the listing
document and actual business progress in the relevant period (including as
to the use of proceeds as indicated in the listing document).

Notes:

1 For general guidance, issuers may include information such as:

(@) significant developments by key business segments;

(b) trends, internal and external environmental and industry
factors affecting performance or achievement of the
objectives;

(c) the principal risks and uncertainties facing the issuer or its
group, including strategic, operational and financial risks;
and

(d) the key performance indicators used by the directors to
measure performance in achieving the issuer’s objectives.

2 Key performance indicators are factors by reference to which the
development, performance or position of the business can be
measured effectively. For the purposes of rule 18.08A these rules
issuers should determine and disclose their own key performance
indicators which should be of a quantitative nature so that the level
of achievement of objectives can be quantified. Such quantitative
standards may include, for example:

(@) customer retention and satisfaction

(b) capital adequacy and expenditure

(c) store portfolio changes

(d) reserve replacement costs

(e) equipment utilisation and capacity

() loan loss

(g) asset quality

(h) expected return on sales

(i)  sales volume per square foot of store space, etc.

3 The issuer should use, where appropriate, a tabular format of

presentation with a recitation of the business objectives (as stated
in its listing document) on one side and the directors’ comments
about level of achievement on the other.
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18.08B

18.09

18.10

18.11

18.12

An issuer shall include in its annual report a statement of sufficiency of
public float with information as required under rule 17.38A.

1) In relation to connected transactions (including continuing
connected transactions) that are not exempt from annual reporting
requirement in Chapter 20, particulars of the transactions pursuant
to rule 20.69.

(2)  Where a listed issuer includes in its annual report particulars of a
related party transaction or continuing related party transaction (as
the case may be) in accordance with applicable accounting
standards adopted for the preparation of its annual financial
statements, a statement as to whether or not the transaction falls
under the definition of *“connected transaction” or *“continuing
connected transaction” (as the case may be) in Chapter 20. The
listed issuer must also confirm whether or not it has complied with
the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 20.

A statement showing:—

(1)  the name of every subsidiary, its principal country of operation, its
country of incorporation or other establishment and the kind of
legal entity it is registered as (for the purposes of the relevant
jurisdiction);

(2) particulars of the issued share capital and debt securities of every
subsidiary; and

(3)  the nature of the business of every subsidiary,

provided that if, in the opinion of the directors of the listed issuer, the
number of them is such that compliance with this rule would result in
particulars of excessive length being given, compliance with this rule shall
not be required except in the case of subsidiaries carrying on a business the
results of the carrying on of which, in the opinion of the directors,
materially affected the amount of the profit or loss of the group or the
amount of the assets of the group.

Details of the classes and numbers of any convertible securities, options,
warrants or similar rights issued or granted by the listed issuer or any of its
subsidiaries during the financial year, together with the consideration
received by the listed issuer or any of its subsidiaries therefor.

Particulars of any exercise made during the financial year of any
conversion or subscription rights under any convertible securities, options,
warrants or similar rights issued or granted at any time by the listed issuer
or any of its subsidiaries.
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18.13

18.14

18.15

Particulars of any redemption or purchase or cancellation by the listed
issuer or any of its subsidiaries of its redeemable securities and the amount
of such securities outstanding after any such redemption or purchase or
cancellation has been made.

Particulars of any purchase, sale or redemption by the listed issuer, or any
of its subsidiaries, of its listed securities during the financial year (analysed
on a monthly basis), or an appropriate negative statement. Such statement
must include the aggregate price paid or received by the listed issuer for
such purchases, sales or redemptions and should distinguish between those
securities purchased or sold:—

1) on the Exchange;

(2)  onanother stock exchange;
(3) by private arrangement; and
4) by way of a general offer; and

any such statement must also distinguish between those listed securities
which are purchased by the listed issuer (separately distinguishing those
shares which are cancelled and those which are held as treasury stock, if
applicable) and those which are purchased by a subsidiary of the listed
issuer. The directors’ report shall contain references to the purchases made
during the year and the directors’ reasons for making such purchases (see
rule 13.13(2)).

(1)  Subject to rule 18.15(2), a statement as at the end of the relevant
financial year showing the interests and short positions of each
director and chief executive of the listed issuer in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the listed issuer or any
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance):

(@) as recorded in the register required to be kept under section
352 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance; or

(b) as otherwise notified to the listed issuer and the Exchange
pursuant to the required standard of dealings by directors of
listed issuers as referred to in rule 5.46 (which for purposes of
this sub-paragraph shall be deemed to apply to the PRC
issuer’s supervisors to the same extent as it applies to

directors); or

(c) if there is no such interests or short positions, a statement of
that fact,

provided that the Exchange may agree, in its sole discretion, that
compliance with this subparagraph may be modified or waived in
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18.16

18.17

(2)

respect of any associated corporation if, in the opinion of the
Exchange, the number of associated corporations in respect of
which each director and chief executive is taken or deemed to have
an interest under Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance is
such that compliance with this sub-paragraph would result in
particulars being given which are not material in the context of the
group and are of excessive length.

The information required to be included by virtue of rule 18.15(1)
must specify the company in which interests or short positions are
held, the class to which those securities belong and the number of
such securities held, but need not disclose:

(@) the interests of a director or a chief executive officer in the
shares of the listed issuer or any of its subsidiaries if such
interest is held solely in a non-beneficial capacity and is for
the purpose of holding the requisite qualifying shares; or

(b) the non-beneficial interests of directors or chief executive
officers in the shares of any subsidiary of the listed issuer in
so far as that interest comprises the holding of shares subject
to the terms of a written, valid and legally enforceable
declaration of trust in favour of the parent company of that
subsidiary or the listed issuer and such interest is held solely
for the purpose of ensuring that the relevant subsidiary has
more than one member.

Note: Where interests in securities arising from the holding of such
securities as qualifying shares are not disclosed pursuant to
the exception provided in this paragraph, a general statement
should nevertheless be made to indicate that the directors
hold qualifying shares.

A statement as at the end of the relevant financial year, showing the

interests or short positions of every person, other than a director or chief

executive of the listed issuer, in the shares and underlying shares of the

listed issuer as recorded in the register required to be kept under section

336 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance, or if there is no such interests
or short positions recorded in the register, a statement of that fact.

Notes: 1 For the purposes of rules 18.15 and 18.16, particulars should

be given of the extent of any duplication which occurs.

2 In the case of a PRC issuer, references to director or chief
executive in rules 18.15 and 18.16 inclusive shall also mean
and include supervisors.

Statements disclosing interests and short positions in shares, underlying

shares and debentures have to separately refer to three categories of

persons, namely, directors and chief executives, substantial shareholders

and other persons who are required to disclose their interests. Such
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18.17A

statements should describe the capacity in which such interests and short
positions are held and the nature of such interests and short positions as
disclosed in the prescribed forms required to be used, when giving notice
pursuant to sections 324 and 347 of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance. Where interests or short positions are attributable on account of
holdings through corporations that are not wholly-owned by the person
making disclosure, the percentage interests held by such person in such
corporation should be disclosed.

For directors and chief executives, the statements should show details of
the following matters as recorded in the register required to be kept under
section 352 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance:

(1)  aggregate long position in shares and (in respect of positions held
pursuant to equity derivatives) underlying shares and in debentures
of the issuer and its associated corporation(s) showing separately
for each entity:

(@) interests in shares (other than pursuant to equity derivatives
such as share options, warrants to subscribe or convertible
bonds);

(b) interests in debentures; and

(c) interests under equity derivatives showing separately for
listed and unlisted equity derivatives, interests in underlying
shares of the entity pursuant to:

(i) physically settled equity derivatives;
(if)  cash settled equity derivatives;
(iii) other equity derivatives.

Notes:

(1) In the case of issuers and associated corporations, the
statements should include the percentage which the aggregate
long position in shares represents to the issued voting shares

capital-of the issuer or associated corporation.

(2) A long position arises where a person is a party to an equity
derivative, by virtue of which the person:

(1)  has aright to take the underlying shares;
(if) is under an obligation to take the underlying shares;

(ili) has a right to receive money if the price of the
underlying shares increases; or
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(2)

3)

(iv) has a right to avoid or reduce a loss if the price of the
underlying shares increases.

For (c)(i) above, in respect of options granted to directors or
chief executives pursuant to share option schemes under
Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules, the statements should
show such details as are required to be disclosed under Rule
23.07(1) of the GEM Listing Rules.

aggregate short position in shares and (in respect of positions held
pursuant to, equity derivatives) underlying shares and in debentures
of the issuer and its associated corporation(s) showing separately
for each entity:

(@)

(b)

short positions in respect of shares arising under a stock
borrowing and lending agreement; and

short positions under equity derivatives showing separately
for listed and unlisted equity derivatives, interests in
underlying shares of the entity pursuant to:
(i)  physically settled equity derivatives;

(if)  cash settled equity derivatives; and

(iii) other equity derivatives.

Notes:

1)

2)

In the case of issuers or associated corporations, the
statements should include the percentage which the aggregate
short position in shares represents to the issued voting shares
capital of the issuer or associated corporation.

A short position arises:

(i) where the person is the borrower of shares under a
securities borrowing and lending agreement, or has an
obligation to deliver the underlying shares to another
person who has lent shares;

(i) where the person is the holder, writer or issuer of any
equity derivatives, by virtue of which the person —

(@) has a right to require another person to take the
underlying shares of the equity derivatives;
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18.17B

(b) is under an obligation to deliver the underlying
shares of the equity derivatives to another person;

(c) has a right to receive from another person money
if the price of the underlying shares declines; or

(d) has a right to avoid a loss if the price of the
underlying shares declines.

For substantial shareholders, the statements should show details of the
following matters as recorded in the register required to be kept under
section 336 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance:

1)

aggregate long position in the shares and (in respect of positions
held pursuant to equity derivatives) underlying shares of the issuer
showing separately:

(@)

(b)

interests in shares (other than pursuant to equity derivatives
such as share options, warrants to subscribe or convertible
bonds); and

interests under equity derivatives showing separately for
listed and unlisted equity derivatives, interests in underlying
shares of the entity pursuant to:

(i) physically settled equity derivatives; and

(if)  cash settled equity derivatives.

Notes:

(1)

@)

The statements should include the percentage which the
aggregate long position in shares represents to the issued

voting shares eapital of the issuer.

A long position arises where a person is a party to an equity
derivative, by virtue of which the person:

(i) has aright to take the underlying shares;
(it) is under an obligation to take the underlying shares;

(ili) has a right to receive money if the price of the
underlying shares increases; or

(iv) has a right to avoid or reduce a loss if the price of the
underlying shares increases.
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(3) For (b)(i) above, in respect of options granted to substantial
shareholders pursuant to share option schemes under
Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules, the statements should
show such details as are required to be disclosed under Rule
23.07(1) of the GEM Listing Rules.

(2)  aggregate short position in shares and (in respect of positions held
pursuant to equity derivatives) underlying shares of the issuer
showing separately:

(@) short positions in respect of shares arising under a stock
borrowing and lending agreement; and

(b) short positions under equity derivatives showing separately
for listed and unlisted equity derivatives, interests in
underlying shares of the entity pursuant to:

(i) physically settled equity derivatives; and
(if)  cash settled equity derivatives.
Notes:

(1) The statements should include the percentage which the
aggregate short position in shares represents to the issued

voting shares-capital of the issuer.

(2) Ashort position arises:

(i) where the person is the borrower of shares under a
securities borrowing and lending agreement, or has an
obligation to deliver the underlying shares to another
person who has lent shares;

(i) where the person is the holder, writer or issuer of any
equity derivatives, by virtue of which the person —

(@) has a right to require another person to take the
underlying shares of the equity derivatives;

(b) is under an obligation to deliver the underlying
shares of the equity derivatives to another person;

(c) has a right to receive from another person money
if the price of the underlying shares declines; or

(d) has a right to avoid a loss if the price of the
underlying shares declines.

18.17C For other persons whose interests are recorded (or, in the case of a new
listing, are required to be recorded) in the register required to be kept under
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18.18

18.19

18.20

18.21

18.22

18.23

section 336 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance, the statements should
show details of the same matters as are required to be disclosed in the case
of a substantial shareholder pursuant to Rule 18.17B, except that note (3) to
Rule 18.17B(1) does not apply.

In the event of trading results shown by the aeeeuntsfinancial statements
for the period under review differing materially from any published
forecast made by the listed issuer, an explanation for the difference.

A statement in the accounting policies section of the aeeeuntsfinancial
statements indicating which accounting body’s generally accepted
accounting principles and standards have been followed in the preparation
of the aceeuntsfinancial statements.

A statement as to the reasons for any significant departure from accounting
standards adopted by the listed issuer for the preparation of its annual
financial statements.

Note: In this regard, refer to rules 18.04 to 18.06.

Except where the listed issuer is a banking company, a statement as at the
end of the financial year showing, firstly, bank loans and overdrafts and,
secondly, other borrowings of the group, the aggregate amounts
repayable:—

(1)  ondemand or within a period not exceeding 1 year;

(2)  within a period of more than 1 year but not exceeding 2 years;

(3)  within a period of more than 2 years but not exceeding 5 years; and

(4)  within a period of more than 5 years.

eapi&ahsed—by—tlwg%ew%ﬂng—m}e—yeaﬁ[Repealed [date]]

Where any of the percentage ratios (as defined under rule 19.04(9)) of any
properties held for development and/or sale or for investment purposes
held by the group exceeds 5%, the following information:

@) in the case of property held for development and/or sale:—

(@) an address sufficient to identify the property, which generally
must include the postal address, lot number and such further
designation as is registered with the appropriate government
authorities in the jurisdiction in which the property is located;

(b) if in the course of construction, the stage of completion as at
the date of the annual report and aeeeuntsfinancial statements;
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18.24

18.24A

18.25

@)

3)

(c) ifin the course of construction, the expected completion date;

(d) the existing use (e.g. shops, offices, factories, residential,
etc.);

(e) the site and gross floor area of the property; and
(F)  the percentage interest in the property.
in the case of property held for investment:—

(@) an address sufficient to identify the property, which generally
must include the postal address, lot number and such further
designation as is registered with the appropriate government
authorities in the jurisdiction in which the property is located,;

(b) the existing use (e.g. shops, offices, factories, residential, etc.);
and

(c) whether the property is held on short lease, medium term
lease or long lease or, if situated outside Hong Kong, is
freehold; and

such other details as may be prescribed or requested from time to
time by the Exchange, provided that if, in the opinion of the
directors of the listed issuer, the number of the properties is such
that compliance with this rule would result in particulars of
excessive length being given, compliance with this rule shall not be
required except in the case of properties which in the opinion of the
directors are material.

Statements as to:—

1)

()

the unexpired period of any service contract, which is not
determinable by the employer within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation), of any director
proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting
or, if there are no such service contracts, a statement of that fact;
and

Note: In the case of a PRC issuer, reference to director under this
paragraph shall also mean and include supervisor.

the length of the term of appointment of every non-executive
director.

Particulars of any service contracts that are exempt under rule 17.91.

Particulars (nature and extent) of any transaction, arrangement or contract
of significance subsisting during or at the end of the financial year in which

91



18.26

18.27

18.28

a director of the listed issuer or an entity connected with a director is or
was materially interested, either directly or indirectly, or, if there has been
no such transaction, arrangement or contract, a statement of that fact.

Notes: 1 In the case of a PRC issuer, reference to director under this
paragraph shall also mean and include supervisor.

12 A ““transaction, arrangement or contract of significance™ is
one where any of the percentage ratios (as defined under
19.04(9)) of the transaction is 1% or more.

23 An interest in a transaction, er-arrangement or contract is
material for the purposes of disclosure in the
accountsfinancial statements if the omission of information
relating to that transaction, arrangement or contract er
arrangement-could have changed or influenced the judgement
or decision of a person relying on the relevant information.

4 A reference to an entity connected with a director has the
meaning given by section 486 of the Companies Ordinance.

Particulars of any contract of significance between the listed issuer, or one
of its subsidiary companies, and a controlling shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries.

Note: For the purposes of this rule and rule 18.27, the words ““controlling
shareholder” mean any shareholder entitled to exercise, or control
the exercise of, 30 per cent (or such other amount as may from time
to time be specified in the Takeovers Code as being the level for
triggering a mandatory general offer) or more of the voting power
at general meetings of the listed issuer or one which is in a position
to control the composition of a majority of the board of directors of
the listed issuer.

Particulars of any contract of significance for the provision of services to
the listed issuer or any of its subsidiaries by a controlling shareholder or
any of its subsidiaries.

Note: See Note 42 to rule 18.25 and the Note to rule 18.26.

Information concerning the emoluments, pension and any compensation
arrangements for the directors and past directors of the listed issuer-as—s

fact-incorporated). The information provided pursuant to this rule must
include details of directors’ and past directors’ emoluments, by name as
follows:—

@) the directors’ fees for such financial year;

(2)  the directors’ basic salaries, housing allowances, other allowances
and benefits in kind;
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3)

4)

()

(6)

(7)

Notes:

the contributions to pension schemes for directors or past directors
for such financial year;

the bonuses paid or receivable by directors which are discretionary
or are based on the listed issuer’s, the group’s or any member of the
group’s performance (excluding amounts disclosed in (5) and (6)
below) for such financial year;

the amounts paid during such financial year or receivable by
directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the listed issuer;

the compensation paid during such financial year or receivable by
directors or past directors for the loss of office as a director of any
member of the group or of any other office in connection with the
management of the affairs of any member of the group
distinguishing between contractual and other payments (excluding
amounts disclosed in (2) to (5) above); and

information on share options held by directors as required under
rule 23.07.

1 In the case of a PRC issuer, references to directors or past
directors in this rule shall also mean and include past and
present supervisors (as appropriate).

2 Sub-paragraphs (2) to (6) of this rule require an analysis of
the amounts to be disclosed in the issuer’s aceeuntsfinancial
statements under the provisions of section 3611)383(1)(a) to
(c) inclusive of the Companies Ordinance.

3 Where a director is contractually entitled to bonus payments
which are fixed in amount such payments are more in the
nature of basic salary and accordingly must be disclosed
under sub-paragraph (2) of this rule.

4 In addition to discretionary bonus payments, all bonus
payments to which a director is contractually entitled and
which are not fixed in amount, together with the basis upon
which they are determined, must be disclosed under
sub-paragraph (4) of this rule.

5  Where the information provided under sub-paragraphs (1) to
(5) of this rule does not disclose the full compensation of a
director for the financial year, any outstanding element of
compensation must also be disclosed.

6 References to ““director’ in this rule include a chief executive
who is not a director.
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18.29

18.29A

18.30

A listed issuer shall include particulars of any arrangement under which a
director has waived or agreed to waive any emoluments.

Note: Where a director has agreed to waive future emoluments,
particulars of such waiver must be given together with those
relating to emoluments which accrued during the past financial
year. This applies in respect to emoluments from the listed issuer or
any of its subsidiaries or other person.

The following information in respect of the group’s emolument policy:

(1)  a general description of the emolument policy and any long-term
incentive schemes of the group; and

(2) the basis of determining the emolument payable to its directors.

Additional information in respect of those 5 individuals whose emoluments
(excluding amounts paid or payable by way of commissions on sales
generated by the individual) were the highest in the listed issuer or the
group for the year and details of the increase of each of their emoluments.
Where all 5 of these individuals are directors and the information required
by this rule has been disclosed in the emoluments of directors, this must be
stated and no additional disclosure is required. Where the details of one or
more of the individuals whose emoluments were the highest have not been
included in the emoluments of directors, the following information must be
disclosed:—

(1) the aggregate of basic salaries, housing allowances, other
allowances and benefits in kind for such financial year;

(2)  the aggregate of contributions to pension schemes for the financial
year;

(3)  the aggregate of bonuses paid or receivable which are discretionary
or are based on the issuer’s, the group’s or any member of the
group’s performance (excluding amounts disclosed in (4) and (5)
below) for the financial year;

(4)  the aggregate of amounts paid during the financial year or
receivable as an inducement to join or upon joining the issuer or the

group,

(5) the aggregate of compensation paid during such financial year or
receivable for the loss of any office in connection with the
management of the affairs of any member of the group
distinguishing between contractual payments and other payments
(excluding amounts disclosed in (1) to (3) above); and

(6) an analysis showing the number of individuals whose remuneration

(being amounts paid under (1) to (5) above) fell within bands from
HK$nil up to HK$1,000,000 or into higher bands (where the higher
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18.31

18.32

18.33

limit of the band is an exact multiple of HK$500,000 and the range
of the band is HK$499,999).

Notes: 1 It is not necessary to disclose the identity of the highest paid

individuals, unless any of them are directors of the issuer.

2 The purpose of these disclosures is to provide shareholders
with an indication of the fixed management costs of groups
and accordingly employees who are higher paid by virtue of
sales commissions are to be omitted from this disclosure.

Particulars of any arrangement under which a shareholder has waived or
agreed to waive any dividends.

Note: Where a shareholder has agreed to waive future dividends,

particulars of such waiver(s) must be given together with those
relating to dividends which were payable during the past financial
year. Waivers of dividends of minor amount may be disregarded
provided that some payment has been made on each share during
the relevant calendar year.

In the case of any issue for cash of equity securities made otherwise than to
the listed issuer’s shareholders in proportion to their shareholdings and
which has not been specifically authorized by the listed issuer’s
shareholders:—

1)
(2)
3)

4)

()

(6)

()

(8)

the reasons for making the issue;
the classes of equity securities issued;

as regards each class of equity securities, the number issued, their
aggregate nominal value, if any;

the issue price of each security;

the net price to the listed issuer of each security;

the names of the allottees, if less than 6 in number, and, in the case
of 6 or more allottees, details of such allottees in accordance with

rule 10.12(4);

the market price of the securities concerned on a named date, being
the date on which the terms of the issue were fixed; and

the use of the proceeds.

A summary, in the form of a comparative table, of the published results and
of the assets and liabilities of the group for the last 5 financial years. Where
the published results and statement of assets and liabilities have not been
prepared on a consistent basis this must be explained in the summary.
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18.34

18.35

An issuer shall include Fthe following information in addition to the
information required under the relevant accounting standard in respect of

pension schemes:

(21) a brief outline of how contributions are calculated or benefits
funded,

(42) in the case of defined contribution schemes, details of whether
forfeited contributions (by employers on behalf of employees who
leave the scheme prior to vesting fully in such contributions) may
be used by the employer to reduce the existing level of
contributions and if so, the amounts so utilised in the course of the
year and available at the-balance-sheet date of statement of financial

position for such use; and

(53) in the case of defined benefit plans, an outline of the results of the
most recent formal independent actuarial valuation (which should
be as at a date not earlier than 3 years prior to the date to which the
listed issuer’s aceeuntsfinancial statements are drawn up) or later
formal independent review of the scheme on an ongoing basis. This
should include disclosure of:—

(@ the name and qualifications of the actuary, the actuarial
method used and a brief description of the main actuarial
assumptions;

(b) the market value of the scheme assets at the date of their
valuation or review (unless the assets are administered by an
independent trustee in which case this information may be
omitted);

(c) the level of funding expressed in percentage terms; and

(d) comments on any material surplus or deficiency (including
quantification of the deficiency) indicated by (c) above.

If the issuer has caused any property interests to be valued (under Chapter
8) or has caused any valuation to be made of any other tangible assets and
included such a valuation in the prospectus relating to the initial public
offer of shares in the issuer and those assets are not stated at such valuation
(or at subsequent valuation) in its first annual aceeuntsfinancial statements
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18.36

18.37

18.37A

published after listing, then the issuer is required to disclose the following
additional information in its first annual report published after listing:—

(1)  the amount of such valuation of those properties or other tangible
assets as included in the prospectus; and

(2 the additional depreciation (if any) that would be charged against
the income—statementstatement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive _income had those assets been stated at such

valuation (or subsequent valuation).

A statement of the reserves available for distribution to shareholders by the
listed issuer (as calculated under the provisions of sections 798291, 297
and 299 of the Companies Ordinance) as at the-balanee-sheet date of its
statement of financial position.

NTO 1on-ra ra a Q Q A N

the-financial-statements- [Repeaied [date]]
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purpoese-ofrule-18-37A-above-only-H:—[Repealed [date]]

18.37B

or-otherwise-with-the-disclosureprovisions—of-the-listing—+ules).[Repealed
[date]]

18.39 Brief biographical details in respect of the directors and senior managers of
the listed issuer. Such details will include name, age, positions held with
the listed issuer and other members of the listed issuer’s group, length of
service with the listed issuer and the group and such other information
(which may include business experience) of which shareholders should be
aware, pertaining to the ability or integrity of such persons. Where any of
the directors or senior managers are related, having with any other director
or senior manager any one of the relationships set out below, that fact
should be stated. The relationships are spouse; any person cohabiting with
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18.39A

18.39B

18.40

the director or senior manager as a spouse; and any relative meaning a
child or step-child regardless of age, a parent or step-parent, a brother,
sister, step-brother or step-sister, a mother-in-law, a father-in-law,
son-in-law, daughter-in-law, brother-in-law or sister-in-law. Where any
director of the listed issuer is a director or employee of a company which
has an interest in the share capital of the listed issuer which would fall to be
disclosed to the listed issuer under the provisions in Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance, that fact shall be stated.

It is the responsibility of the directors of the listed issuer to determine
which individual or individuals constitute senior management. Senior
management may include directors of subsidiaries; heads of divisions,
departments or other operating units within the group as, in the opinion of
the listed issuer’s directors, is appropriate.

Note: In the case of a PRC issuer, references to directors and senior
managers in this paragraph shall also mean and include

SUpervisors.

In relation to an independent non-executive director appointed by a listed
issuer during the financial year, the listed issuer shall disclose the reasons
why such an independent nonexecutive director was and is considered to be
independent if he has failed to meet any of the independence guidelines set
out in rule 5.009.

A listed issuer must confirm whether it has received from each of its
independent non-executive directors an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to rule 5.09 and whether it still considers the
independent non-executive directors to be independent.

Additional information in respect of major customers (meaning, other than
in relation to consumer goods or services, the ultimate customer, and in
relation to consumer goods or services the ultimate wholesaler or retailer as
the case may be) and suppliers (meaning the ultimate supplier of items
which are not of a capital nature) as follows:—

(1) a statement of the percentage of purchases attributable to the
group’s largest supplier;

(2) a statement of the percentage of purchases attributable to the
group’s 5 largest suppliers combined,;

(3) a statement of the percentage of turnrever-or-salesrevenue from sales
of goods or rendering of services attributable to the group’s largest
customer;

(4)  astatement of the percentage of turnever-orsatesrevenue from sales
of goods or rendering of services attributable to the group’s 5
largest customers combined:;
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()

(6)

(7)

a statement of the interests of any of the directors; their close
associates; or any shareholder (which to the knowledge of the
directors own more than 5% of the_number of issued shares of the
listed issuers-share-capital) in the suppliers or customers disclosed
under (1) to (4) above or if there are no such interests a statement to
that effect;

in the event that the percentage which would fall to be disclosed
under (2) above is less than 30, a statement of that fact shall be
given and the information required in (1), (2) and (5) (in respect of
suppliers) may be omitted; and

in the event that the percentage which would fall to be disclosed
under (4) above is less than 30, a statement of that fact shall be
given and the information required in (3), (4) and (5) (in respect of
customers) may be omitted.

Notes: 1 Rule 18.40 applies to all listed issuers whose
businesses comprise, in whole or in part, the supply of
goods or services of whatever nature, and in the case
of service references to customers includes the clients
of such listed issuers.

2 In relation to consumer goods, references to
customers are to the ultimate wholesaler or retailer,
except when the listed issuer’s business incorporates
the wholesaling or retailing operation. In all other
cases references to customers are to ultimate
customer.

3 References to suppliers are primarily to those who
provide goods or services which are specific to a listed
issuer’s business and which are required on a regular
basis to enable the listed issuer to continue to supply
or service its customers. Suppliers of goods and
services which are freely available from a range of
suppliers at similar prices or which are otherwise
freely available (such as utilities) are excluded. In
particular, it is recognised that an obligation on listed
issuers who are providers of financial services (such
as banks and insurance companies) to give
information about suppliers would be of limited or no
value, and there is therefore no disclosure
requirement in respect of suppliers to such listed
issuers.

4 The Exchange must be consulted if there is any doubt
about the application of rule 18.40.
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18.41

A-separate-statement-contalning—a discussion and analysis of the group’s
performance during the year and the material factors underlying its results

and financial position. It should emphasise trends and identify significant
events or transactions during the year under review. As a minimum the
directors of the listed issuer should comment on the following:—

1)

@)

3)

4)

()

(6)

7)

(8)
©)

the group’s liquidity and financial resources. This may include
comments on the level of borrowings at the end of the period under
review, the seasonality of borrowing requirements, and the maturity
profile of borrowings and committed borrowing facilities.
Reference may also be made to the funding requirements for capital
expenditure commitments and authorisations;

the capital structure of the group in terms of maturity profile of debt,

type of capital instruments used, currency and interest rate structure.
The discussion may cover funding and treasury policies and
objectives in terms of the manner in which treasury activities are
controlled; the currencies in which borrowings are made and in
which cash and cash equivalents are held; the extent to which
borrowings are at fixed interest rates; the use of financial
instruments for hedging purposes; and the extent to which foreign
currency net investments are hedged by currency borrowings and
other hedging instruments;

the state of the group’s order book (where applicable) and prospects
for new business including new products and services introduced or
announced,

significant investments held, their performance during the year and
their future prospects;

details of material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries ané

affiliated-companies-, associates and joint ventures in the course of
the year;

comments on segmental information-given—in-the-directors™report
and aeceounts. This may cover changes in the industry segment,

developments within the segment and their effect on the results of
that segment. It may also include changes in the market conditions,
new products and services introduced or announced and their
impact on the group’s performance and changes in turreverrevenue
and margins;

where applicable, details of the number and remuneration of
employees, remuneration policies, bonus and share option schemes
and training schemes;

details of charges on group assets;

details of future plans for material investments or capital assets and
their expected sources of funding in the coming year;
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18.42

18.43

18.44

(10)

(11)

(12)

gearing ratio;

exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates and any related hedges;

and

details of contingent liabilities, if any.

Notes: 1

It is the responsibility of the directors of the listed
issuer to determine what investment or capital asset is
material in the context of the listed issuer’s business,
operations and financial performance. The materiality
of investment or capital asset varies from one listed
issuer to another according to its financial
performance, assets and capitalisation, the nature of
its operations and other factors. An event that is
“material” in the context of a smaller listed issuer’s
business and affairs is often not material to a larger
listed issuer. The directors of the listed issuer are in
the best position to determine materiality. The
Exchange recognises that decisions on disclosure
require careful subjective judgements, and encourages
listed issuers to consult the Exchange when in doubt
as to whether disclosure should be made.

The basis on which the gearing ratio is computed
should be disclosed.

If the above information required in this rule has been

disclosed in a business review in the directors’ report
as set out in rule 18.07A, no additional disclosure is

required.

A statement of any change in auditors of the listed issuer in any of the
preceding 3 years.

[Repealed 1 July 2008]

The following information in respect of an issuer:-

1)

(2)

the full name and professional qualifications (if any) of:-

@ the company secretary of the issuer; and

(b)  the compliance officer of the issuer appointed pursuant to
rule 5.19; and

a separate Corporate Governance Report prepared by the board on

its corporate
contain the
Appendix 15

governance practices. The report must, as a minimum,
information required under paragraphs G to P of
regarding the accounting period covered by the annual
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18.46

18.47

18.48

18.48A

18.49

report. To the extent that it is reasonable and appropriate, the issuer
may incorporate by reference information in its annual report into
the Corporate Governance Report. Any such references must be
clear and unambiguous and the Corporate Governance Report must
not contain only a cross-reference without any discussion of the
matter.

Information as to the interests (if any) of the Compliance Adviser and its
directors, employees and close associates, as notified to the issuer pursuant
to rule 6A.32 and all directors and controlling shareholders of the issuer
and their respective close associates as referred to in rule 11.04.

In respect of PRC properties where long term title certificates are not
obtained by the issuer, any property revaluation surplus arising from those
PRC properties must be excluded from the issuer’s annual
aecountsfinancial statements.

If the relevant annual aeeeuntsfinancial statements do not give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs and profit or loss and cash flow of the listed
issuer or group, more detailed and/or additional information must be
provided.

Note: If listed issuers are in doubt as to what more detailed and/or
additional information should be provided, they should apply to the
Exchange for guidance.

i } - [Repealed [date]]

Obligation to publish

A listed issuer must publish (in accordance with the requirements of
Chapter 16) its annual report, in respect of each financial year of the listed
issuer, not later than 3 months after the date upon which the financial year
ended.

Preliminary announcement of results for the financial year
Preliminary

A listed issuer must publish (in accordance with the requirements of
Chapter 16) a preliminary announcement of the results for the financial
year, which has been agreed with its auditors, on the GEM website as soon
as possible, but in any event not later than the time that is 30 minutes
before the earlier of the commencement of the morning trading session or
any pre-opening session on the next business day after approval by or on
behalf of the board of its results. The issuer must publish such results not
later than 3 months after the date upon which the financial year ended.
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Note: The term financial year refers to the period covered by a listed

issuer’s financial statements even where the period is not a
calendar year.

Content of preliminary announcement

The preliminary announcement of results for the financial year must
contain at least the following information in respect of the group:

1)

()

I he_listed_i . banki _the
information in respect of the balance—sheetstatement of financial

position and the income—statementstatement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as set out in rule 18.50B comprising
an—income—statementa statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the financial year, with comparative
figures for the immediately preceding financial year, and balanee
sheetstatement of financial position as at the end of the financial
year, with comparative figures as at the end of the immediately

preceding financial year. A—banking—cempanyshal-comphy—with

rule 18.80 as regards the disclosure requirements for the balance
sheet-and-thcome-statement: The listed issuer must include the notes

relating to turhoverrevenue, taxation, earnings per share, dividends
and any other notes that the directors consider necessary for a
reasonable appreciation of the results for the year. Directors of the
listed issuer must consistent with the information that will be
contained in the annual reports (see rule 18.50A);

Note: Listed issuers are not required to include an audited

Hsted-issuer’s-place-ofincorporation. [Repealed [date]]
a businessreviewcommentary covering the following:

@) a fair review of the development of the business of the listed
issuer and its subsidiaries during the financial year and of
their financial position at the end of the year;

(b)  details of important events affecting the listed issuer and its
subsidiaries which have occurred since the end of the
financial year; and

107



(3)

4)

()

(6)

7)

(8)

©)

(10)

(©) an indication of likely future developments in the business
of the listed issuer and its subsidiaries;

| he_listed.i . tod . ol I E
[Repealed [date]]

particulars of any purchase, sale or redemption by the listed issuer
or any of its subsidiaries, of its listed securities during the financial
year, Or an appropriate negative statement;

any supplementary information which in the opinion of the directors
of the listed issuer is necessary for a reasonable appreciation of the
results for the relevant year;

a statement as to whether the listed issuer meets the code provisions
set out in the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix
15. The listed issuer must also disclose any deviations from the
code provisions and considered reasons for such deviations. To the
extent that it is reasonable and appropriate, such information may
be given by reference to the immediately preceding half-year report
or to the Corporate Governance Report in the immediately
preceding annual report, and summarising any changes since that
report. Any such references must be clear and unambiguous; and

a statement as to whether the annual results have been reviewed by
the audit committee of the listed issuer;

where the auditors’ report on the listed issuer’s annual financial
statements is likely to be qualified or modified (whether or not it is
also likely to be qualified), details of the qualification or
modification pursuant to rule 18.51; and

where there are any significant changes in accounting policies, a
statement teof that fact must be made-; and

Notes: &= A listed issuer should apply the accounting policies
consistently except where the change in accounting
policy is required by an accounting standard which
came into effect during the financial year.

where there are prior period adjustments due to correction of

material errors, a statement of that fact must be made.

Note:2:  The term financial year refers to the period covered by
a listed issuer’s financial statements even where the
period is not a calendar year.
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18.50B

Where, in exceptional circumstances, it becomes necessary to revise the
information contained in the listed issuer’s preliminary announcement of
results in the light of developments arising between the date of publication
of the announcement and the completion of the audit, the listed issuer must
immediately notify the Exchange and publish an announcement to inform
the public. The announcement must provide details of the changes made to
the published preliminary announcement of results including any impact on
the published financial information of the listed issuer and the reasons for
such changes.

Note: The Exchange does not expect there to be any material or
substantial difference between the information contained in the
listed issuer’s preliminary announcement of results and that
contained in its audited results.

preliminary announcements of results for the half-year, preliminary
announcements of results for the financial year, half-year reports and
annual reports of a listed issuer must include the disclosures required under
the relevant accounting standards adopted and contain—at—least the
following information_set out below in respect of the group.—This
information may be included in the notes to the financial statements. In the
case of banking companies, the information on results and financial
position set out in the Guideline on the Application of the Banking
(Disclosure) Rules issued by the Hong Kong Monetary Authority must be
provided in place of that set out in rules 18.50B(1) and 18.50B(2).

(1)  thcome—statementStatement  of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income

& ——turnover;
b . other i ;

(ea) profit (or loss) on sale of avestments-er properties;



(2) Balanece-sheetinformation-as-felowsStatement of financial position,
if applicable:

{a)——TFixed-assets;
{b)———<urrentassets
(@)  {H)—debtors-includingcredit-pelicy-and-ageing analysis of

accounts receivable; and
hat banl ! in-hand:and
{hv)—othercurrentassets;
o liabiliti
B . | debts:and
(b) {H—ageing analysis of accounts payable;
n liabilities):
o I I liabilities:




Note: The ageing analysis should normally be presented on the
basis of the date of the relevant invoice or demand note and
categorised into time-bands based on analysis used by an
issuer’s management to monitor the issuer’s financial
position. The basis on which the ageing analysis is
presented should be disclosed.

(3) Dividends
Rates of dividend paid or proposed on each class of shares (with
particulars of each such class) and amounts absorbed thereby (or an
appropriate negative statement).

2 ing )

Notes: 1 Where the items of information specified in this rule
are unsuited to the listed issuer’s activities,
appropriate adaptations should be made. Where the
requirements of this rule are unsuited to the listed
issuer’s activities or circumstances, the Exchange may
require suitable adaptations to be made.

2 The Exchange may authorise the omission from the
preliminary announcement of any information if it
considers:—

(@) such omission to be necessary or appropriate;
or

(b) disclosure of such information would be

contrary to the public interest or seriously
detrimental to the issuer,
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18.50C

18.51

18.52

18.53

provided that such omission would not be likely
to mislead the public with regard to facts and
circumstances, knowledge of which is essential
for the assessment of the securities in question.

3 The issuer or its representatives will be responsible
for the correctness and relevance of the facts on which
any application for an exemption under Note 2 above
IS based.

heet iate_or in ! he fi il
statements:

Listed issuer must submit a copy of its annual report to the Exchange for
publication on the GEM website as soon as reasonably practicable after the
approval by or on behalf of the board of its audited financial statements and
in any event not more than 3 months after the date upon which the financial
year ended.

In connection with the audit of the issuer’s annual acceuntsfinancial
statements:—

(1)  where the auditors’ report is likely to be qualified, the preliminary
announcement of results must include details of such qualification;
and

(2)  where the auditors’ report is likely to be modified, whether or not it
is also likely to be qualified, details of such modification, together
with a full explanation of the circumstances leading to the
modification, must be included in the preliminary announcement of
results. Where the modifications in the auditors’ report refer to
specific notes to the financial statements, the information in the
financial statements should also be included in the preliminary
announcement.

i } - [Repealed [date]]

Half-year reports
Obligation to prepare and publish
The listed issuer shall prepare, in respect of each of the first 6 months of

each financial year of the listed issuer, either (i) a half-year report, or (ii) a
summary half-year report containing at least the information required by
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18.55

rules 18.55 and 18.82, respectively and publish the same (in accordance
with the requirements of Chapter 16) not later than 45 days after the end of
such period. The listed issuer may send a copy of its summary half-year
report to a member and a holder of its listed securities in place of a copy of
its half-year report, provided that such summary half-year report complies
with the relevant provisions of the Companies (Summary Financial Reports

of Listed-Companies) Regulation governing summary financial reports.

Notes: 1 Newly listed issuers will be required to prepare and publish
the relevant half-year report or summary half-year report
(irrespective of whether the period in question ends on a
date before or after the date on which dealings in the
securities of the listed issuer commenced) where the 45-day
deadline for publishing the report falls after the date on
which dealings in the securities of the listed issuer
commenced. In the event that the results for the period in
question (whether audited or not) have been included in the
prospectus for the purpose of applying for a listing on the
Exchange, there will be no obligation separately to publish
the results.

2 The figures in each half-year report and summary half-year
report are the sole responsibility of the directors and they
must ensure that the accounting policies applied to the
figures are consistent with those applied to annual
accountsfinancial statements. If a change in the financial
year is proposed, the Exchange should be consulted as to
the period or periods to be covered by the half-year reports
or summary half-year reports.

As soon as reasonably practicable after publishing any half-year report and,
where applicable, summary half-year report, the listed issuer must send a
copy of it to the persons specified in rule 18.03.

Note: [Repealed 1 January 2011]

Content of half-year reports

Each half-year report shall contain the disclosures required under the
relevant accounting standards adopted and—at—least the—feHowing

information set out below. in-respect-of-the-group:—

(1) interim f " _which-shalh include. - y
following-components:[Repealed [date]]

ta}——balance sheet-asof the end of the-current-interim period-and
2 ee|npl_a| atﬁ'.“e ba_lalnee sl;leet as-oHthe-end-otthe-immediately
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(2)

3)

(4)

()

[Repealed [date]]

particulars of any purchase, sale or redemption by the listed issuer
or any of its subsidiaries, of its listed securities during the relevant
period, or an appropriate negative statement;

a statement in relation to the accounting period covered by the
half-year report on whether the listed issuer meets the code
provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code contained in
Appendix 15. Where there are any deviations from the code
provisions in the Code, the listed issuer must also give considered
reasons for the deviations from the code provisions, either by:

@) giving considered reasons for each deviation; or

(b)  to the extent that it is reasonable and appropriate, by
referring to the Corporate Governance Report in the
immediately preceding annual report and providing details
of any changes together with considered reasons for any
deviation not reported in that annual report. Any such
references must be clear and unambiguous and the half-year
report must not only contain a cross-reference without any
discussion of the matter;

in respect of the required standard of dealings set out in rules 5.48
to 5.67, a statement in relation to the accounting period covered by
the half-year report as to:

@) whether the listed issuer has adopted a code of conduct
regarding directors’ securities transactions on terms no less
exacting than the required standard of dealings;
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(6)

(7)

(8)
(9)

(b) having made specific enquiry of all directors, whether its
directors have complied with, or whether there has been any
non-compliance with, the required standard of dealings and
its code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions; and

(©) in the event of any non-compliance with the required
standard of dealings, details of such non-compliance and an
explanation of the remedial steps taken by the listed issuer to
address such non-compliance;

details of non-compliance (if any) with rules 5.05(1) and 5.05(2)
and an explanation of the remedial steps taken by the listed issuer to
address such non-compliance relating to appointment of a sufficient
number of independent non-executive directors and an independent
non-executive director with appropriate professional qualifications,
or accounting or related financial management expertise,
respectively; and

details of non-compliance with rule 5.28 (if any) and an explanation
of the remedial steps taken by the listed issuer to address such
non-compliance relating to establishment of an audit committee;

the information set out in rule 18.50B; and

the further information set out in rules 18.56 to 18.64.

Notes: 1 An issuer should comply with the relevant standard on

interim reporting in respect of its half-year reports in
accordance with the requirements under HKFRS, IFRS, US
GAAP or CASBE which is adopted for the preparation of its
annual financial statements.

2 Each half-year report must be reviewed by the issuer’s audit
committee. In the event that the audit committee disagreed
with an accounting treatment which had been adopted in the
preparation of the group’s half-year report, full details of
such disagreement should be disclosed together with a
quantification of the financial effect arising from the
disagreement. Where it is not possible to quantify the effect
of the disagreement, or the effect is not significant, a
statement to this effect should be made.

3 If a change in the financial year is proposed, the Exchange
should be consulted as to the period or periods to be
covered by the half-year reports.



2002-[Repealed [date]]

A listed issuer should apply the same accounting policies in
its interim financial statements as are applied in its annual
financial statements except where the change in accounting
policy is required by an accounting standard which came
into effect during the interim period. Accounting policies
which have been consistently applied and which were
disclosed in the listed issuer’s most recent published audited
financial statements or for a newly listed issuer in its recent
prospectus may be omitted from the half-year reports. Any
significant changes in the accounting policies, including
those required by an accounting standard, should be
disclosed together with the reason for changing in the
accounting policy.

Where the items of information specified in this rule are
unsuited to the listed issuer’s activities, appropriate
adaptations should be made. Where the requirements of this
rule are unsuited to the listed issuer’s activities or
circumstances, the Exchange may require suitable
adaptations to be made.

The Exchange may authorise the omission from an interim
report of specified items of information if it considers:—

(@ such omission to be necessary or appropriate; or

(b) disclosure of such information would be contrary to
the public interest or seriously detrimental to the
issuer,

provided that such omission would not be likely to mislead
the public with regard to facts and circumstances,
knowledge of which is essential for the assessment of the
securities in question.

The issuer or its representatives will be responsible for the
correctness and relevance of the facts on which any
application for an exemption under Note 7 above is based.

Each half-year report must contain, at a prominent position,

and in bold type, a statement about the characteristics of
GEM, in the form set out in rule 2.20.
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18.56

1)

10

A half-year report shall contain the following information

required under other parts of the Listing Rules:

(a) advance to an entity under rule 17.22;

(b) pledging of shares by the controlling shareholder
under rule 17.23;

(c) loan agreements with covenants relating to specific
performance of the controlling shareholder under rule
17.23;

(d) breach of loan agreement by an issuer under rule
17.23;

(e) financial assistance and gquarantees to affiliated
companies of an issuer under rule 17.24;

()  provision of information in respect of and by directors,
supervisors and chief executives under rule 17.50A(1);

(q) for a Mineral Company, continuing disclosure
obligation arises under rule 18A.14; and

(h)  share option schemes under rules 23.07 and 23.08.

Subject to rule 18.56(2), a statement as at the end of the relevant
period showing the interests and short positions of each director and
chief executive of the listed issuer in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the listed issuer or any associated corporation
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance):

(@)

(b)

(©)

as recorded in the register required to be kept under section
352 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance; or

as otherwise notified to the listed issuer and the Exchange
pursuant to the required standard of dealings by directors of
listed issuer as referred to in rule 5.46_(which for purposes
of this sub-paragraph shall be deemed to apply to the PRC
issuer’s supervisors to the same extent as it applies to

directors); or

if there is no such interests and short positions, a statement
of that fact,

provided that the Exchange may agree, in its sole discretion, that
compliance with this subparagraph may be modified or waived in
respect of any associated corporation if, in the opinion of the
Exchange, the number of associated corporations in respect of
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18.58

which each director and chief executive is taken or deemed to have
an interest under Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance is
such that compliance with this sub-paragraph would result in
particulars being given which are not material in the context of the
group and are of excessive length.

(2)  The information required to be included by virtue of rule 18.56(1)
must specify the company in which interests or short positions are
held, the class to which those securities belong and the number of
such securities held, but need not disclose:

(@)

(b)

Note:

the interests of a director or a chief executive officer in the
shares of the listed issuer or any of its subsidiaries if such
interest is held solely in a non-beneficial capacity and is for
the purpose of holding the requisite qualifying shares; or

the non-beneficial interests of directors or chief executive
officers in the shares of any subsidiary of the listed issuer in
so far as that interest comprises the holding of shares subject
to the terms of a written, valid and legally enforceable
declaration of trust in favour of the parent company of that
subsidiary or the listed issuer and such interest is held solely
for the purpose of ensuring that the relevant subsidiary has
more than one member.

Where interests in securities arising from the holding of
such securities as qualifying shares are not disclosed
pursuant to the exception provided in this paragraph, a
general statement should nevertheless be made to indicate
that the directors hold qualifying shares.

A statement as at the end of the relevant period showing the interests and
short positions of every person, other than a director or chief executive of
the listed issuer, in the shares and underlying shares of the listed issuer as
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336 of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance, or if there is no such interests or short
positions recorded in the register, a statement of that fact.

Notes: 1

For the purposes of rules 18.56 and 18.57, particulars
should be given of the extent of any duplication which
occurs.

In the case of a PRC issuer, references to director or chief

executive in rules 18.56 and 18.57 inclusive shall also mean

and include supervisors.

Statements disclosing interests and short positions in shares, underlying
shares and debentures have to separately refer to three categories of
persons, namely, directors and chief executives, substantial shareholders
and other persons who are required to disclose their interests. Such
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statements should describe the capacity in which such interests and short
positions are held and the nature of such interests and short positions as
disclosed in the prescribed forms required to be used, when giving notice
pursuant to sections 324 and 347 of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance. Where interests or short positions are attributable on account of
holdings through corporations that are not wholly-owned by the person
making disclosure, the percentage interests held by such person in such
corporations should be disclosed.

For directors and chief executives, the statements should show details of
the following matters as recorded in the register required to be kept under
section 352 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance:

(1)  aggregate long position in shares and (in respect of positions held
pursuant to equity derivatives) underlying shares and in debentures
of the issuer and its associated corporation(s) showing separately
for each entity:

@ interests in shares (other than pursuant to equity derivatives
such as share options, warrants to subscribe or convertible
bonds);

(b) interests in debentures; and

(c) interests under equity derivatives showing separately for
listed and unlisted equity derivatives, interests in underlying
shares of the entity pursuant to:

(1)  physically settled equity derivatives;
(if)  cash settled equity derivatives;
(iii) other equity derivatives.

Notes:

(1) In the case of issuers and associated corporations, the
statements should include the percentage which the
aggregate long position in shares represents to the issued
voting shares—eapital of the issuer or associated
corporation.

2 A long position arises where a person is a party to an equity
derivative, by virtue of which the person:

(i) has aright to take the underlying shares;
(if) is under an obligation to take the underlying shares;

(ili) has a right to receive money if the price of the
underlying shares increases; or

119



@)

©)

(iv) has a right to avoid or reduce a loss if the price of the
underlying shares increases.

For (c)(i) above, in respect of options granted to directors
or chief executives pursuant to share option schemes under
Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules, the statements should
show such details as are required to be disclosed under Rule
23.07(1) of the GEM Listing Rules.

aggregate short position in shares and (in respect of positions held
pursuant to equity derivatives) underlying shares and in debentures

of the

issuer and its associated corporation(s) showing separately

for each entity:

(@)

(b)

Notes:

1)

@)

short positions in respect of shares arising under a stock
borrowing and lending agreement; and

short positions under equity derivatives showing separately
for listed and unlisted equity derivatives, interests in
underlying shares of the entity pursuant to:

(1) physically settled equity derivatives;
(if)  cash settled equity derivatives; and

(iii) other equity derivatives.

In the case of issuers or associated corporations, the
statements should include the percentage which the
aggregate short position in shares represents to the issued
voting shares—eapital of the issuer or associated
corporation.

A short position arises:

(i)  where the person is the borrower of shares under a
securities borrowing and lending agreement, or has
an obligation to deliver the underlying shares to
another person who has lent shares;

(i)  where the person is the holder, writer or issuer of any
equity derivatives, by virtue of which the person —

(@) has a right to require another person to take the
underlying shares of the equity derivatives;

(b) is under an obligation to deliver the underlying
shares of the equity derivatives to another
person;
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(¢) has a right to receive from another person
money if the price of the underlying shares
declines; or

(d) has a right to avoid a loss if the price of the
underlying shares declines.

For substantial shareholders, the statements should show details of the
following matters as recorded in the register required to be kept under
section 336 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance:

D)

aggregate long position in the shares and (in respect of positions
held pursuant to equity derivatives) underlying shares of the issuer
showing separately:

(@)

(b)

Notes:

1)

2)

3)

interests in shares (other than pursuant to equity derivatives
such as share options, warrants to subscribe or convertible
bonds); and

interests under equity derivatives showing separately for
listed and unlisted equity derivatives, interests in underlying
shares of the entity pursuant to:

(i) physically settled equity derivatives; and

(if)  cash settled equity derivatives.

The statements should include the percentage which the
aggregate long position in shares represents to the issued

voting shares eapitat-of the issuer.

A long position arises where a person is a party to an equity
derivative, by virtue of which the person:

(i) has aright to take the underlying shares;
(it) is under an obligation to take the underlying shares;

(ili) has a right to receive money if the price of the
underlying shares increases; or

(iv) has a right to avoid or reduce a loss if the price of the
underlying shares increases.

For (b)(i) above, in respect of options granted to substantial
shareholders pursuant to share option schemes under
Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules, the statements should
show such details as are required to be disclosed under Rule
23.07(1) of the GEM Listing Rules.
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(2)

aggregate short position in shares and (in respect of positions held
pursuant to equity derivatives) underlying shares of the issuer
showing separately:

(@)

(b)

Notes:

1)

()

short positions in respect of shares arising under a stock
borrowing and lending agreement; and

short positions under equity derivatives showing separately
for listed and unlisted equity derivatives, interests in
underlying shares of the entity pursuant to:

(i) physically settled equity derivatives; and

(if)  cash settled equity derivatives.

The statements should include the percentage which the
aggregate short position in shares represents to the issued

voting shares eapital-of the issuer.

A short position arises:

(i)  where the person is the borrower of shares under a
securities borrowing and lending agreement, or has
an obligation to deliver the underlying shares to
another person who has lent shares;

(i)  where the person is the holder, writer or issuer of any
equity derivatives, by virtue of which the person —

(@) has a right to require another person to take the
underlying shares of the equity derivatives;

(b) is under an obligation to deliver the underlying
shares of the equity derivatives to another
person;

(¢c) has a right to receive from another person
money if the price of the underlying shares
declines; or

(d) has a right to avoid a loss if the price of the
underlying shares declines.

For other persons whose interests are recorded (or, in the case of a new

listing, are required to be recorded) in the register required to be kept under

section 336 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance, the statements should
show details of the same matters as are required to be disclosed in the case
of a substantial shareholder pursuant to Rule 18.58B, except that note (3) to
Rule 18.58B(1) does not apply.
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18.60

18.61

18.62

18.63

18.64

18.65

18.66

The listed issuer should include a discussion and analysis of its
performance covering all those matters set out in rule 18.41. The discussion
should include any significant information needed for investors to make an
informed assessment of the trend of its activities and profit (or loss). It
should identify and explain any special factors which has influenced its
activities and its profit (or loss) during the relevant period. It should
provide a comparison with the corresponding period of the preceding
financial year and must also, as far as possible, give an indication of the
listed issuer’s prospects for the current financial year. Such discussion may
focus only on the significant changes in the group’s performance since the
most recent published annual report. Where the current information in
relation to those matters set out in rule 18.41 has not changed materially
from the information disclosed in the most recent published annual report,
a statement to this effect may be made and no additional disclosure is
required.

Any supplementary information which in the opinion of the directors of the
listed issuer is necessary for a reasonable appreciation of the results for the
relevant period.

[Repealed 1 July 2008]

Information as to the interests (if any) of the Compliance Adviser and its
directors, employees and close associates, as notified to the issuer pursuant
to rule 6A.32 and all directors and controlling shareholders of the issuer
and their respective close associates as referred to in rule 11.04.

Each half-year report must state whether or not the information provided
therein has been audited (and if so, must set out a copy of the auditors’
report thereon). In the event that any auditors’ report thereon (if any) has
been qualified or modified (whether or not it is also qualified), details of
such qualification or modification must be set out in the half-year report.

c o c o v c\/a

- [Repealed [date]]

Quarterly reports
Obligation to prepare and publish

The listed issuer shall prepare, in respect of each of the first 3 and 9 month
periods of each financial year of the listed issuer, a quarterly report
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18.67

18.68

containing at least the information required by rule 18.68 and publish the
same (in accordance with the requirements of Chapter 16) not later than 45
days after the end of such period.

Notes: 1 Newly listed issuers will be required to prepare and publish
the relevant quarterly report (irrespective of whether the
period in question ends on a date before or after the date on
which dealings in the securities of the listed issuer
commenced) where the 45-day deadline for publishing the
report falls after the date on which dealings in the securities
of the listed issuer commenced. In the event that the results
for the period in question (whether audited or not) have been
included in the prospectus for the purpose of applying for a
listing on the Exchange, there will be no obligation separately
to publish the results.

2 The figures in each quarterly report are the sole
responsibility of the directors and they must ensure that the
accounting policies applied to the figures are consistent with
those applied to annual aeceuntsfinancial statements. If a
change in the financial year is proposed, the Exchange should
be consulted as to the period or periods to be covered by the
quarterly reports.

As soon as reasonably practicable after publishing any quarterly report, the
listed issuer must send a copy of it to the persons specified in rule 18.03.

Note: [Repealed 1 January 2011]

Content of quarterly reports

Subjectto-rule-18-80-relating-to-banking-companies—eEach quarterly report

shall contain at least the following information in respect of the group:—
1) the information set out in rule 18.79; and
(2)  the further information set out in rules 18.69 to 18.76 below.

Notes: 1 Where the items of information specified in this rule are
unsuited to the listed issuer’s activities, appropriate
adjustments should be made. Where the requirements of this
Note are unsuited to the listed issuer’s activities or
circumstances, the Exchange may require suitable
adaptations to be made.

2 The Exchange may authorise the omission from a quarterly
report of specified items of information if it considers:—

(@) such omission to be necessary or appropriate; or
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1)

(b) disclosure of such information would be contrary to the
public interest or seriously detrimental to the issuer,

provided that such omission would not be likely to mislead the
public with regard to facts and circumstances, knowledge of
which is essential for the assessment of the securities in
question.

The issuer or its representatives will be responsible for the
correctness and relevance of the facts on which any
application for an exemption under Note 2 above is based.

Each quarterly report must contain, at a prominent position,
and in bold type, a statement about the characteristics of
GEM, in the form set out in rule 2.20.

Each quarterly report must be reviewed by the issuer’s audit
committee.

A quarterly report shall contain the following information

required under other parts of the Listing Rules:

(a) advance to an entity under rule 17.22;

(b) pledging of shares by the controlling shareholder under
rule 17.23;

(c) loan agreements with covenants relating to specific
performance of the controlling shareholder under rule
17.23;

(d) breach of loan agreement by an issuer under rule 17.23;

and

(e) financial assistance and quarantees to affiliated
companies of an issuer under rule 17.24.

Subject to rule 18.69(2), a statement as at the end of the relevant
period showing the interests and short positions of each director and
chief executive of the listed issuer in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the listed issuer or any associated corporation
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance):

(@)

(b)

as recorded in the register required to be kept under section
352 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance; or

as otherwise notified to the listed issuer and the Exchange
pursuant to the required standard of dealings by directors of
listed issuer as referred to in rule 5.46_(which for purposes of
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@)

this sub-paragraph shall be deemed to apply to the PRC
issuer’s supervisors to the same extent as it applies to

directors); or

(c) if there is no such interests or short positions, a statement of
that fact,

provided that the Exchange may agree, in its sole discretion, that
compliance with this subparagraph may be modified or waived in
respect of any associated corporation if, in the opinion of the
Exchange, the number of associated corporations in respect of
which each director and chief executive is taken or deemed to have
an interest under Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance is
such that compliance with this sub-paragraph would result in
particulars being given which are not material in the context of the
group and are of excessive length.

The information required to be included by virtue of rule 18.69(1)
must specify the company in which interests or short positions are
held, the class to which those securities belong and the number of
such securities held, but need not disclose:

(@) the interests of a director or a chief executive officer in the
shares of the listed issuer or any of its subsidiaries if such
interest is held solely in a non-beneficial capacity and is for
the purpose of holding the requisite qualifying shares; or

(b) the non-beneficial interests of directors or chief executive
officers in the shares of any subsidiary of the listed issuer in
so far as that interest comprises the holding of shares subject
to the terms of a written, valid and legally enforceable
declaration of trust in favour of the parent company of that
subsidiary or the listed issuer and such interest is held solely
for the purpose of ensuring that the relevant subsidiary has
more than one member.

Note: Where interests in securities arising from the holding of
such securities as qualifying shares are not disclosed
pursuant to the exception provided in this paragraph, a
general statement should nevertheless be made to indicate
that the directors hold qualifying shares.

A statement as at the end of the relevant period showing the interests or
short positions of every person, other than a director or chief executive of
the listed issuer, in the shares and underlying shares of the listed issuer as

recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336 of the

Securities and Futures Ordinance, or if there is no such interests or short
positions recorded in the register, a statement of that fact.

Notes: 1 For the purposes of rules 18.69 and 18.70, particulars should

be given of the extent of any duplication which occurs.
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18.71A

2 In the case of a PRC issuer, references to director or chief
executive in rules 18.69 and 18.70 inclusive shall also mean
and include supervisors.

Statements disclosing interests and short positions in shares, underlying
shares and debentures have to separately refer to three categories of
persons, namely, directors and chief executives, substantial shareholders
and other persons who are required to disclose their interests. Such
statements should describe the capacity in which such interests and short
positions are held and the nature of such interests and short positions as
disclosed in the prescribed forms required to be used, when giving notice
pursuant to sections 324 and 347 of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance. Where interests or short positions are attributable on account of
holdings through corporations that are not wholly-owned by the person
making disclosure, the percentage interests held by such person in such
corporations should be disclosed.

For directors and chief executives, the statements should show details of
the following matters as recorded in the register required to be kept under
section 352 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance:

(1)  aggregate long position in shares and (in respect of positions held
pursuant to equity derivatives) underlying shares and in debentures
of the issuer and its associated corporation(s) showing separately
for each entity:

(@) interests in shares (other than pursuant to equity derivatives
such as share options, warrants to subscribe or convertible
bonds);

(b) interests in debentures; and

(c) interests under equity derivatives showing separately for
listed and unlisted equity derivatives, interests in underlying
shares of the entity pursuant to:

(i)  physically settled equity derivatives;
(if)  cash settled equity derivatives;
(iii) other equity derivatives.

Notes:

(1) In the case of issuers and associated corporations, the
statements should include the percentage which the aggregate

long position in shares represents to the issued voting shares
capital-of the issuer or associated corporation.
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@)

)

(3)

A long position arises where a person is a party to an equity
derivative, by virtue of which the person:

(i) has aright to take the underlying shares;
(if) is under an obligation to take the underlying shares;

(iii) has a right to receive money if the price of the
underlying shares increases; or

(iv) has a right to avoid or reduce a loss if the price of the
underlying shares increases.

For (c)(i) above, in respect of options granted to directors or
chief executives pursuant to share option schemes under
Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules, the statements should
show such details as are required to be disclosed under Rule
23.07(1) of the GEM Listing Rules.

aggregate short position in shares and (in respect of positions held
pursuant to equity derivatives) underlying shares and in debentures
of the issuer and its associated corporation(s) showing separately
for each entity:

(@)

(b)

short positions in respect of shares arising under a stock
borrowing and lending agreement; and

short positions under equity derivatives showing separately
for listed and unlisted equity derivatives, interests in
underlying shares of the entity pursuant to:
(i) physically settled equity derivatives;

(if)  cash settled equity derivatives; and

(iii) other equity derivatives.

Notes:

(1)

()

In the case of issuers or associated corporations, the
statements should include the percentage which the aggregate
short position in shares represents to the issued voting shares
capital of the issuer or associated corporation.

A short position arises:
(1) where the person is the borrower of shares under a
securities borrowing and lending agreement, or has an

obligation to deliver the underlying shares to another
person who has lent shares;
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(i) where the person is the holder, writer or issuer of any
equity derivatives, by virtue of which the person —

(@) has a right to require another person to take the
underlying shares of the equity derivatives;

(b) is under an obligation to deliver the underlying
shares of the equity derivatives to another person;

(c) has a right to receive from another person money
if the price of the underlying shares declines; or

(d) has a right to avoid a loss if the price of the
underlying shares declines.

For substantial shareholders, the statements should show details of the
following matters as recorded in the register required to be kept under
section 336 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance:

1)

aggregate long position in the shares and (in respect of positions
held pursuant to equity derivatives) underlying shares of the issuer
showing separately:

(@)

(b)

interests in shares (other than pursuant to equity derivatives
such as share options, warrants to subscribe or convertible
bonds); and

interests under equity derivatives showing separately for
listed and unlisted equity derivatives, interests in underlying
shares of the entity pursuant to:

(i) physically settled equity derivatives; and

(if)  cash settled equity derivatives.

Notes:

(1)

)

The statements should include the percentage which the
aggregate long position in shares represents to the issued

voting shares eapital of the issuer.

A long position arises where a person is a party to an equity
derivative, by virtue of which the person:

(1)  has aright to take the underlying shares;
(if) is under an obligation to take the underlying shares;

(ili) has a right to receive money if the price of the
underlying shares increases; or
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(2)

©)

(iv) has a right to avoid or reduce a loss if the price of the
underlying shares increases.

For (b)(i) above, in respect of options granted to substantial
shareholders pursuant to share option schemes under
Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules, the statements should
show such details as are required to be disclosed under Rule
23.07(1) of the GEM Listing Rules.

aggregate short position in shares and (in respect of positions held
pursuant to equity derivatives) underlying shares of the issuer
showing separately:

(@)

(b)

short positions in respect of shares arising under a stock
borrowing and lending agreement; and

short positions under equity derivatives showing separately
for listed and wunlisted equity derivatives, interests in
underlying shares of the entity pursuant to:

(i) physically settled equity derivatives; and

(if)  cash settled equity derivatives.

Notes:

1)

2)

The statements should include the percentage which the
aggregate short position in shares represents to the issued

voting shares eapitat-of the issuer.

A short position arises:

(i) where the person is the borrower of shares under a
securities borrowing and lending agreement, or has an
obligation to deliver the underlying shares to another
person who has lent shares;

(i)  where the person is the holder, writer or issuer of any
equity derivatives, by virtue of which the person —

(@) has a right to require another person to take the
underlying shares of the equity derivatives;

(b) is under an obligation to deliver the underlying
shares of the equity derivatives to another person;

(c) has a right to receive from another person money
if the price of the underlying shares declines; or

(d) has a right to avoid a loss if the price of the
underlying shares declines.
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18.71C For other persons whose interests are recorded (or, in the case of a new
listing, are required to be recorded) in the register required to be kept under
section 336 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance, the statements should
show details of the same matters as are required to be disclosed in the case
of a substantial shareholder pursuant to Rule 18.71B, except that note (3) to
Rule 18.71B(1) does not apply.

18.72 An explanatory statement relating to the activities of the group and profit
(or loss) during the relevant period which must include any significant
information enabling investors to make an informed assessment of the
trend of the activities and profit (or loss) of the group together with an
indication of any special factor which has influenced those activities and
the profit (or loss) during the period in question, and enable a comparison
to be made with the corresponding period of the preceding financial year
and must also, as far as possible, refer to the prospects of the group in the
current financial year.

18.73 H-apphicable—the—information—set-outin—rules— 1722 to-1724-concerping

18.74 Any supplementary information which in the opinion of the directors of the
listed issuer is necessary for a reasonable appreciation of the results for the
relevant period.

18.75 Information as to the interests (if any) of the Compliance Adviser and its
directors, employees and close associates, as notified to the issuer pursuant
to rule 6A.32 and all directors and controlling shareholders of the issuer
and their respective close associates as referred to in rule 11.04.

18.76 Each quarterly report must state whether or not the information provided
therein has been audited (and if so, must set out a copy of the auditors’
report thereon). In the event that any auditors’ report thereon (if any) has
been qualified or modified, details of such qualification or modification
must be set out in the quarterly report.

18.77

to-the- Companies-Ordinance-[Repealed [date]]

Preliminary announcement of results for each of the first 6 month of each
financial year

18.78 A listed issuer must publish (in accordance with the requirements of
Chapter 16) a preliminary announcement of the results for the first 6
months of each financial year, containing at least the information set out
below, on the GEM website as soon as possible, but in any event not later
than the time that is 30 minutes before the earlier of the commencement of
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the morning trading session or any pre-opening session on the next
business day after approval by or on behalf of the board of the results. The
issuer must publish such results not later than 45 days after the end of such

period:

1)

(2)

3)

except—where—the—listed—issuer—is—a—banking—company,—the
information in respect of the income-statementsstatement of profit

or loss and other comprehensive income as—referred—to—in—rule

18.55(1)(b) which must contain at least the information specified in
rule-18:50B{1)-and the balance-sheetstatement of financial position

as set out in rule 18.50B comprising-as-referred-to-in-rule-18-55(1 ) (a)
which—must—contain—at—leastthe—information—specified—n—rule
18.50B(2), to the extent relevant to the income statements statement

of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the current
interim period, with comparative figures for the comparable period
of the immediately preceding financial year, and—balance—sheet
statement of financial position as at the end of the interim period,
with comparative figures as at the end of the immediately preceding
financial year. The listed issuer must include the notes relating to
turnoverrevenue, taxation, earnings per share, dividends and any
other notes that the directors consider necessary for a reasonable
appreciation of the results for the financial period. The income
statementsstatement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income and balance-sheetstatement of financial position shall be as

they appear in the listed issuer’s full half-year report;

income-statement: [Repealed [date]]

particulars of any purchase, sale or redemption by the listed issuer,
or any of its subsidiaries of its listed securities during the relevant
period as required by rule 18.55(3), or an appropriate negative
statement;

a business+eviewcommentary covering the following:

(@) a fair review of the development of the business of the listed
issuer and its subsidiaries during the financial period and of
their financial position at the end of the period;

(b) details of important events affecting the listed issuer and its
subsidiaries which have occurred since the end of the
financial period; and

(¢) an indication of likely future developments in the business of
the listed issuer and its subsidiaries, including the listed
issuer’s prospects for the current financial year; or

where there are no material changes in respect of such matters since
the publication of the latest annual report, an appropriate negative
statement in that regard;
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(4)  astatement as to whether the listed issuer meets the code provisions
set out in the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix
15. The listed issuer must also disclose any deviations from the
code provisions and considered reasons for such deviations. To the
extent that it is reasonable and appropriate, such information may
be given by reference to the Corporate Governance Report in the
immediately preceding annual report, and summarising any changes
since that annual report. Any such references must be clear and
unambiguous;

(5)  the information required by rules 18.61 and, if applicable, rules
18.63 and 18.64;

(6) a statement as to whether or not the half-year results have been
reviewed by external auditors or the audit committee of the listed
issuer;

(7)  full details of any disagreement by the auditors or the audit
committee with the accounting treatment adopted by the listed
issuer;-and

(8)  where there are any significant changes in accounting policies, a
statement teof that fact must be made-; and

Note: A listed issuer should apply the same accounting policies in its
half-year financial statements as are applied in its annual financial
statements, except where the change in accounting policy is
required by an accounting standard which came into effect during
the half-year period.

(9) where there are prior period adjustments due to correction of
material errors, a statement of that fact must be made.

Preliminary announcement of results for each of the first 3 and 9 month periods
of each financial year

preliminary announcements of results for each of the first 3 and 9 month
periods of each financial year must contain at least the information set out
below stated in respect of the group and such information must be
published (in accordance with the requirements of Chapter 16) on the GEM
website as soon as possible, but in any event not later than the time that is
30 minutes before the earlier of the commencement of the morning trading
session or any pre-opening session on the next business day after approval
by or on behalf of the board of the results. The issuer must publish such
results not later than 45 days after the end of such period:

18.79

@) turnoverrevenue;
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(2)

3)

(4)
()
(6)

(7)
(8)
©)

(10)

profit (or loss) before taxation, including the share of profit (or loss)

of affiiated-companies-associates and joint ventures with separate

disclosure of any items included therein which are exceptional
because of size and incidence;

taxation on profits (Hong Kong and overseas) in each case
indicating basis of computation with separate disclosure of the

taxation on share of affiliated—companies™associates’ and joint

ventures’ profits;

profit (or loss) attributable to non-controlling interests;
profit (or loss) attributable to shareholders;

rates of dividend paid or proposed on each class of shares (with
particulars of each such class) and amounts absorbed thereby (or an
appropriate negative statement);

all movements to and from any reserves;
earnings per share;

comparative figures of the matters specified in (1) to (8) inclusive
for the corresponding previous period; and

particulars of any purchase, sale or redemption by the issuer or any
of its subsidiaries, of its listed securities during the relevant period,
or an appropriate negative statement.

Notes: 1 Where the items of information specified in this rule are

unsuited to the listed issuer’s activities, appropriate
adjustments should be made. Where the requirements of this
Note are unsuited to the listed issuer’s activities or
circumstances, the Exchange may require suitable
adaptations to be made.

2 The Exchange may authorise the omission from the
preliminary announcement of any information if it
considers:—

(@) such omission to be necessary or appropriate; or

(b) disclosure of such information would be contrary to the
public interest or seriously detrimental to the issuer,

provided that such omission would not be likely to mislead the
public with regard to facts and circumstances, knowledge of
which is essential for the assessment of the securities in
question.

3 The issuer or its representatives will be responsible for the
correctness and relevance of the facts on which any
application for an exemption under Note 2 above is based.
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18.80 Fhis—ule—sets—out-the—minimum-level-ofinformation—to—be—tnclided—in

ed [date]]
H——Asregardsincome-statement
{b)—Interestexpense;

[Repeal
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18.81

18.82

Summary financial reports

Summary financial reports of issuers must comply with the disclosure
requirements set out in the Companies (Summary Financial Reports—ef
Listed-Coempanies) Regulation. An issuer must also disclose the following
information in its summary financial report:

1)

@)

particulars of any purchase, sale or redemption by the listed issuer,
or any of its subsidiaries, of its listed securities during the financial
year or an appropriate negative statement; and

a separate Corporate Governance Report prepared by the board on
its corporate governance practices. The report must, as a minimum,
contain the information required under paragraphs G to P of
Appendix 15 regarding the accounting period covered by the annual
report. To the extent that it is reasonable and appropriate, this
Corporate Governance Report may take the form of a summary of
the Corporate Governance Report in the annual report and may also
incorporate information by reference to its annual report. Any such
references must be clear and unambiguous and the summary must
not contain only a cross-reference without any discussion of the
matter. The summary must contain, as a minimum, a narrative
statement indicating overall compliance with and highlighting any
deviation from the Corporate Governance Code in Appendix 15.

Summary half-year reports

Summary half-year reports shall include, as a minimum, the following
information in respect of the listed issuer:—

1)
(2)

information as set out in rules 18.78(1) to (89);

details of non-compliance (if any) with rules 5.05(1) and 5.05(2)
and an explanation of the remedial steps taken by the listed issuer to
address such non-compliance relating to appointment of a sufficient
number of independent non-executive directors and an independent
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3)

(4)

()

(6)

(7)

(8)

Note:

non-executive director with appropriate professional qualifications
or accounting or related financial management expertise,
respectively;

details of non-compliance with rule 5.28 (if any) and an explanation
of the remedial steps taken by the listed issuer to address such
non-compliance relating to establishment of an audit committee;

where the accounting information contained in a summary half-year
report has been audited by the listed issuer’s auditors, an opinion
from the auditors as to whether the summary half-year report is
consistent with the full half-year report from which it is derived,

names of the director(s) who have signed the full half-year report on
behalf of the board of directors of the listed issuer;

a statement to the effect that the summary half-year report only
gives a summary of the information and particulars contained in the
listed issuer’s full half-year report;

a statement as to how an entitled person may obtain free of charge a
copy of the listed issuer’s full half-year report from which the
summary half-year report is derived; and

a statement as to the manner in which an entitled person may in
future notify the listed issuer of his wishes to receive a copy of a
summary half-year report in place of a copy of the full half-year
report from which it is derived.

“Entitled person” is a person who is entitled to be sent copies of the

reporting documents for the financial year under section 430 of the
Companies Ordinance.

Recommended additional disclosure

Issuers are encouraged to disclose the following additional commentary on
manhagement-discussion and analysis in their half-year and annual reports:

1)

@)

3)

4)

efficiency indicators (e.g. return on equity, working capital ratios)
for the last 5 financial years indicating the bases of computation;

industry specific ratios, if any, for the last 5 financial years
indicating the bases of computation;

a discussion of the listed issuer’s purpose, corporate strategy and
principal drivers of performance;

an overview of trends in the listed issuer’s industry and business;
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18.84

(#¥5) a discussion on the listed issuer’s policies and performance on
community, social, ethical and reputational issues; and

o ¢ the tisted issuer’s key-elationships wit : |

(96) receipts from, and returns to, shareholders.

Note: Issuers should also note the recommended disclosures set out in
paragraphs Q to T of Appendix 15.

Issuers are encouraged to include information set out in Appendix 20 in the
annual report regarding the same period covered in the annual report, or as
a separate report.

Note: Where the information is included in a separate report, an issuer is
free to report on any period but should consistently report on the
same period so that the information can be comparable. However,
the Exchange encourages an issuer to report regarding the same
period as in the annual report.
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APPENDIX I1I:  AMENDMENTS TO MAIN BOARD RULES

CHAPTER 4 AND GEM RULES CHAPTER 7

PART A - MAIN BOARD LISTING RULES

4.01

4.04

Chapter 4

GENERAL

ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORTS AND PRO FORMA FINANCIAL
INFORMATION

When Required

This Chapter sets out the detailed requirements for accountants’ reports on
the profits and losses, assets and liabilities of, and other financial
information on, an issuer and/or a business or company, to be acquired or
disposed of (as the case may be) by an issuer for inclusion in listing
documents or circulars. Accountants’ reports are required to be included in
the following listing documents and circulars:—

(2) a listing document issued by a listed issuer in connection with an
offer of securities to the public for subscription or purchase which is
required by either section 38(1) or section 342(1) of the Companies
(Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance to set out
the reports specified in Part Il of the Third Schedule to that
Ordinance; and

Basic Contents of Accountants’ Report for a Listing Document

In the case of a new applicant (rule 4.01(1)) and an offer of securities to the
public for subscription or purchase falling within rule 4.01(2) the
accountants’ report must include:—

History of results

(2) the results of any business or subsidiary acquired, agreed to be
acquired or proposed to be acquired since the date to which the latest
audited aeeounts-financial statements of the issuer have been made up
(on the same basis, where the subsidiary is itself a holding company,
as in rule 4.04(1)) in respect of each of the three financial years
immediately preceding the issue of the listing document or in respect
of each of the financial years since commencement of such business or
the incorporation or other establishment of such subsidiary (as the case
may be) if this occurred less than three years prior to such issue or
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such shorter period as may be acceptable to the Exchange (see rules
8.05A, 8.05B and 23.06);

Balanece-sheetStatement of financial position

(3) (a) the balanee-sheetstatement of financial position of the issuer and, if

4)

(b)

(@)

(b)

the issuer is itself a holding company, the consolidated balanece
sheetstatement of financial position of the issuer and its subsidiaries
in each case as at the end of each of the three financial years to
which the latest audited accounts-financial statements of the issuer
have been made up except that if the listing document is not
required by either section 38(1) or section 342(1) of the Companies
(Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance to set out
the reports specified in Part Il of the Third Schedule of that
Ordinance and the issuer is itself a holding company then the
accountants’ report need only include the consolidated balance
sheetstatement of financial position of the issuer and its
subsidiaries;

in the case of banking companies, the balance—sheetstatement of
financial position as at the end of each of the three financial years
prepared in accordance with rule 4.04(3)(a) must include
information on the assets and liabilities set out in the Finaneial
Disclosure by Locally  Incorporated  Authorized
InstitutionsGuideline on the Application of the Banking (Disclosure)
Rules issued by the Hong Kong Monetary Authority;

the balance-sheetstatement of financial position of any business or
subsidiary acquired, agreed to be acquired or proposed to be
acquired since the date to which the latest audited accounts
financial statements of the issuer have been made up (on the same
basis, where the subsidiary is itself a holding company, as in rule
4.04(3)) in each case as at the end of each of the three financial
years to which the latest audited acceunts—financial statements of
such business or subsidiary (as the case may be) have been made

up;

in the case of banking companies, the balance—sheetstatement of
financial position as at the end of each of the three financial years
prepared in accordance with rule 4.04(4)(a) must include
information on the assets and liabilities set out in the Finaneial
Disclosure by Locally  Incorporated  Authorized
InstitutionsGuideline on the Application of the Banking (Disclosure)
Rules issued by the Hong Kong Monetary Authority;

Cash flow statement

()

the cash flow statement of the issuer or, if the issuer is itself a holding
company, the consolidated cash flow statement of the issuer and its
subsidiaries in each case for each of the three financial years to which
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the latest audited aceounts-financial statements of the issuer have been
made up;

Statement of changes in equity

(6) a statement of changes in equity of the issuer for each of the three
financial years to which the latest audited aeeounts—financial
statements of the issuer have been made up;

I F i :  the fi "
j i i i i j - [Repealed
[date]]
Other

(9) all movements to and from any reserves including movements arising
from:—

(c) the translation of aceeunts-financial statements denominated in
foreign currencies; or

Specific detail concerning financial information

4.05 The report on results and financial position under rules 4.04(1) to (4) must
include the disclosures required under the relevant accounting standards
adopted and disclose separately the following information:—

1) Ihcome—statementStatement  of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income

(a8)  turnover;
By i ! other | ;

(ae) profit (or loss) on sale of ivestments-or properties;
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(bg) profit (or loss) before taxation, including the share of the
profit (or loss) of asseciated-companies-associates and joint
ventures, with separate disclosure of any items included
therein which are exceptional because of size, nature and
incidence; and

(ch) taxation on profits (Hong Kong and overseas) in each case
indicating the basis of computation, with separate disclosure

of the taxation on share of asseciated-companies” associates

and joint ventures’ profits;

(2) Balance—sheet—Statement of financial position information as
follows, if applicable:

{b)—=current-assets
(a)  {iH)—debtors-including—credit-poley—and-ageing analysis of

accounts receivable; and
hat bani Lin-hand: and
o liabiliti
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] : | debts-and
(b) {#—ageing analysis of accounts payable;
n liabilities):

o I I liabilities:

Notes: 1 If an issuer/ a company is itself a holding company, the
information referred to rule 4.05(2) above is of the
consolidated statement of financial position of the
issuer/ the company and its subsidiaries.

2 The ageing analysis should normally be presented on
the basis of the date of the relevant invoice or demand
note and categorised into time-bands based on analysis
used by an issuer’s management to monitor the issuer’s
financial position. The basis on which the ageing
analysis is presented should be disclosed.

(3) Dividends

(a) rates of dividend paid or proposed on each class of shares
(with particulars of each such class) and amounts absorbed
thereby and any waivers of dividend except that the
accountants’ report need not disclose this information:—

(i) if combined results are presented in accordance with
rule 4.09 and, in the opinion of the reporting
accountants, such information is not meaningful having
regard to the purpose of the report;

(ii) _if the accountants’ report relates to an issue of debt

(iil) in the case of a major transaction; and

(b)  details of any special dividend proposed to be paid after the
date of the accountants’ report; and
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4.06

(43) in the case of banking companies, the information on results and

financial position set out in the Financial-Disclosure—by—Locally

Ircorporated-Autherized-nstitutionsGuideline on the Application of
the Banking (Disclosure) Rules issued by the Hong Kong Monetary

Authority must be provided in place of that set out in rule 4.05(1)

with 4 o of 4 iredl by rules 4.05(1)(k)-and 4.05(1
@) and rule 4.05-(2). -and

Basic Contents of Accountants’ Report for Certain Notifiable Transaction
Circulars

In the cases referred to in rule 4.01(3) concerning a circular in connection
with a reverse takeover, a very substantial acquisition or a major transaction
on the acquisition of a business, company or companies, the accountants’
report must include:—

History of results

(1) (@) the results, for the relevant period, of the business which, or of the
company (or, if that company is itself a holding company, of the
company and its subsidiaries) in whose share capital an interest, has
been acquired, agreed to be acquired or is proposed to be acquired
since the date to which the latest published audited acceunts
financial statements of the issuer have been made up; provided
always that where any company in question has not or will not
become a subsidiary of the issuer, the Exchange may be prepared to
relax this requirement;

Note
(2) in the case of a very substantial acquisition or a major
transaction,(i) each of the three financial years of the
business or company immediately preceding the issue of
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(b)

the circular and where applicable a stub period; or (ii)
if the audited aeeeunts—financial statements of the
business or company for the latest completed financial
year has not been prepared at the time of the issue of
the circular, each of the three financial years of the
business or company immediately preceding the latest
completed financial year and a stub period; or

in the case of banking companies, the report on results prepared in
accordance with rule 4.06(1)(a) must include the information on
results set out in the Financial-Bisclosureby-Localythcorporated
Awutherized-tnstitutionsGuideline on the Application of the Banking
(Disclosure) Rules issued by the Hong Kong Monetary Authority;

BalancesheetStatement of financial position

(2) (a) the balance—sheetstatement of financial position of the business

(b)

which, or of the company (and, if that company is itself a holding
company, the consolidated balanece—sheetstatement of financial
position of the company and its subsidiaries) in whose share capital
an interest, has been acquired, agreed to be acquired or is proposed
to be acquired since the date to which the latest published audited
aceounts—financial statements of the issuer have been made up, in
each case as at the end of each of the three financial years (or the
end of each of the financial years since commencement of such
business or the incorporation or establishment of such company, as
the case may be, if less) to which the latest audited aceeunts
financial statements of such business or company (as the case may
be) have been made up;

in the case of banking companies, the balance—sheetstatement of
financial position as at the end of each of the three financial years
(or the end of each of the financial years since commencement of
such business or the incorporation or establishment of such
company, as the case may be, if less) must include the information

on the assets and liabilities set out in the Firancial-Disclosureby

Loecally—Incorporated—Authorized—InstitutionsGuideline _on the
Application of the Banking (Disclosure) Rules issued by the Hong

Kong Monetary Authority;

Cash flow statement

(3)

the cash flow statement of the business which, or of the company (or,
if that company is itself a holding company, of the company and its
subsidiaries) in whose share capital an interest has been acquired,
agreed to be acquired or is proposed to be acquired since the date to
which the latest published audited aceeunts-financial statements of the
issuer have been made up, in each case for each of the three financial
years (or for each of the financial years since commencement of such
business or the incorporation or establishment of such company, as the
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case may be, if less) to which the latest audited aceeunts—financial
statements of such business or company (as the case may be) have
been made up;

Statement of changes in equity

(4) a statement of changes in equity of the business which, or of the
company (or, if that company is itself a holding company, of the
company and its subsidiaries) in whose share capital an interest, has
been acquired, agreed to be acquired or is proposed to be acquired
since the date to which the latest published audited aceeunts-financial
statements of the issuer have been made up, in each case for each of
the three financial years (or for each of the financial years since
commencement of such business or the incorporation or establishment
of such company, as the case may be, if less) to which the latest
audited aecounts-financial statements of such business or company (as
the case may be) have been made up;

[date]]

(6) all movements to and from any reserves including movements arising
from:—

(c) the translation of aceeunts—financial statements denominated in
foreign currencies; or

Requirements Applicable in All Cases

4.08 In all cases:—

(1) the accountants’ report must include a statement of:

(@) whether or not the aceounts—financial statements for the period
reported on have been audited and, if so, by whom; and

(b)  whether or not any audited aceeunts—financial statements have
been made up since the end of the last financial period reported
on;

(2) the reporting accountants must express an opinion as to whether or not
the relevant information gives, for the purposes of the accountants’
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4.09

4.10

411

4.15

report, a true and fair view of the results and cash flows for the period
reported on and of the balanee-sheetstatement of financial position as
at the end of each of the period reported on;

Individual Or Combined Results

(1) In the case of a new applicant (rule 4.01(1)) and an offer of securities
to the public for subscription or purchase falling within rule 4.01(2),
the reporting accountants must report on the consolidated or combined
financial history of results and the consolidated or combined balanece
sheetstatement of financial position of the issuer and its subsidiaries
and any business or subsidiary acquired or proposed to be acquired
since the date to which the latest audited aceeunts-financial statements
of the issuer have been made up, unless otherwise agreed by the
Exchange.

(2) Inthe case of a circular issued by a listed issuer in connection with the
acquisition of more than one business and/or company and/or group of
companies, the reporting accountants must report on the individual
financial histories of results and the individual balance—sheets
statements of financial position of each of those businesses, companies
or groups of companies referred to in rule 4.06, unless otherwise
agreed by the Exchange.

Disclosure

The information to be disclosed in respect of rules 4.04 to 4.09 must be in
accordance with best practice which is at least that required to be disclosed
in respect of those specific matters in the accounts of a company under the
CompaniesOrdinanceand HKFRS, IFRS or CASBE in the case of a PRC
issuer that has adopted CASBE for the preparation of its annual financial
statements and, in the case of banking companies, the Finaneial-Disclosure
by-Lecally-Inhcorporated-Authorized-nstitutionsGuideline on the Application
of the Banking (Disclosure) Rules issued by the Hong Kong Monetary
Authority.

Accounting Standards

The financial history of results and the balanece-sheetstatement of financial
position included in the accountants’ report must normally be drawn up in
conformity with:—

Statement of Adjustments

The statement of adjustments must set out, for each of the years reported upon,

each adjustment made and be sufficiently detailed so as to reconcile the
figures in the accountants’ report with the corresponding figures in the audited
aceounts-financial statements and must give the reasons therefor.
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4.22

4.23

4.25

4.26

Additional Matters for Disclosure

Where the business of the issuer necessitates extra disclosure to the members
in its annual aeeeunts-financial statements by virtue of special legislation, the
equivalent disclosure must be made in the report.

General

Pro Forma Financial Information

In the cases referred to in rule 4.01(3) concerning a circular in connection with
a major transaction, the pro forma financial information required under rules
14.67(6)(a)(ii) or 14.67(6)(b)(ii) on the enlarged group (i.e. the issuer, its
subsidiaries and any business or subsidiary or, where applicable, assets
acquired or proposed to be acquired since the date to which the latest audited
aceounts-financial statements of the issuer have been made up (including but
not limited to any business, company or companies being acquired)) must
include all the information referred to in rule 4.29 in respect of such enlarged

group.

In the cases referred to in rule 4.01(3) concerning a circular in connection
with a reverse takeover or a very substantial acquisition, the pro forma
financial information required under rules 14.69(4)(a)(ii) or 14.69(4)(b)(ii)
on the enlarged group (i.e. the issuer, its subsidiaries and any business or
subsidiary or, where applicable, assets acquired or proposed to be acquired
since the date to which the latest audited aceeunts-financial statements of the
issuer have been made up (including but not limited to any business,
company or companies being acquired)) must include all the information
referred to in rule 4.29 in respect of such enlarged group.
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4.28

4.29

In the case of a new applicant (rule 4.01(1)) which has acquired or proposed
to acquire any businesses or companies, which would at the date of
application or such later date of acquisition before listing of the applicant be
classified as a major subsidiary, since the date to which the latest audited
acecounts-financial statements of the issuer have been made up, it must include
in its listing document the pro forma financial information required under rule
4.29 in respect of the enlarged group (i.e. the new applicant, its subsidiaries
and any businesses or companies acquired or proposed to be acquired since
the date to which the latest audited aeeeuntsfinancial statements of the issuer
have been made up).

Note: For purposes of rule 4.28, all acquisitions or proposed acquisitions
since the date to which the latest audited aeeceunts—financial
statements in the accountants’ report of the issuer have been made
up, whether of businesses or companies, should be aggregated. If the
aggregated total assets, profits or revenue represents 5% or more
under any of the percentage ratios as defined under rule 14.04(9),
these acquisitions will be deemed to be an acquisition of a major
subsidiary for the purpose of rule 4.28. 100% of the major
subsidiary’s total assets, profits or revenue (as the case may be) or,
where the major subsidiary itself has subsidiaries, the consolidated
total assets, profits or revenue (as the case may be) of the major
subsidiary is to be compared to the total assets, profits or revenue
(as the case may be) shown in the issuer’s latest audited
consolidated financial statements in the accountants’ report
irrespective of the interest held in the major subsidiary.

Where an issuer includes pro forma financial information in any document
(whether or not such disclosure of pro forma financial information is
required under the Exchange Listing Rules), that information must comply
with rules 4.29(1) to (6) and a report in the terms of rule 4.29(7) must be
included in the relevant document.

1) The pro forma financial information must provide investors with
information about the impact of the transaction the subject of the
document by illustrating how that transaction might have affected
the financial information presented in the document, had the
transaction been undertaken at the commencement of the period
being reported on or, in the case of a pro forma balance
sheetstatement of financial position or net asset statement, at the
date reported. The pro forma financial information presented must
not be misleading, must assist investors in analysing the future
prospects of the issuer and must include all appropriate adjustments
permitted by rule 4.29(6), of which the issuer is aware, necessary to
give effect to the transaction as if the transaction had been
undertaken at the commencement of the period being reported on or,
in the case of a pro forma balanee—sheetstatement of financial
position or net asset statement, at the date reported on.
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4) Pro forma financial information may only be published in respect
of:

(@ the current financial period,;
(b) the most recently completed financial period; and/or
(c) the most recent interim period for which relevant unadjusted

information has been or will be published or is being
published in the same document;

and, in the case of a pro forma balance-sheetstatement of financial
position or net asset statement, as at the date on which such periods
end or ended.

(5) The unadjusted information must be derived from the most recent:
(@) audited published aeecounts—financial statements, published

interim reports or published interim or annual results
announcements;
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PART B - GEM LISTING RULES

7.01

7.03

Chapter 7
GENERAL

ACCOUNTANTS” REPORTS AND PRO FORMA FINANCIAL
INFORMATION

When required

This Chapter sets out the detailed requirements for accountants’ reports on
the profits and losses, assets and liabilities of, and other financial
information on, an issuer and/or a business or company, to be acquired or
disposed of (as the case may be) by an issuer for inclusion in listing
documents or circulars. Accountants’ reports are required to be included in
the following listing documents and circulars: —

(2) a listing document issued by a listed issuer in connection with an
offer of securities to the public for subscription or purchase which is
required by either section 38(1) or section 342(1) of the Companies
(Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance to set out
the reports specified in Part Il of the Third Schedule to that
Ordinance; and

Basic contents of accountants’ report for a listing document

In the case of a new applicant (rule 7.01(1)) and an offer of securities to the
public for subscription or purchase falling within rule 7.01(2) the
accountants’ report must include:—

History of results

(2) the results of any business or subsidiary acquired, agreed to be
acquired or proposed to be acquired since the date to which the latest
audited accounts-financial statements of the issuer have been made up
(on the same basis, where the subsidiary is itself a holding company,
as in (1) above) in respect of each of the 2 financial years referred to in
(1) above (or in respect of the period since commencement of such
business or the incorporation or establishment of such subsidiary, as
the case may be, if this occurred within such 2 year period).

Balance-sheetStatement of financial position

(3) (@) the balanee-sheetstatement of financial position of the issuer and, if
the issuer is itself a holding company, the consolidated balanece
sheetstatement of financial position of the issuer and its subsidiaries
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(b)

(4) (a)

(b)

(4A)

(4B)

in each case as at the end of each of the two financial years to which
the latest audited aceeunts-financial statements of the issuer have
been made up except that if the listing document is not required by
either section 38(1) or section 342(1) of the Companies (Winding
Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance to set out the reports
specified in Part Il of the Third Schedule of that Ordinance and the
issuer is itself a holding company then the accountants’ report need
only include the consolidated batance—sheetstatement of financial
position of the issuer and its subsidiaries;

in the case of banking companies, the balanee—sheetstatement of
financial position as at the end of each of the two financial years
prepared in accordance with rule 7.03(3)(a) must include
information on the assets and liabilities set out in the Finaneial
Disclosure———by——Locally—Ineorporated—Authorized
InstitutionsGuideline on the Application of the Banking (Disclosure)
Rules issued by the Hong Kong Monetary Authority Authorized
Institutions issued by the Hong Kong Monetary Authority;

the balance-sheetstatement of financial position of any business or
subsidiary acquired, agreed to be acquired or proposed to be
acquired since the date to which the latest audited aecounts
financial statements of the issuer have been made up (on the same
basis, where the subsidiary is itself a holding company, as in (3)
above) in each case as at the end of each of the two financial years
to which the latest audited aceceunts—financial statements of such
business or subsidiary (as the case may be) have been made up;

in the case of banking companies, the balanee—sheetstatement of
financial position as at the end of each of the two financial years
prepared in accordance with rule 7.03(4)(a) must include
information on the assets and liabilities set out in the Finaneial
Disclosure——by——Locally—Ineorporated—Authorized
InstitutionsGuideline on the Application of the Banking (Disclosure)
Rules issued by the Hong Kong Monetary Authority;

Cash flow statement

the cash flow statement of the issuer or, if the issuer is itself a
holding company, the consolidated cash flow statement of the issuer
and its subsidiaries in each case for each of the two financial years
to which the latest audited aeeeunts—financial statements of the
issuer have been made up;

Statement of changes in equity
a statement of changes in equity of the issuer for each of the two

financial years to which the latest audited aeceunts—financial
statements of the issuer have been made up;
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7.04

(4C) Wh%—@h&—ﬁ%&l&#ﬁ—%%%&—ﬁﬁ%ﬂ%l&l—@&%giemem@—@ee—%

&mg&@ed—a&a#na%r&keenglemeﬁa%& [Repealed [date]]

Other
(6) all movements to and from any reserves including movements arising
from:—
(©) the translation of aeeceunts-financial statements denominated

in foreign currencies; or
Specific detail concerning financial information

The report on results and financial position under rules 7.03(1) to (4) above
must include the disclosures required under the relevant accounting
standards adopted and disclose separately at least the following
information:—

1) Income—statementStatement  of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income

& ——turnover;
b . other i ;

(ea) profit (or loss) on sale of avestments-er properties;

(gb) profit (or loss) before taxation, including the share of the
profit (or loss) of affiliated-companies-associates and joint
ventures, with separate disclosure of any items included
therein which are exceptional because of size, nature and
incidence; and

(hc) taxation on profits (Hong Kong and overseas) in each case
indicating the basis of computation, with separate disclosure

of the taxation on share of affthiated-companies™associates

and joint ventures’ profits;
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(2) Balance-sheetStatement of financial position information as follows,
if applicable:

{b)y——¢currentassets
(@)  {i)—debtorsincluding-credit-pelicyand-ageing analysis of

accounts receivable; and
o liabiliti
D . | debts:
(b)  @—ageing analysis of accounts payable;
{e)—hnetcurrentassets-(Habiities):
{e)—total-assetsless-current-Habiities;
E liabiliti
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(3)

{h)—n-e-l%eeﬂ-t%@-l—l—l—ng—%t—s- i 0

Notes: 1

If an issuer/ a company is itself a holding company, the

information referred to rule 7.04(2) above is of the
consolidated statement of financial position of the
issuer/ the company and its subsidiaries.

The ageing analysis should normally be presented on

Dividends

(34)

(@

the basis of the date of the relevant invoice or demand
note and categorised into time-bands based on analysis
used by an issuer’s management to monitor the issuer’s
financial position. The basis on which the ageing
analysis is presented should be disclosed.

rates of dividend paid or proposed on each class of shares

(b)

(with particulars of each such class) and amounts absorbed

thereby and any waivers of dividend except that the

accountants’ report need not disclose this information:—

(i)

if combined results are presented in accordance with

(ii)

rule 7.09 and, in the opinion of the reporting
accountants, such information is not meaningful
having regard to the purpose of the report;

if the accountants’ report relates to an issue of debt

(iii)

securities; or

in the case of a major transaction; and

details of any special dividend proposed to be paid after the

date of the accountants’ report; and

in the case of banking companies, the information on results and

financial position set out in the Finrancial-Disclosure—by—Locally

Ihcorporated-Autherized-nstitutionsGuideline on the Application of
the Banking (Disclosure) Rules issued by the Hong Kong Monetary

Authority must be provided in place of that set out in sub paragraph

(1) (with the exception of that required by sub-paragraphs 1(k} and
1h)-and (2) aboverand.



Basic contents of accountants’ report for certain notifiable transaction circulars

7.05

In the cases referred to in rule 7.01(3) concerning a circular in connection
with a reverse takeover, a very substantial acquisition or a major transaction
on the acquisition of a business, company or companies, the accountants’
report must include:—

Three year history of results

(1) (a) the results, for the relevant period, of the business which, or of the
company (or, if that company is itself a holding company, of the
company and its subsidiaries) in whose share capital an interest, has
been acquired, agreed to be acquired or is proposed to be acquired
since the date to which the latest published audited aceceunts
financial statements of the issuer have been made up; provided
always that where any company in question has not or will not
become a subsidiary of the issuer, the Exchange may be prepared to
relax this requirement;

Note: For the purposes of this rule, the *relevant period”
comprises:

1)

2) in the case of a very substantial acquisition or a
major transaction, (i) each of the three financial
years of the business or company immediately
preceding the issue of the circular and where
applicable a stub period; or (ii) if the audited
aceounts—financial statements of the business or
company for the latest completed financial year has
not been prepared at the time of the issue of the
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)

(b)

circular, each of the three financial years of the
business or company immediately preceding the
latest completed financial year and a stub period;
or

3)

in the case of banking companies, the report on results prepared in
accordance with rule 7.05(1)(a) must include the information on
results set out in the Finaneial-Bisclosureby-Localythcorporated
Awutherized-tnstitutionsGuideline on the Application of the Banking
(Disclosure) Rules issued by the Hong Kong Monetary Authority;

Three year balanee-sheet-statement of financial position

(@)

(b)

the balanee—sheet—statement of financial position of the business
which, or of the company (and, if that company is itself a holding
company, the consolidated balance—sheet—statement of financial
position of the company and its subsidiaries) in whose share capital
an interest has been acquired, agreed to be acquired or is proposed
to be acquired since the date to which the latest published audited
aceounts—financial statements of the issuer have been made up, in
each case as at the end of each of the three financial years (or the
end of each of the financial years since commencement of such
business or the incorporation or establishment of such company, as
the case may be, if less) to which the latest audited aceeunts
financial statements of such business or company (as the case may
be) have been made up;

in the case of banking companies, the balance-sheet-statement of
financial position as at the end of each of the three financial years
(or the end of each of the financial years since commencement of
such business or the incorporation or establishment of such
company, as the case may be, if less) must include the information

on the assets and liabilities set out in the Financial-Disclosureby

Loecaly-Autherized-InstitutionsGuideline on the Application of the
Banking (Disclosure) Rules issued by the Hong Kong Monetary

Authority;

Three year cash flow statement

(2A) the cash flow statement of the business which, or of the company (or, if

that company is itself a holding company, of the company and its
subsidiaries) in whose share capital an interest, has been acquired,

agreed to be acquired or is proposed to be acquired since the date to

which the latest published audited aceeunts-financial statements of the

issuer have been made up, in each case for each of the three financial

years (or for each of the financial years since commencement of such

business or the incorporation or establishment of such company, as the
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7.08

(2B)

(2C) w

©)

case may be, if less) to which the latest audited aeeeunts—financial
statements of such business or company (as the case may be) have been
made up;

Three year statement of changes in equity

a statement of changes in equity of the business which, or of the
company (or, if that company is itself a holding company, of the
company and its subsidiaries) in whose share capital an interest, has
been acquired, agreed to be acquired or is proposed to be acquired since
the date to which the latest published audited aeeeunts—financial
statements of the issuer have been made up, in each case for each of the
three financial years (or for each of the financial years since
commencement of such business or the incorporation or establishment
of such company, as the case may be, if less) to which the latest audited
accounts-financial statements of such business or company (as the case
may be) have been made up;

conglomerate; [Repealed [date]]

all movements to and from any reserves including movements arising
from:—

(c) the translation of aceeunts-financial statements denominated in
foreign currencies; or

Requirements applicable in all cases

In all cases:—

1)

(2)

the accountants’ report must include a statement of:

(@) whether or not the aceeunts-financial statements for the period
reported on have been audited and, if so, by whom; and

(b) whether or not any audited aceounts-financial statements have
been made up since the end of the last financial period
reported on;

the reporting accountants must express an opinion as to whether or
not the relevant information gives, for the purposes of the
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7.09

7.10

7.11

7.12

accountants’ report, a true and fair view of the results and cash
flows for the period reported on and of the balanee-sheet-statement
of financial position as at the end of each of the period reported on;

Individual or combined results

In the case of a new applicant (rule 7.01(1)) and an offer of securities to the
public for subscription or purchase falling within rule 7.01(2), the reporting
accountants must report on the consolidated or combined financial history of
results and the consolidated or combined balance-sheet-statement of financial
position of the issuer and its subsidiaries and any business or subsidiary
acquired or proposed to be acquired since the date to which the latest audited
acecounts—financial statements of the issuer have been made up, unless
otherwise agreed by the Exchange.

In the case of a circular issued by a listed issuer in connection with the
acquisition of more than one business and/or company and/or group of
companies, the reporting accountants must report on the individual financial
histories of results and the individual balanee-sheet-statements of financial
position of each of those businesses, companies or groups of companies
referred to in rule 7.05, unless otherwise agreed by the Exchange.

Disclosure

The information to be disclosed in respect of rules 7.03, 7.09 and 7.10 must
be in accordance with best practice which is at least that required to be
disclosed in respect of those specific matters in the aceeunts—financial
statements of a company under the Cempanies-Ordinance-and HKFRS, IFRS
or CASBE in the case of a PRC issuer that has adopted CASBE for the
preparation of its annual financial statements and, in the case of banking
companies, the Financial Disclosure by Locally Incorporated Authorized
InstitutionsGuideline on the Application of the Banking (Disclosure) Rules
issued by the Hong Kong Monetary Authority.

Accounting standards

The financial history of results and the balanee-sheet-statement of financial
position included in the accountants’ report must normally be drawn up in
conformity with:-

(@ Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (HKFRS); or

(b) International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS); or

(¢) China Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises (CASBE) in the
case of a PRC issuer that has adopted CASBE for the preparation of its
annual financial statements.

Note: The issuer must apply one of these bodies of standards consistently
and shall not change from one body of standards to the other.
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7.13

7.19

7.24

7.25

1.27

The financial history of results and the balanee-sheet-statement of financial
position included in the accountants’ report of a listing applicant, which is
listed, or is to be simultaneously listed, on the New York Stock Exchange or
the Nasdaq National Market of the United States of America may, be drawn
up in conformity with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in the
United States of America (US GAAP) provided that:—

Statement of adjustments

The statement of adjustments must set out, for each of the years reported upon,
each adjustment made and be sufficiently detailed so as to reconcile the
figures in the accountants’ report with the corresponding figures in the audited
aceounts-financial statements and must give the reasons therefor.

Additional matters for disclosure

Where the business of the issuer necessitates extra disclosure to the members
in its annual aceceunts-financial statements by virtue of special legislation, the
equivalent disclosure must be made in the report.

General

Pro Forma Financial Information

In the cases referred to in rule 7.01(3) concerning a circular in connection with
a major transaction, the pro forma financial information required under rules
19.67(6)(a)(ii) or 19.67(6)(b)(ii) on the enlarged group (i.e. the issuer, its
subsidiaries and any business or subsidiary or, where applicable, assets
acquired or proposed to be acquired since the date to which the latest audited
aceounts-financial statements of the issuer have been made up (including but
not limited to any business, company or companies being acquired)) must
include all the information referred to in rule 7.31 in respect of such enlarged

group.
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7.28

7.30

7.31

In the cases referred to in rule 7.01(3) concerning a circular in connection with
a reverse takeover or a very substantial acquisition, the pro forma financial
information required under rules 19.69(4) (a)(ii) or 19.69(4)(b)(ii) on the
enlarged group (i.e. the issuer, its subsidiaries and any business or subsidiary
or, where applicable, assets acquired or proposed to be acquired since the date
to which the latest audited aeeeunts—financial statements of the issuer have
been made up (including but not limited to any business, company or
companies being acquired)) must include all the information referred to in rule
7.31 in respect of such enlarged group.

In the case of a new applicant (rule 7.01(1)) which has acquired or proposed
to acquire any businesses or companies, which would at the date of
application or such later date of acquisition before listing of the applicant be
classified as a major subsidiary, since the date to which the latest audited
aceounts-financial statements of the issuer have been made up, it must include
in its listing document the pro forma financial information required under rule
7.31 in respect of the enlarged group (i.e. the new applicant, its subsidiaries
and any businesses or companies acquired or proposed to be acquired since
the date to which the latest audited aceeunts-financial statements of the issuer
have been made up).

Note: For purposes of rule 7.30, all acquisitions or proposed acquisitions
since the date to which the latest audited aceeunts-financial statements
in the accountants’ report of the issuer have been made up, whether of
businesses or companies, should be aggregated. If the aggregated
total assets, profits or revenue represents 5% or more under any of the
percentage ratios as defined under rule 19.04(9), these acquisitions
will be deemed to be an acquisition of a major subsidiary for the
purpose of rule 7.30. 100% of the major subsidiary’s total assets,
profits or revenue (as the case may be) or, where the major subsidiary
itself has subsidiaries, the consolidated total assets, profits or revenue
(as the case may be) of the major subsidiary is to be compared to the
total assets, profits or revenue (as the case may be) shown in the
issuer’s latest audited consolidated financial statements in the
accountants” report irrespective of the interest held in the major
subsidiary.

Where an issuer includes pro forma financial information in any document
(whether or not such disclosure of pro forma financial information is
required under the GEM Listing Rules), that information must comply with
rules 7.31(1) to (6) and a report in the terms of rule 7.31(7) must be included
in the relevant document.

1) The pro forma financial information must provide investors with
information about the impact of the transaction the subject of the
document by illustrating how that transaction might have affected
the financial information presented in the document, had the
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4)

()

transaction been undertaken at the commencement of the period
being reported on or, in the case of a pro forma balance—sheet
statement of financial position or net asset statement, at the date
reported. The pro forma financial information presented must not be
misleading, must assist investors in analyzing the future prospects
of the issuer and must include all appropriate adjustments permitted
by rule 7.31(6), of which the issuer is aware, necessary to give
effect to the transaction as if the transaction had been undertaken at
the commencement of the period being reported on or, in the case of
a pro forma balanee—sheet-statement of financial position or net
asset statement, at the date reported on.

Pro forma financial information may only be published in respect
of:

(@ the current financial period,;
(b) the most recently completed financial period; and/or

(c) the most recent interim period for which relevant unadjusted
information has been or will be published or is being
published in the same document;

and, in the case of a pro forma balance-sheet-statement of financial
position or net asset statement, as at the date on which such periods
end or ended.

The unadjusted information must be derived from the most recent:

(@) audited published aeeeunts—financial statements, published
half-year reports or published half-year or annual results
announcements;
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APPENDIX IV:  AMENDMENTS TO OTHER MAIN BOARD

RULES

Chapter 1

GENERAL

INTERPRETATION

1.01 Throughout these Rules, the following terms, except where the context
otherwise requires, have the following meanings:

“authorised representative” ...

“balance sheet”

“pbank”

“Code of Conduct”

“Code on Share

Repurchases Buy-backs”
or “Share Buy-backs

Code”

“Code on Takeovers and

has the same meaning as ‘“statement of
financial position” and vice-versa

Code of Conduct for Persons Licensed by or
Registered with the Seeurities—and—Futures
Commission

the Code on Share Repurchases—Buy-backs
approved by the Commission as amended

from time to time

the Code on Takeovers and Mergers approved

Mergers” or “Takeovers

by the Commission as amended from time to

Code”
“Commission”

“Companies Ordinance”

time
the Securities and Futures Commission...

the Companies Ordinance (Cap.622) as

“Companies (Winding

amended from time to time

the Companies (Winding Up and

Up and Miscellaneous
Provisions) Ordinance”

Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Cap.32)
as amended from time to time

“company”

164



“holding company”

“IFA group”

“income statement”

“inside information”

“professional accountant”

“profit and loss account”

in relation to a company, means another
company of which it is a subsidiary

has the same meaning as “statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income” and
vice-versa

has the same meaning as “statement of profit or

“promoter”

“prospectus”

“published in the
newspapers”

“subsidiary”

loss and other comprehensive income” and
vice-versa

the same meaning as in section 2(1) of the
Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous

Provisions) Ordinance

published as a paid advertisement in English
in at least one English language newspaper
and in Chinese in at least one Chinese
language newspaper, being in each case a
newspaper published daily and circulating
generally in Hong Kong and specified in the
list of newspapers issued and published in the
Gazette for the purposes of sections #tA162
to 169 of the Companies Ordinance, and
“publish in the newspapers” shall be
construed accordingly

includes:
(@) a “subsidiary undertaking” as defined in

the—twenty—third schedule 1 to the

Companies Ordinance;
(o) ...
© ...
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“summary financial a summary financial report of a company,
report” which complies with sections 341EF(1)437 to
446 of the Companies Ordinance

“supervisor” the same meaning as in rule 19A.04

[13 7
Itl'e ;l ode-oR |'EE|E'EGuEIS and I’Ile'lgeF'S &pp.'g“eg
thme

“tap issues”
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2.07C (1) a) (i)

(b) (i)

(i)

Chapter 2

GENERAL

INTRODUCTION

Use of Electronic Means

Other than where a prospectus is to be registered under the
Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions)
Ordinance, a listed issuer or new applicant must submit to the
Exchange through HKEX-EPS for publication on the Exchange’s
website a ready-to-publish electronic copy of any corporate
communication which is required by the Exchange Listing Rules
(including any listing document of a listed issuer or new applicant
which is not to be registered under the Companies (Winding Up
and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance)...

Where a prospectus is to be registered under the Companies
(Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance, the listed
issuer or new applicant must submit to the Exchange through
HKEX-EPS for publication on the Exchange’s website a
ready-to-publish electronic copy of each of the prospectus and any
application forms...They must be submitted only after the issuer
has received the letter from the Companies Registry confirming
registration of the prospectus under the Companies (Winding Up
and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance...

Note: ...
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Chapter 2A

GENERAL
COMPOSITION, POWERS, FUNCTIONS AND PROCEDURES OF

THE LISTING COMMITTEE,
THE LISTING APPEALS COMMITTEE AND THE LISTING DIVISION

Disciplinary Procedures

2A.10 The sanctions in rule 2A.09 may be imposed or issued against any of the
following:

@) ...
(h) any supervisor of a PRC issuer; and

(i) [Repealed 1 January 2007] and

(j) any independent financial adviser of a listed issuer.
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Chapter 3

GENERAL

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES, DIRECTORS, BOARD COMMITTEES

3.13

3.28

AND COMPANY SECRETARY
Directors

In assessing the independence of a non-executive director, the Exchange will
take into account the following factors, none of which is necessarily
conclusive. Independence is more likely to be questioned if the director:—

(1) holds more than 1% of the tetal number of issued shares eapital-of the
listed issuer;

Notes: 1. A listed issuer wishing to appoint an independent
non-executive director holding an interest of more than 1%
must satisfy the Exchange, prior to such appointment, that
the candidate is independent. A candidate holding an
interest of 5% or more will normally not be considered
independent.

2. When calculating the 1% limit set out in rule 3.13(1), the
listed issuer must take into account the total number of
shares held legally or beneficially by the director, together
with the total number of shares which may be issued to the
director or his nominee upon the exercise of any
outstanding share options, convertible securities and other
rights (whether contractual or otherwise) to call for the
issue of shares.

()

Company Secretary
The issuer must appoint as its company secretary an individual who, by virtue
of his academic or professional qualifications or relevant experience, is, in the
opinion of the Exchange, capable of discharging the functions of company
secretary.
Notes: 1

2 In assessing ““relevant experience”, the Exchange will
consider the individual’s:
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(@)
(b)

familiarity with the Listing Rules and other relevant law
and regulations including the Securities and Futures
Ordinance, Companies  Ordinance, = Companies
(Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance,

and the Takeovers Code;
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Chapter 3A

GENERAL

SPONSORS AND COMPLIANCE ADVISERS

Impartiality and independence of sponsors

3A.07 At least one sponsor of a new applicant must be independent of it. The

3A.28

sponsor is required to demonstrate to the Exchange its independence or lack
of independence and declare in accordance with the terms set out in Appendix
17.

A sponsor is not independent if any of the following circumstances exist at
any time from the date of submission of a listing application on Form Al up
to the date of listing:

(1)  the sponsor group and any director or close associate of a director of
the sponsor collectively holds or will hold, directly or indirectly, more
than 5% of the number of issued shares eapital-of the new applicant,
except where that holding arises as a result of an underwriting
obligation;

Notes: ...

Application of other rules

Insofar as the Exchange Listing Rules impose a higher standard of conduct on
sponsors or Compliance Advisers than—te that set out in the Commission’s
Corporate Finance Adviser Code of Conduct, the Code of Conduct, the
Takeovers Code, the Share Repurchases—Buy-backs Code and all other
relevant codes and guidelines applicable to them, the Exchange Listing Rules
will prevail.
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5.03

Chapter 5

VALUATION OF AND INFORMATION ON PROPERTIES

Requirements for an issuer

For a connected transaction involving an acquisition or a disposal of any
property interest or of a company whose assets consist solely or mainly of
property (including a company listed on the Exchange)-frem-er-to-a-connected
person, a valuation of and information on the property must be included in
any circular issued to shareholders in connection with the acquisition or
disposal (see rule 14A.70(7)). The circular must include full text of valuation
reports and the general information in rule 5.10, if it applies.
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7.19 (1)
(6)
724 (1)
®)

Chapter 7

EQUITY SECURITIES

METHODS OF LISTING

Rights Issue

If the proposed rights issue would increase either the number of issued
shares eapital or the market capitalisation of the issuer by more than
50% (on its own or when aggregated with any other rights issues or
open offers announced by the issuer (i) within the 12 month period
immediately preceding the announcement of the proposed rights issue or
(i) prior to such 12 month period where dealing in respect of the shares
issued pursuant thereto commenced within such 12 month period,
together with any bonus securities, warrants or other convertible
securities (assuming full conversion) granted or to be granted to
shareholders as part of such rights issues or open offers).—

(@ the rights issue must be made conditional on approval by
shareholders in general meeting by a resolution on which any
controlling shareholders and their associates or, where there are no
controlling shareholders, directors (excluding independent
non-executive directors) and the chief executive of the issuer and
their respective associates shall abstain from voting in favour. The
issuer must disclose the information required under rule 2.17 in
the circular to shareholders;

(b)
(©)

Open Offer

If the proposed open offer would increase either the number of issued
shares eapital or the market capitalisation of the issuer by more than
50% (on its own or when aggregated with any other open offers or
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rights issues announced by the issuer (i) within the 12 month period
immediately preceding the announcement of the proposed open offer or
(i) prior to such 12 month period where dealing in respect of the shares
issued pursuant thereto commenced within such 12 month period,
together with any bonus securities, warrants or other convertible
securities (assuming full conversion) granted or to be granted to
shareholders as part of such rights issues or open offers):—

(@)

(b)
(©

the open offer must be made conditional on approval by
shareholders in general meeting by a resolution on which any
controlling shareholders and their associates or, where there are no
controlling shareholders, directors (excluding independent
non-executive directors) and the chief executive of the issuer and
their respective associates shall abstain from voting in favour. The
issuer must disclose the information required under rule 2.17 in
the circular to shareholders;
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8.02

8.03

8.08

8.09

Chapter 8

EQUITY SECURITIES

QUALIFICATIONS FOR LISTING

Basic Conditions

An issuer which is a Hong Kong company must not be a private company
within the meaning of section 2911 of the Companies Ordinance.

There must be an open market in the securities for which listing is sought.
This will normally mean that:—

(1) (a) at least 25% of the issuer’s total number of issued shares eapital
must at all times be held by the public.

(b) where an issuer has one class of securities or more apart from the
class of securities for which listing is sought, the total securities of
the issuer held by the public (on all regulated market(s) including
the Exchange) at the time of listing must be at least 25% of the
issuer’s total number of issued shares-eapital. However, the class
of securities for which listing is sought must not be less than 15%
of the issuer’s total number of issued shares—eapital, having an
expected market capitalisation at the time of listing of not less than
HK$50,000,000.

Notes: ...

1)

(2) The expected market capitalisation of a new applicant at the time of
listing must be at least HK$200,000,000 which shall be calculated on
the basis of all issued shares eapital (including the class of securities for
which listing is sought and such other class(es) of securities, if any, that
are either unlisted or listed on other regulated market(s)) of the new
applicant at the time of listing.
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9.10A

9.11

Chapter 9

EQUITY SECURITIES

APPLICATION PROCEDURES AND REQUIREMENTS

Documentary Requirements — New Listing Applications

The following documents must be lodged with the Exchange by a new
applicant in connection with its listing application:—

Together with the Form Al

3 a final or an advanced draft of all requests for waiver from the
requirements of the Exchange Listing Rules and the provisions of the
Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance
from the sponsor and the directors/proposed directors;

At least 4 clear business days before the expected hearing date

(20) a confirmation from the new applicant’s legal advisers that the new
applicant’s articles of association conform with the relevant parts of
Appendices 3 and 13, and on the whole, are not inconsistent with the
Exchange Listing Rules and the laws of the place where the new
applicant is incorporated or otherwise established,;

(22) unless previously provided, all executed requests for waiver from the
requirements of the Exchange Listing Rules and the provisions of the
Companies_(Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance;

Before bulk-printing of the listing document

(24)
As soon as practicable after the hearing of the application by the
Listing Committee but on or before the date of issue of the listing
document

29) (a)...
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9.17

9.19

9.22

In case of a listing document which constitutes a prospectus under
the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions)
Ordinance, by no—later—than 11 a.m. on the intended date of
authorisation of the prospectus

(33) (a) an application for authorisation for registration of the prospectus
under section 38D(3) or section 342C(3) of the Companies (Winding
Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (as the case may be);

(b) 2 printed copies of the prospectus, duly signed in accordance with
section 38D(3) or section 342C(3) of the Companies (Winding Up
and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (as the case may be) and
having endorsed on or attached to the documents stipulated by the
relevant section; and

© ...

Documentary Requirements — Applications by Listed Issuers

At the time of application for listing

The following documents, as applicable, must be lodged with the Exchange
together with the listing application:—

(1) such number of copies of drafts or proofs of the listing document as the
Exchange may require, marked in the margin to indicate where the
relevant paragraphs from Chapter 11 and/or Part B/F of Appendix 1
and/or the Companies_(Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions)
Ordinance have been met;

In case of a listing document constituting a prospectus under the
Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance

If the listing document constitutes a prospectus under the Companies (Winding
Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance, the following documents must be
submitted to the Exchange:—

1)

(2) by 11 am. on the intended date of authorisation for registration of the
prospectus,
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(@) an application for authorisation for registration of the prospectus
under section 38D(3) or section 342C(3) of the Companies (Winding
Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (as the case may be);

(b) two printed copies of the prospectus, duly signed in accordance with
section 38D(3) or section 342C(3) of the Companies (Winding Up
and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (as the case may be) and
having endorsed thereon or annexed thereto the documents required
under the relevant section;

Before dealings commence

9.23 The following documents must be submitted to the Exchange before dealings
commence:—

(3) in the case of securities issued as consideration for shares in a listed
company which are acquired under seetion-168 Division 4 of Part 13 of
the Companies Ordinance, a certified copy of the notice given under that
section;
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10.05

10.06

Chapter 10

EQUITY SECURITIES

RESTRICTIONS ON PURCHASE AND SUBSCRIPTION

Restrictions on Preferential Treatment of Purchase
and Subscription Applications

Restrictions and Notification Requirements on Issuers Purchasing
their own Shares on a Stock Exchange

Subject to the provisions of the Code on Share Repurchases Buy-backs, an
issuer may purchase its shares on the Exchange or on another stock exchange
recognised for this purpose by the Commission and the Exchange. All such
purchases must be made in accordance with rule 10.06. Rules 10.06(1),
10.06(2)(f) and 10.06(3) apply only to issuers whose primary listing is on the
Exchange while the rest of rule 10.06(2) and rules 10.06(4), (5) and (6) apply
to all issuers. The Code on Share Repurchases Buy-backs must be complied
with by an issuer and its directors and any breach thereof by an issuer will be
a deemed breach of the Exchange Listing Rules and the Exchange may in its
absolute discretion take such action to penalise any breach of this paragraph
or the listing agreement as it shall think appropriate. It is for the issuer to
satisfy itself that a proposed purchase of shares does not contravene the Code

on Share Repurechases Buy-backs.

(1) (@ An issuer whose primary listing is on the Exchange may only
purchase shares on the Exchange, either directly or indirectly,
if.—

(b)

(c) the ordinary resolution proposed to shareholders to give the
directors of the issuer a specific approval or general mandate to
purchase shares must include the following:—

Q) the total number and description of the shares which the
issuer is authorised to purchase, provided that the number
of shares which the issuer is authorised to purchase on the
Exchange or on another stock exchange recognised for
this purpose by the Commission and the Exchange under
the Code on Share Repurehases Buy-backs, may not
exceed 10 per cent. of the number of issued shares eapital
of the issuer and the total number of warrants to subscribe
for or purchase shares (or other relevant class of
securities) authorised to be so purchased may not exceed
10 per cent. of the warrants of the issuer (or such other
relevant class of securities, as the case may be), in each
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(d)

(i)

case as at the date of the resolution granting the general
mandate; and

Note:

If the issuer conducts a share consolidation or

subdivision after the repurchase mandate has

been approved in general meeting, the maximum

number of shares that may be repurchased

under the mandate as a percentage of the total

number of issued shares at the date immediately

before and after such consolidation or

subdivision shall be the same.
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Chapter 11

EQUITY SECURITIES
LISTING DOCUMENTS
Preliminary

11.01 This Chapter sets out the Exchange’s requirements for the contents of listing
documents relating to equity securities. Issuers are reminded that a listing
document which is a prospectus within the meaning of the Companies
(Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance must also comply with
and be registered in accordance with the Companies (Winding Up and
Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance. Applicants should note that they are
required to confirm in their application that all requisite information has been
included in the listing document or will be included before the final version is
submitted for review (see Form C1 of Appendix 5).
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11A.01

11A.02

11A.03

11A.04

Chapter 11A

EQUITY SECURITIES
PROSPECTUSES
Preliminary

Issuers are reminded that a listing document which is a prospectus under the
Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance must
both comply with the Exchange Listing Rules and, where required, comply
with and be registered in accordance with the Companies (Winding Up and
Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance. The Exchange Listing Rules are
entirely independent of and without prejudice to the provisions of the
Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance relating
to prospectuses. Accordingly, compliance with the Exchange Listing Rules
does not guarantee compliance with the Companies (Winding Up and
Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance nor does it guarantee that such
prospectus will be authorised by the Exchange for registration by the
Registrar of Companies.

Transfer of Functions

The Commission’s functions under sections 38B(2A)-(b), 38D(3) and (5)
and 342C(3) and (5) of the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous
Provisions) Ordinance—{Cap-32}, to the extent that they relate to any
prospectus which is concerned with any shares or debentures of a company
that have been approved for listing on the Exchange, and the power to
charge and retain the fees which would have been payable to the
Commission in respect of any such prospectus under the Commission’s fees
rules, have been transferred to the Exchange by order of the Chief Executive
in Council pursuant to section 25 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “Transfer Order”).

Under the terms of the Transfer Order the Exchange shall vet every
prospectus which relates to shares and debentures which have been approved
for listing on the Exchange and shall have the authority to authorise the
registration of such a prospectus by the Registrar of Companies under the
provisions of the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions)
Ordinance.
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Compliance with Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions)
Ordinance

11A.05 To ensure compliance, issuers are urged to seek advice from their Heng
Kong legal advisers. Issuers are reminded that compliance with the
Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance remains
their primary responsibility and that they will not be absolved from any
liability by virtue only of the submission of a prospectus to the Exchange for
vetting or the issue by the Exchange of a certificate authorising registration.

Certificates of Exemption

11A.06 The Commission’s power to grant certificates of exemption under the
Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance has not
been transferred to the Exchange.

Abridged prospectuses

11A.07 The Commission’s powers under section 38B(2A)(b) of the Companies
(Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance to authorise in any
particular case the form and manner of publication of any extract from or
abridged version of a prospectus, have been transferred to the Exchange in
so far as they relate to shares or debentures which have been approved for
listing on the Exchange.

Procedural Requirements

11A.08 If the Exchange is satisfied that the prospectus delivered to it pursuant to
rule 9.11(33) or 9.22(2) should be authorised for registration pursuant to the
Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance, it will
issue a certificate under section 38D(5) or section 342C(5) of the Companies
(Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (as the case may be).
It is the responsibility of the issuer to deliver the prospectus and any
ancillary documents to the Companies Registry for registration pursuant to
section 38D(7) or section 342C(7) of the Companies (Winding Up and
Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (as the case may be).

11A.09

11A.10 The Exchange will review a prospectus for compliance with the Exchange
Listing Rules concurrently with the review of the prospectus for compliance
with the relevant provisions of the Companies (Winding Up and
Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance. The Exchange will not authorise a
prospectus for registration by the Registrar of Companies until it is satisfied
that it has no further comments on such prospectus in respect of the
Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance
requirements and is prepared to grant a listing for the securities to which
such prospectus relates.
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Note: The issue of the certificate of authorisation by the Exchange does not
constitute a form of confirmation that the prospectus complies with the
requirements of the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous
Provisions) Ordinance. Nor does the issue of the certificate constitute
registration of a prospectus under the Companies (Winding Up and
Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance. Issuers must ensure that a copy
of the prospectus, complying with the requirements of the Companies
(Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance, has been
registered by the Registrar of Companies before it is issued. Under no
circumstances should the certificate of authorisation issued by the
Exchange be relied upon as evidence either of compliance with the
provisions of the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous
Provisions) Ordinance or of registration.
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Chapter 12

EQUITY SECURITIES
PUBLICATION REQUIREMENTS

Preliminary
On Issue

12.05 Model forms of formal notices for offers for subscription or sale, placings and
introductions are set out in Appendix 11 for the guidance of issuers. Issuers
are reminded that where a prospectus has been registered with the Registrar of
Companies pursuant to the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous
Provisions) Ordinance, every formal notice must comply with Section 38B of
that Ordinance.

Publication of electronic form prospectus and printed application form

12.11A (1) Where an issuer intends to rely on section 9A of the Companies
Ordinance (Exemption of Companies and Prospectuses from Compliance
with Provisions) Notice (Cap.32L) (“Class Exemption Notice™) and issue
a printed application form for its equity securities with an electronic form
prospectus displayed on certain websites (“Mixed Media Offer”), it must
satisfy all the conditions in the Class Exemption Notice...
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Chapter 13

EQUITY SECURITIES

CONTINUING OBLIGATIONS

Notifiable transactions, connected transactions, takeovers and share repurchases
1323 (1)

(2)  The issuer shall comply with the Takeovers Code and the Code on
Share Repurehases Buy-backs.

Note: ...

GENERAL MATTERS RELEVANT TO THE ISSUER’S SECURITIES
Changes in issued shares eapitat

13.25A (1) In addition and without prejudice to specific requirements contained
elsewhere in the Exchange Listing Rules, an issuer must, whenever
there is a change in its issued shares eapial as a result of or in
connection with any of the events referred to in rule 13.25A(2), submit
through HKEX-EPS, or such other means as the Exchange may from
time to time prescribe, for publication on the Exchange’s website a
return in such form and containing such information as the Exchange
may from time to time prescribe by not later than 30 minutes before
the earlier of the commencement of the morning trading session or any
pre-opening session on the business day next following the relevant
event.

(2)  The events referred to in rule 13.25A(1) are as follows:

(@ any of the following:

G .

(xi)  change in issued shares-eapital not falling within any of
the categories referred to in rule 13.25A(2)(a)(i) to (x) or
rule 13.25A(2)(b); and

(b) subject to rule 13.25A(3), any of the following:

(1) exercise of an option under a share option scheme other
than by a director of the issuer;
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13.36

©)

(4)

(1)

)

(i)  exercise of an option other than under a share option
scheme not by a director of the issuer;

(ili)  exercise of a warrant;
(iv)  conversion of convertible securities; or
v) redemption of shares or other securities.

The disclosure obligation for an event in rule 13.25A(2)(b) only arises
where:

(@) the event, either individually or when aggregated with any other
events described in that rule which have occurred since the listed
issuer published its last monthly return under rule 13.25B or last
return under this rule 13.25A (whichever is the later), results in a
change of 5% or more of the listed issuer’s issued shares eapital;
or

(b)

For the purposes of rule 13.25A(3), the percentage change in the listed
issuer’s issued shares—eapital is to be calculated by reference to the
listed issuer’s total number of issued shares—capital as it was
immediately before the earliest relevant event which has not been
disclosed in a monthly return published under rule 13.25B or a return
published under this rule 13.25A.

Pre-emptive rights

@)...

No such consent as is referred to in rule 13.36(1)(a) shall be
required:—

(@)

(b) if, but only to the extent that, the existing shareholders of the
issuer have by ordinary resolution in general meeting given a
general mandate to the directors of the issuer, either
unconditionally or subject to such terms and conditions as may
be specified in the resolution, to allot or issue such securities or
to grant any offers, agreements or options which would or might
require securities to be issued, allotted or disposed of, whether
during the continuance of such mandate or thereafter, subject to
a restriction that the aggregate number of securities allotted or
agreed to be allotted must not exceed the aggregate of (i) 20% of
the number of existing-issued shares-eapital-of the issuer as at the
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©)

date of the resolution granting the general mandate (or in the
case of a scheme of arrangement involving an introduction in the
circumstances set out in rule 7.14(3), 20% of the_number of
issued shares—eapital—of an overseas issuer following the
implementation of such scheme) plus and (ii) the number of such
securities repurchased by the issuer itself since the granting of
the general mandate (up to a maximum number equivalent to
10% of the_number of —existing—issued shares eapital-of the
issuer_as at the date of the resolution granting the repurchase
mandate), provided that the existing shareholders of the issuer
have by a separate ordinary resolution in general meeting given a
general mandate to the directors of the issuer to add such
repurchased securities to the 20% general mandate.

Notes: 1.
2.

3. If the issuer conducts a share consolidation or
subdivision after the issue mandate has been
approved in general meeting, the maximum number
of securities that may be issued under the mandate as
a percentage of the total number of issued shares at
the date immediately before and after such
consolidation or subdivision shall be the same.

After board meetings

13.45  An issuer shall inform-the-Exehange-announce immediately after approval by
or on behalf of the board of:—

(1)

)

©)

any decision to declare, recommend or pay any dividend or to make
any other distribution on its listed securities and, including the rate and
amount thereef—of the dividend or distribution and the expected

payment date;

any decision not to declare, recommend or pay any dividend which
would otherwise have been expected to have been declared,
recommended or paid in due course;

any preliminary announcement of profits or losses for any year,
half-year or other period;

Notes: 1. The timing of board meetings is a matter for the

convenience and judgement of individual boards, but
decisions on dividends and results should be
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(4)

()

announced either between 12:00 noon and 12:30 p.m.
or after the market closes at 4:15 p.m. on a normal
business day. On the eves of Christmas, New Year and
the Lunar New Year when there is no afternoon
trading session, the announcements should be
published after the market closes at 12:00 noon. The
directors are reminded that it is their direct
responsibility to ensure that such information is kept
strictly confidential until it is announced.

Note 1 above is also applicable to a preliminary
announcement of results for a full year. As soon as
possible after draft accounts have been agreed with
the auditors, those accounts, adjusted to reflect any
dividend decision, should be approved as the basis of
a preliminary announcement of results for the full
year.

If there is any change to the expected payment date

previously disclosed under rule 13.45(1) or this note,
the issuer should announce this fact and the new
expected payment date as soon as practicable.

any proposed change in the capital structure, including any redemption
of its listed securities; and

Note: Once a decision has been made to submit any such proposal to

the board, no dealings in any of the relevant securities should
be effected by or on behalf of the issuer or any of its
subsidiaries until the proposal has been announced or
abandoned.

any decision to change the general character or nature of the business
of the issuer or group.

Note: In discharging the obligations in rule 13.45, regard should be

had to rule 13.79, and in particular to the Exchange’s
requirements from time to time in respect of the communication
of information of an urgent nature.

DISCLOSURE OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Distribution of annual
report and accounts

13.46 (1) Inthe case of an issuer (other than an overseas issuer and a PRC issuer):—

(@)

Such issuer shall send to

(i)

every member of the issuer; and
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(b)

(i) every other holder of its listed securities (not being bearer
securities),

a copy of either (A) its annual report including its annual accounts
and, where the issuer prepares group-accounts-within-the-meaning-of
consolidated financial statements referred to in section 324{1)379(2)
of the Companies Ordinance, the greup—accounts—consolidated
financial statements, together with a copy of the auditors’ report
thereon, or (B) its summary financial report...The issuer may send a
copy of its summary financial report to a member and a holder of its
listed securities in place of a copy of its annual report and accounts,
provided that it complies with the relevant provisions set out in
section—141sections 437 to 446 of the Companies Ordinance and in
the Companies (Summary Financial Reports ef-Listed-Companies)

Regulation.

Notes: 1.

2. Sections 122429 and 431 of the Companies
Ordinance requires the—annual—accounts—of—the
directors of a Hong Kong issuer to lay the issuer’s
annual financial statements before its members at its
annual general meeting within the period of 6
months after the end of the financial year or
accounting reference period to which the annual
financial statements relatewhich—are—taid-before-the
issuer at its annual general meeting to be made up to
a-date-falling-not-more-than-6-menths-before-the-date
of the meeting.

3. If an issuer has significant interests outside Hong
Kong it may apply for an extension of the six-month
period. However, attention is drawn to section 122
B)431 of the Companies Ordinance which requires
any extension of the time limit to be approved by the
High-Court_of First Instance.

(2) Inthe case of an overseas issuer or a PRC issuer.—

(a)

Such issuer shall send to:—
(1)  every member of the issuer; and

(i) every other holder of its listed securities (not being bearer
securities),

a copy of either (A) its annual report...or (B) its summary financial
report... The issuer may send a copy of its summary financial report
to a member and a holder of its listed securities in place of a copy of
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13.47

13.48(1)

its annual report and accounts, provided that it complies with
provisions no less onerous than the relevant provisions set out in
seetion—141sections 437 to 446 of the Companies Ordinance and in
the Companies (Summary Financial Reports—ef-Listed-Companies)

Regulation for listed issuers incorporated in Hong Kong.

(b) An issuer should lay its annual financial statements before its
members at its annual general meeting within the period of 6 months
after the end of the financial year or accounting reference period to

Whlch the annual flnanC|aI statements reIate%haH—make—up—ﬁs

Annual Reports

An issuer’s annual report must comply with the provisions set out in
Appendix 16 in relation to annual reports. The issuer’s summary financial
report must comply with the provisions set out in the Companies (Summary

Financial Reports ef-Listed-Cempanies) Regulation.

Note:  Issuers’ attention is drawn to paragraphs 6 to 34A35 and 50
inclusive of Appendix 16.

Interim Reports

In respect of the first six months of each financial year of an issuer...the
issuer shall send to the persons listed in rule 13.46(1), either (i) an interim
report, or (ii) a summary interim report...The issuer may send a copy of its
summary interim report to a member and a holder of its listed securities in
place of a copy of its interim report, provided that such summary interim
report complies with the relevant provisions of the Companies (Summary

Financial Reports ef-Listed—Companies) Regulation governing summary
financial reports.

Q) ...

13.49 (1)

Preliminary Announcements of Results — Full Financial Year

An issuer shall publish in accordance with rule 2.07C its preliminary
results in respect of each financial year as soon as possible, but in any
event not later than the time that is 30 minutes before the earlier of the
commencement of the morning trading session or any pre-opening
session on the next business day after approval by or on behalf of the
board. The issuer must publish such results:




3)()

Where an issuer is unable to make an announcement of its preliminary
results based on its financial statements in accordance with rules 13.49(1)
and 13.49(2), it must make an announcement:

— not later than three months after the end of the financial year.

Preliminary Announcements of Results — First Half of The Financial Year

(6)

The issuer shall publish in accordance with rule 2.07C a preliminary
announcement in respect of its results for the first six months of each
financial year, unless that financial year is of six months or less, as soon
as possible, but in any event not later than the time that is 30 minutes
before the earlier of the commencement of the morning trading session or
any pre-opening session on the next business day after approval by or on
behalf of the board. The issuer must publish such results:

NOTIFICATION

Changes

13.51 An issuer must publish an announcement as soon as practicable in regard
to:—

1)

any proposed alteration of the issuer’s memorandum or articles of
association or equivalent documents...

...the issuer should submit to the Exchange (a) a letter addressed to the
issuer from its legal advisers confirming that the proposed
amendments eemphy-conform with the requirements of the Exchange
Listing Rules, where applicable, and the laws of the place where it is
incorporated or otherwise established;...
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13.60

)

©)

(5)

(6)

(7)

Notes: 1. Changes to the relevant parts of the articles of association
or equivalent documents must conform with the
requirements of Appendix 3 and, if relevant, Appendix 13.

2. ...

any changes in its directorate or supervisory committee...

(m)  subject to the provisions of the Rehabilitation of Offenders
Ordinance or comparable legislation of other jurisdictions, full
particulars of any conviction for any offence (including details
of each such offence, the court by which he was convicted, the
date of conviction and the penalty imposed):

(i)

(i) under the Companies Ordinance, the Companies
(Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance,
the Bankruptcy Ordinance, the Banking Ordinance, the
Securities and Futures Ordinance...; or

(iii)

any change in its secretary, share registrar (including any change in
overseas branch share registrar) or registered address or where
applicable, agent for the service of process in Hong Kong or registered
office or registered place of business in Hong Kong; and

Note: The new secretary must fulfil the requirements of rule 8.17.

any change in its Compliance Adviser-; and

Note: Refer to rule 3A.29.

any revision of interim reports, annual reports or summary financial

1)

()

reports, the reason leading to the revision of published financial reports,
and the financial impacts, if any.

Issue of certificates, registration and other fees

Certificate replacement service: The issuer shall (or shall procure that
its registrar shall) provide a certificate replacement service. The fee
for replacing certificates:—
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13.84

13.87

@ representing securities with a market value of HK$200,000 or
less (at the time the request for replacement is made) for a
person named on the register shall not exceed HK$200.00, plus
the costs incurred by the issuer (or its registrar) in publishing
the required public notice; or

(b)  either:

(i)  representing securities with a market value of more than
HK$200,000 (at the time the request for replacement is
made); or

(if)  for a person not named on the register (irrespective of the
market value of the securities concerned);

shall not exceed HK$400.00, plus the costs incurred by the issuer (or
its registrar) in publishing the required public notice.

Independent financial advisers

An independent financial adviser must be independent from any issuer for
whom it acts. An independent financial adviser is not independent if any of
the following circumstances exist as at the time of making the declaration
required by rule 13.85(1):

(1)  the IFA group and any director or close associate of a director of the
independent financial adviser holds, directly or indirectly, in
aggregate more than 5% of the_number of issued shares eapital-of the
issuer, another party to the transaction, or a close associate or core
connected person of the issuer or another party to the transaction;

(1A) in the case of a connected transaction, the independent financial
adviser holds more than 5% of the number of issued shares-capitat of
an associate of another party to the transaction;

Insofar as the Exchange Listing Rules impose a higher standard of conduct
on independent financial advisers than-te that set out in the Commission’s
Corporate Finance Adviser Code of Conduct, the Code of Conduct—fer
Commission, the Takeovers Code, the Share Repurehases Buy-backs Code
and all other relevant codes and guidelines applicable to them, the Exchange
Listing Rules will prevail.
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14.07

14.44

Chapter 14

EQUITY SECURITIES

NOTIFIABLE TRANSACTIONS

Classification and explanation of terms
Percentage ratios

The percentage ratios are the figures, expressed as percentages resulting
from each of the following calculations:—

1)

(5) Equity capital ratio — the number of shares to be issued by neminal
value-of the listed issuer’s-equity-capital-issued as consideration divided
by the total number of reminal-value-of-the listed issuer’s issued_shares
equity-capital immediately before the transaction.

Notes: 1.  The numerator includes shares that may be issued
upon _conversion or exercise of any convertible
securities or subscription rights to be issued or
granted by the listed issuer as consideration.

2. The value-of-the-listed issuer’s debt capital (if any),
including any preference shares, shall not be
included in the calculation of the equity capital

ratio.

Methods of approval

Shareholders’ approval for a major transaction shall be given by a majority
vote at a general meeting of the shareholders of the issuer unless all the
following conditions are met, in which case written shareholders’ approval
may, subject to rule 14.86, be accepted in lieu of holding a general
meeting:—

(1) no shareholder is required to abstain from voting if the issuer were
to convene a general meeting for the approval of the transaction;
and

(2) the written shareholders’ approval has been obtained from a

shareholder or a closely allied group of shareholders who together
hold more than 50% of the voting rights ir-hominalvalue—of-the
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14.66

14.67

securities-giving-the-right-to-attend-and-vete-at that general meeting

to approve the transaction. Where a listed issuer discloses inside
information to any shareholder in confidence to solicit the written
shareholders’ approval, the listed issuer must be satisfied that such
shareholder is aware that he must not deal in the listed issuer’s
securities before such information has been made available to the
public.

Major transaction circulars

A circular relating to a major transaction must contain:—

D)

(6)

(8)

where a company either becomes a subsidiary or ceases to be a
subsidiary of the listed issuer:—

(@) the percentage of the company’s issued shares eapital (if any)
held by the listed issuer ir-that-company after the acquisition or
disposal; and

®) ..

information as to the competing interests (if any) of each of the
directors and any proposed director of the issuer (excluding its
subsidiaries) and his/her respective close associates (as if each of them
were treated as a controlling shareholder under rule 8.10);

In addition to the requirements set out in rule 14.66, a circular issued in
relation to an acquisition constituting a major transaction must contain:—

(7)

a management—discussion and analysis of results of the business,
company or companies being acquired covering all those matters set
out in paragraph 32 of Appendix 16 for the period reported in the
accountants’ report.

Inability to access information to compile circulars for major transactions or

14.67A

(2)

very substantial acquisitions
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(b)

where information required for the enlarged group is not
available, to include the following information regarding the
issuer:

(iv)  management-discussion and analysis of results (this is
applicable only to very substantial acquisitions, see rule
14.69(7));
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Chapter 14A

EQUITY SECURITIES
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Content requirements

Circulars

14A.70 The circular must contain at least:

1)

(15) information regarding the competing interests of each of the directors
and any proposed director of the listed issuer’s—group and his
respective close associates as would be required to be disclosed under
rule 8.10 as if each of them was a controlling shareholder; and

(16)

Repurchases of securities by the listed issuer or its subsidiary

14A.94 Repurchases of own securities by a listed issuer or its subsidiary from a
connected person is fully exempt if it is made:

(1) on the Exchange or a recognised stock exchange, except where the
connected person knowingly sells the securities to the listed issuer’s
group; or

(2) in a general offer made under the Code on Share Repurchases
Buy-backs.
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15.02

Chapter 15

EQUITY SECURITIES

OPTIONS, WARRANTS AND SIMILAR RIGHTS

All warrants must, prior to the issue or grant thereof, be approved by the
Exchange and in addition, where they are warrants to subscribe equity
securities, by the shareholders in general meeting (unless they are issued by
the directors under the authority of a general mandate granted to them by
shareholders in accordance with rule 13.36(2)). In the absence of exceptional
circumstances which would include, by way of example, a rescue
reorganisation, the Exchange will only grant approval to the issue or grant of
warrants to subscribe securities if the following requirements are complied
with:—

(1) the securities to be issued on exercise of the warrants must not,
when aggregated with all other equity securities which remain to be
issued on exercise of any other subscription rights, if all such rights
were immediately exercised, whether or not such exercise is
permissible, exceed twenty per cent. of the number of issued shares
equity—eapital-of the issuer at the time such warrants are issued.
Options granted under employee or executive share schemes which
comply with Chapter 17 are excluded for the purpose of this limit;
and

()
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15A.10

15A.16

15A.29

Chapter 15A

STRUCTURED PRODUCTS

Issuers

An issuer (except in the case of a guaranteed issue) must not be a private
company within the meaning of section 2911 of the Companies Ordinance or
equivalent legislation of the jurisdiction in which it is incorporated or
established.

Guarantors

Where listing is sought for structured products which are guaranteed:—

(1) the guarantor must not be a private company within the meaning of
section 2911 of the Companies Ordinance or equivalent legislation of
the jurisdiction in which it is incorporated or established:;

Structured Products

An issuer is prohibited from listing structured products where it; or any of its
holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries; or any associated
companies of any of them has been retained by a company whose securities
will underlie the structured product (or by any of its holding, subsidiary,
fellow subsidiary or associated companies) to give advice in relation to a
transaction. Where the company whose securities will underlie the structured
product is listed on the Exchange, “transaction” refers to matters which
would be discloseable to shareholders of the underlying company and the
public under Chapters 13, 14 and 14A of the Exchange Listing Rules, the
Inside Information Provisions, Rule 3 of the Heng-leng-Code on Takeovers
and Mergers, or Rule 105 of the Heng-Keong Code on Share Repurchases
Buy-backs. Where the company is listed on an overseas exchange,
“transaction” refers to matters which would be discloseable under regulations
equivalent to those in Chapters 13, 14 and 14A of the Listing Rules, the
Inside Information Provisions, Rule 3 of the Heng-kong-Code on Takeovers
and Mergers, or Rule 105 of the HengKeng-Code on Share Repurechases
Buy-backs. The prohibition ceases to apply where the transaction is
abandoned or announced and does not apply where an issuer maintains
adequate information management arrangements such as those contemplated
in sections 292(2) and 271(2) of the Securities and Futures Ordinance.
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15A.76

Listing Documents

Any base listing document in respect of structured product issues, or any
supplemental listing document in respect of a specific structured product,
that is a prospectus must be registered under the Companies (Winding Up
and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance. The procedures for registration
are set out in Chapter 11A and Rule 9.11(33). The requirement to notify the
Exchange at least 14 days in advance of the date on which it is proposed to
register a prospectus, set out in Rule 11A.09, will not apply in the cases of
supplemental listing documents.

201



Chapter 17

EQUITY SECURITIES

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

Terms of the scheme

17.03 The scheme document must include the following provisions and/or
provisions as to the following (as the case may be):

(1) the purpose of the scheme;

(2) the participants of the scheme and the basis of determining the
eligibility of participants;

Note: Listed issuers are reminded to seek legal advice on the
prospectus requirements of the Companies (Winding Up and
Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance, particularly where
participation in the scheme is not restricted to executives and
employees.

(3) the total number of securities which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the scheme, together with the percentage
of the issued shares eapital that it represents at the date of approval of
the scheme;

Notes: (1)  The total number of securities which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the scheme
and any other schemes must not in aggregate exceed 10%
of the relevant class of securities of the listed issuer (or
the subsidiary) in issue as at the date of approval of the
scheme. Options lapsed in accordance with the terms of
the scheme will not be counted for the purpose of
calculating the 10% limit.

(@)

(3) _If the listed issuer (or the subsidiary) conducts a share
consolidation or subdivision after the 10% limit has been
approved in general meeting, the maximum number of
securities that may be issued upon exercise of all options
to be granted under all of the schemes of the listed issuer
(or the subsidiary) under the 10% limit as a percentage
of the total number of issued shares at the date
immediately before and after such consolidation or
subdivision shall be the same.
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17.09

(13) a provision for adjustment of the exercise price or the number of
securities subject to options already granted and to the scheme in the
event of a capitalisation issue, rights issue, sub-division or
consolidation of shares or reduction of capital,

Note:

Any adjustments required under rule 17.03(13) must give a
participant the same proportion of the equity capital as that
to which that person was previously entitled, but no such
adjustments may be made to the extent that a share would be
issued at less than its nominal value (if any). The issue of
securities as consideration in a transaction may not be
regarded as a circumstance requiring adjustment. In respect
of any such adjustments, other than any made on a
capitalisation issue, an independent financial adviser or the
listed issuer’s auditors must confirm to the directors in
writing that the adjustments satisfy the requirements set out in
this note.

Disclosure requirements

The listed issuer must include in its annual report a summary of each share
option scheme approved by its shareholders setting out:

1)

(3) the total number of securities available for issue under the scheme
together with the percentage of the issued shares—eapital that it
represents as at the date of the annual report;
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Chapter 18

EQUITY SECURITIES

MINERAL COMPANIES

Competent Person

18.21 A Competent Person must:—

@) ...

(2) be professionally qualified, and be a member in good standing of a
relevant Recognised Professional Organisation, in a jurisdiction where, in
the Exchange’s opinion, the statutory securities regulator has satisfactory
arrangements (either by way of the IOSCO Multilateral MOU or other
bi-lateral agreement acceptable to the Exchange) with the Seeurities-and
Futures-Commission-ef-Hong-eng for mutual assistance and exchange
of information for enforcing and securing compliance with the laws and
regulations of that jurisdiction and Hong Kong; and
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Chapter 19

EQUITY SECURITIES
OVERSEAS ISSUERS

PRIMARY LISTINGS

Qualifications for Listing

19.05  The following additional requirements apply:—
@ ..

(2) the overseas issuer must appoint, and maintain throughout the period the
overseas issuer’s securities are listed on the Exchange the appointment
of, a person authorised to accept service of process and notices on its
behalf in Hong Kong, and must notify the Exchange of his appointment
and any termination of his appointment and details of:—

(@) his address for service of process and notices;

(b) if different, his place of business or, if he does not maintain a
place of business, his residential address;

(c) his business or residential telephone number, as the case may be;
(d) his email address telex andfer facsimile number (if available); and
(e) any change in the above particulars;

Note: The person appointed under this rule may also be the person

authorised to accept service required to be appointed under Part
X} 16 of the Companies Ordinance, if applicable.

Listing Documents

19.10  The following modifications and additional requirements apply:—
a ..
(5) for an introduction in the circumstances in rule 7.14(3), the following
modifications, exceptions and additional requirements apply:—
(@ the listing document must contain...a comparison between the

provisions of the listed Hong Kong issuer’s existing memerandum
and articles of association...
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19.30

19.36

(6)

the documents to be offered for inspection will be the documents
corresponding to those mentioned in paragraph 53 of Part A and
paragraph 43 of Part B of Appendix 1. Unless otherwise provided by the
Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance,
where any of such documents are not in the English language, certified
English translations thereof must be available for inspection. In addition,
where rule 19.10(3) applies, the overseas issuer must offer for
inspection a copy of any statutes or regulations which are relevant to the
summary of the regulatory provisions of the jurisdiction in which the
overseas issuer is incorporated or otherwise established. In particular
cases, the Exchange may require other additional documents to be
offered for inspection; and

SECONDARY LISTINGS

Qualifications for Listing

The following additional requirements apply:—

1)
(2)

the overseas issuer must normally appoint, and maintain throughout the
period the overseas issuer’s securities are listed on the Exchange the
appointment of, a person authorised to accept service of process and
notices on its behalf in Hong Kong, and must notify the Exchange of his
appointment and any termination of his appointment and details of:—

(@ his address for service of process and notices;

(b) if different, his place of business or, if he does not maintain a
place of business, his residential address;

(c) his business or residential telephone number, as the case may be;
(d) his email address telex-andfer facsimile number (if available); and
(e) any ch